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CORPORATE INFORMATION
~EEF
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

NEER
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
DR

Forthe year ended 31 March2024 B Z — T —_MF=A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
Sl 11 - ZE=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER TAETT

Proceeds from disposals of financial assets HERAFEFAGEEBREEZ
at fair value through profit or loss MEEEZRBRE = 8,697
Revenue W &= - -

Loss for the year attributable to owners of ZAAREBEAEGEEFEEEE

the Company (28,727) (22,802)
2024 2023
—E-ME —T-_=F

Net asset value per share BEREEFHE

HK$0.437#& 5t HK$0.759/%8 7T

Net asset value per share is HK$0.437 as at 31 March 2024 (2023: R =%
HK$0.759) which is calculated by dividing the net assets included in 0.4

the consolidated statement of financial position of approximately A
HK$378,125,000 (2023: HK$273,676,000) and the number of ordinary 7T (==&
shares in issue as at 31 March 2024, being 864,789,718 (2023: £
360,394,859). 86
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWEDN

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The Group's revenue for the year ended 31 March 2024 was nil
(2023: nil), which remained unchanged when compared with that
of last year. The Group incurred a loss for the year attributable
to owners of the Company amounting to approximately
HK$28,727,000 which increased by approximately HK$5,925,000
or 25.98% when compared with the loss of approximately
HK$22,802,000 incurred in last year. The increased in the loss for
the year was mainly attributable to the increase of administrative
and other expenses during the year under review. The net asset
value per share of the Group as at 31 March 2024 amounted to
HK$0.437 (2023: HK$0.759). The Board has decided not to declare a
final dividend for the year.

INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO

Details of all investments of the Group are included in notes 17, 18
and 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had cash and cash equivalents
of approximately HK$16,166,000 (2023: approximately
HK$3,997,000). The Group had net current assets and the net
assets of approximately HK$219,042,000 (2023: HK$225,346,000)
and approximately HK$378,125,000 (2023: HK$273,676,000)
respectively as at 31 March 2024. The Group had other borrowing
of approximately HK$59,625,000 at 31 March 2024 (2023:
HK$44,185,000). The current ratio, calculated on the basis of total
current assets over total current liabilities, was approximately 2.54
(2023: 5.34) as at 31 March 2024.

As at 31 March 2024, the gearing ratio of the Group was
approximately 15.77% (2023: 16.15%).

The gearing ratio is calculated as total debts HK$59,625,000
(2023: HK$44,185,000) divided by equity attributable to owners
of the Company HK$378,125,000 (2023: HK$273,676,000) as the
respective reporting date. For this purpose, total debts are defined
as amounts due to bond holders as shown in note 23 to the
consolidated financial statement.

MR
BE_Z_NMF=A=+—BIEFE =K
EFRHFEAZE(ZE-_=F:F) »r HLF
BE AEBEEAARNQNAEBEABRGASE
[ B 18 492872700008 T - REFFME A B
18 %4922,802,0007 JT #2 A0 495,925,000 JT X
2598% - FEBRENDETEHREBBEFE
NITHREMBAZEN RN F=A
=+—H XEESREEZFERATET
—EZZF 07598 L) c EECEARATE
MAFEETRRBBRE -

BE?
BEAEBE2IMELEZFHE
RMTEE17 1819 o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWEDN

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

Details in the changes of the capital structure of the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in note 25 to the
consolidated financial statements. The capital of the Company
comprises only ordinary shares as at 31 March 2024.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Most of the business transactions of the Group are denominated in
Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi. The management of the Group
will closely monitor the fluctuation in these currencies and take
appropriate actions when needed. As at 31 March 2024, the Group
did not engage in currency hedging nor did it adopt any formal
hedging activities.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 March 2024, the details of charges on the Group's assets
are set out in note 39.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had contingent liabilities details of
which are set out in note 40.

OTHER INCOME

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group's other income was
approximately HK$8,082,000 which decreased by approximately
HK$2,249,000 or 21.77% when compared of approximately
HK$10,331,000 for the year ended 31 March 2023. The decrease is
mainly attributable to interest income from other financial assets at
amortised cost for the year ended 31 March 2024.

NET (LOSSES)/GAINS ON FINANCIAL ASSETS AT

FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the net loss was approximately
HK$787,000 as compare to the net gain of approximately
HK$2,518,000 for the year ended 31 March 2023. The net loss is
mainly attributable to net effect of the net gain on listed equity
investments, net loss of unlisted equity investments in PRC, loss of
investment in convertible bond and loss in a currency fund for the
year ended 31 March 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWEDN

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER THE EXPECTED

CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET OF REVERSAL

A net amount of approximately HK$1,619,000 was recognised for
impairment loss under the ECL model for the year ended 31 March
2024 which decreased by approximately HK$5,068,000 or 75.79%
when compared of approximately HK$6,687,000 for the year ended
31 March 2023. The decrease is mainly attributable to the net
effect of the reversal of ECL and loss on other financial assets at
amortised cost and other receivables for the year ended 31 March
2024.

GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary for the year ended 31 March 2024
amounted to approximately HK$344,000 (2023: HK$ nil), represented
an increase of approximately HK$344,000. Such increase was mainly

due to a net liabilities of subsidiary was disposed during the year
ended 31 March 2024.

STAFF COST (INCLUDED IN ADMINISTRATIVE AND

OTHER EXPENSES)

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had 11 (2023: 14) full time employees
(exclusive of directors). The Group's total staff costs (including
directors’ remuneration) amounted to approximately HK$6,776,000
for the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: HK$6,048,000). The
employees were remunerated based on their responsibilities and
performance.

ADMINISTRATIVE AND OTHER EXPENSES
Administrative and other expenses for the year ended 31
March 2024 amounted to approximately HK$32,482,000 (2023:
HK$26,132,000), representing an increase of approximately
HK$6,350,000 or 24.30%, which was mainly due to increase in staff
cost, short-term lease and net exchange losses. Such information is
set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial statement.

FINANCE COSTS

Finance costs for the year ended 31 March 2024 amounted to
approximately HK$2,265,000 (2023: HK$2,832,000), represented a
decrease of approximately HK$567,000. Such decrease was mainly

due to the decrease of interest on bonds during the year ended 31
March 2024.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

Details are set out in note 42 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWEDN

PROSPECT

The Board has reassessed recent market condition and determined
that the Company should adopt a more active approach in its
investment strategies as the markets gained momentum on back
of robust recovery in the Chinese economy. In fact, the listed
securities held by the Company have made net gain this year and
the Company considered that it should continue to hold on to
these listed securities for medium to long term appreciation.

In the new financial year, the Group will continue to adopt a
cautious and proactive attitude in seeking potential business
opportunities in the market. In addition, the Group’s investment
strategy will explore more diversified investment opportunities
with various industries. The Group is aiming at implementing an
efficient and compliant internal control, pragmatically deploying its
investment strategy, and strengthen its financial situation in order
to bring favorable return to our Shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

There was no purchase, sale or redemption of listed securities of
the Company by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the
year.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Chan Cheong Yee (“Mr. Chan”)

Mr. Chan, aged 60, has been appointed as an executive Director
since 29 May 2012. He is also the chairman of the Risk Management
Committee. Mr. Chan holds a Bachelor of Science degree from
the College of Business Administration of the University of South
Florida in the United States of America. Mr. Chan is currently a
licensed person to carry out type 4 (advising on securities) and type
9 (asset management) regulated activities under the Securities and
Future Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

Mr. Chan was appointed as executive Director of China Innovation
Investment Limited (Stock Code: 1217) (“Cll”) in June 2003, China
Investment and Finance Group Limited (Stock Code: 1226) ("CIFG")
in March 2011, Capital VC Limited (Stock Code: 2324) (“CVC") in
November 2012, China New Economy Fund Limited (Stock Code:
80) (“CNEF") in June 2013, National Investments Fund Limited (the
Stock Code before delisting: 1227) (“NIF") in March 2019, Core
Economy Investment Group Limited (Stock Code: 339) ("EIG")
from 18 January 2021 to 15 June 2021 and Goldstone Investment
Group Limited (Stock Code: 901) (“GIG") in November 2021. ClI,
CIFG, CVC, CNEF, NIF, EIG and GIG are all investment companies
listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Chan was an executive Director
of China Trends Holding Limited (“CTH") in February 2016 and re-
appointed as a non-executive Director in December 2020. CTH
once was a company listed on the Stock Exchange GEM board (the
Stock Code before delisting: 8171).

Mr. Chan Yiu Pun Clement (“Mr. Clement Chan”)

Mr. Clement Chan, aged 66, has been appointed as an executive
Director of the Company since 6 April 2022. Mr. Clement Chan
was a member of The Institute of Financial Planners of Hong Kong
Limited and a Certified Financial Planner in Hong Kong from
2003 to 2023. Mr. Clement Chan obtained a higher diploma in
accountancy from the Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as the
Polytechnic University of Hong Kong) in November 1980 and a
Master of Science in corporate governance & directorship from the
Hong Kong Baptist University in November 2008.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREERERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (continued)

Mr. Chan Yiu Pun Clement (“Mr. Clement Chan") (continued)
Mr. Clement Chan was an executive director of Goldstone
Investment Group Limited (formerly known as Eagle Ride
Investment Holdings Limited, Stock Code: 901), a company listed
on the Stock Exchange from November 2013 to October 2020.
Mr. Clement Chan had over 30 years of experience in the financial
industry, including professional management of investments on
behalf of third-party investors and experiences as responsible
officers for type 4 (advising on securities) and type 9 (asset
management) regulated activities under the SFO for a number of
corporations.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Han Zhenghai (“Mr. Han")

Mr. Han, aged 47, has been appointed as a non-executive
Director since 20 January 2021, additionally as the chairman of the
Board since 11 March 2021 and re-designated as joint chairman
of the Board since 22 January 2024. He is also the chairman of
the Nomination Committee and member of the Remuneration
Committee. Mr. Han has extensive experience in investment and
management business. He has been serving as a manager of
Beijing Zhongmin Zhenxing Construction Technology Co., Ltd.*
(Jt R R Z R B BR 28] and president of Beijing China
Zhiyuan Technology Co., Ltd.* (3t R EBUR B BR A7) since
June 2020 and May 2017, respectively.

In addition, he also served as vice president and chief executive
officer of Beijing Ruihai Zongheng Marketing Consultant Co., Ltd.*
(At RE S ELHBEMERE(I AT from July 2007 to May 2017.
From November 2020 to February 2021, he was appointed as an
executive Director of Ling Yui Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 784),
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He
was also appointed as an executive Director of Golden Faith Group
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 2863), a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange from April 2021 to January 2022.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEERE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Deng Dongping (“Mr. Deng”)

Mr. Deng, aged 50, has been appointed as independent non-
executive Director on 13 November 2020, re-designated to non-
executive Director on 12 July 2021, as deputy chairman of the
Board since 11 December 2023 and as joint chairman of the Board
since 22 January 2024. Mr. Deng graduated from Tianjin Normal
University majoring in business administration. After over 10 years’
military service in the PRC, Mr. Deng has held senior positions
in the cultural industry in mainland China. He is now the deputy
director of the Chinese Volunteer Emergency Rescue Volunteer
Committee.

Mr. Zhu Zhikun (“Mr. Zhu")

Mr. Zhu, aged 25, has been appointed as a non-executive Director
of the Company since 6 August 2021 and as deputy chairman
of the Board since 11 December 2023. Mr. Zhu has a wealth of
experience in multi-dimensional investments and, in particular,
mineral resources development and logistics information. Mr. Zhu
is the founder of J& )T T )T R 1% & B R 2 7] (unofficially translated
as Zhanjiang City Jiangjing Investment Company Limited), as well
as a shareholderof T A % A R &
as Qiangu Minerals Company Limited) and participating in its
operations.

A] (unofficially translated

Mr. Ge Zhifu (“Mr. Ge")

Mr. Ge, aged 46, has been appointed as a non-executive Director
of the Company since 6 October 2023 and as the deputy chairman
of the Board since 11 December 2023. Mr. Ge graduated from
Nankai University majoring in Business Administration. Mr. Ge has
extensive experience in investment and education management.
He has been appointed as chairman and director of various
educational management companies. Since August 2015, he has
been appointed as chairman of Shenzhen Pu Hui Enterprises
Management Group Limited. Since May 2016, he has been
appointed as the chairman of the Yunan Zhao Tong Chamber of
Commerce in Guangdong province and the member of the 4th
Yunnan Zhaotong Province Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference.

Mr. Lyu Ping (“Mr. Lyu”)

Mr. Lyu, aged 68, has been appointed as a non-executive Director
of the Company since 7 November 2022. Mr. Lyu graduated from
Jilin University with a master’s degree in Law. Mr. Lyu holds a
lawyer's practice certificate and has served as a long-term legal
advisor and capital advisor to several large state-owned enterprises
and joint-stock companies. He is a member of the Advisory
Committee of the State-owned Assets Supervision & Administration
Commission of the People’s Government of Jilin Province and
has directly participated in major projects such as shareholding
reform of Chinese joint-stock entities and merger & acquisition
restructuring of state-owned enterprises in China.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREERERE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Lyu Ping (“Mr. Lyu”) (continued)

Mr. Lyu has served as the chairman of the “Filial Piety and Virtue
Specialized Cultural Fund Committee” of the “China Nationality
Culture Foundation”, the first vice chairman of the “World Chinese
Association” and Strategic Advisor of the “Chinese Traditional
Culture Promotion Council”.

From 1993 to 1998, Mr. Lyu served as the chairman of Hainan SF
International Futures Brokerage Co. From 2001 to 2015, he was the
managing partner of Jilin Jiahe Law Firm.

Ms. Mo Xiuping (“Ms. XP Mo")

Ms. XP Mo, aged 56, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company since 23 September 2022
and re-designated as non-executive Director of the Company since
19 April 2023. Ms. XP Mo graduated from Nanjing Tech University,
majoring in management science and business administration, and
is currently studying for a master’s degree in international finance.
Ms. XP Mo holds China Intermediate Accountant Certificate. Ms.
XP Mo has won honors such as “National Ten Thousand Talents
Program”, “"Leading Talents in Scientific and Technological
Innovation”, and “"Young and Middle-aged Experts with
Outstanding Contributions in Jiangsu Province”. Since December
2016, she has served as the chief financial officer, independent
director and member of the board of directors of China area of JS
Beauty Land Network Technology Inc, a US listed company. Since
September 2018, she has concurrently served as the chief financial
officer of Jiangsu Meiyunmei Technology Co., Ltd. Since November
2019, she has concurrently served as the chief financial officer of
Yancheng Dafengzesheng Technology Co., Ltd.

14 Annual Report F ¥ 2024

FHITESE (7

B¥EE ([REE]) (8)
BAERETFEREXCEMESE] (£
REEXESZEG] @R - [HREAB
EHREIE-—BEER [TEEGECRES]
ERS B o

B—NMAN=FE-NAANF  r BREREE
IELERMERLCERARELTESR - 8
“EEFE_T-HF - BRRETMHERE
=B EEERA o

EFEmat: ([EFEHLL])

EFEHRLT S BZF-_Z_%FNA
Tt ZHEREZERARRZBEIUIFNGTE
B UVRZBE_=FHNATALBERERR
RAIZHFATTES - EFFRETEEZRER
TEXRZERNEBRINEREE - BAlE
BERERMEFBELIAELE - EFFRLH
ErEPREAMESE - EFFRLERE
[EREBAGE] BRI BEAL] -
[(THAEARLEBTEFERIFELE - B
—E-RFTZAR REEEXBE LT AA
JS Beauty Land Network Technology Inc 4 Bl &
MGRE  BYUEZEREFERKE - B-F
—NFhLARE  REEIHZAZNEAR
NAIMBRE - BZE—hF+—ARL - &
REERALERMBRERAAMGRE -



Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited ® & 7N R & 2 &£ [# 5 [R A &)

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Mo Li (“Ms. Mo")

Ms. Mo, aged 49, has been appointed as an independent non-
executive Director since 17 June 2021. Ms. Mo is the chairlady
of the Remuneration Committee, a member the Nomination
Committee, the Audit Committee and the Risk Management
Committee. Ms. Mo obtained a bachelor’'s degree from Hunan
University, majoring in accounting. Ms. Mo has rich experience
in financial and management business. Ms. Mo has been serving
as president in Abacus Consultant Inc. in the United States since
July 2023. From April 2022 to July 2023, Ms. Mo served as a sales
representative in Unitedhealth in the United States. From August
2019 to October 2021, Ms. Mo served as a sales representative in
Humana in the United States. From January 2010 to March 2012
and from August 2014 to May 2019, Ms. Mo served as a director of
Shen Zhen Shi ECO Building Facade Consultant Limited. She was
also a vice manager of personal business department of Ping An
Bank Fuhong Branch from April 2012 to August 2014.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREERERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

(continued)

Mr. Shi Zhu (“Mr. Shi")

Mr. Shi, aged 56, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company since 6 August 2021.
Mr. Shi is a member of the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Risk
Management Committee of the Company. Mr. Shi obtained his
first degree in Bachelor of Arts, majoring in English, from the
Anhui Fuyang Teacher’s University in the PRC in July 1989 and his
second degree in Bachelor of law, majoring in Journalism, from the
Communication University of China in July 1993. Mr. Shi worked
at the Ministry of Commerce of the PRC for over 15 years. From
November 1993 to May 2000, Mr. Shi served various positions
including front-page editor as well as deputy chief editor and chief
editor of the English version of International Business Monthly
under International Business Daily, a publishing entity under the
Ministry of Commerce of the PRC. Mr. Shi was appointed by the
Ministry of Commerce of the PRC to work at the Embassy of the
PRC in New Zealand where he acted as the Commercial Consul
and was in charge of economic and commercial affairs from June
2000 to December 2000 and Mr. Shi subsequently returned to
International Business Daily and served various positions including
chief editor of Important News, director of general office, chief
editor of China-ASEAN Business Week, chief editor of Features
from January 2001 to February 2008. After that, Mr. Shi migrated
to Hong Kong under the Quality Migrant Admission Scheme in
February 2008. Mr. Shi was the director of BOCHK Wealth Achieve
Fund Series SPC, a serial investment fund company wholly owned
by BOCHK Asset Management Limited from May 2017 to January
2020. Mr. Shi was also the chairman of Shenzhen Sanhong Asset
Management Limited, a private equity company incorporated in
the PRC which principally engaged in equity investment and supply
chain finance in the PRC and South East Asia, from September 2015
to October 2020. In addition, Mr. Shi is a director of Joyful Capital
Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong which principally
engaged in investment and investment consultancy in Hong Kong
and the PRC, since May 2008. Besides, Mr. Shi is an independent
non-executive director of Hua Lien International (Holding) Company
Limited (Stock Code: 969), a company listed on the main board
of the Stock Exchange since December 2017. Mr. Shi has also
been appointed as the 5th Chairman of the Chinese Academy of
Governance (Hong Kong) Industrial and Commercial Professionals
Alumni Association in June 2024.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

(continued))

Ms. Chen Shunqing (“Ms. Chen")

Ms. Chen, aged 55, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company since 27 July 2022. Ms.
Chen is the chairlady of the Audit Committee, a member of the
Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Risk Management Committee. Ms. Chen holds the qualification
certificates of China junior accountant certificate and chief
accountant officer certificate. Ms. Chen has focused on finance
management and so on fields in the past 28 years, has rich practical
experience in finance, and could provide effective and unique
analysis and advice on financial matters involved.

Mr. Ding Jiasheng (“Mr. Ding")

Mr. Ding, aged 37, has been appointed as an independent non-
executive Director of the Company since 26 September 2023.
Mr. Ding holds a bachelor degree in Environmental Engineering
from Nanjing University of Science and Technology. Mr. Ding
has also obtained professional qualifications such as Registered
Safety Engineer and Intermediate Environmental Engineer. Since
2020, Mr. Ding has been serving as EHS Manager in Tiannang
Power International Limited (Stock Code: 819). He has extensive
experience in ecological environment protection and occupational
health and safety in various fields of the new energy batteries
industry including the establishment of management systems, risk
precautions and management, setting up of smart factory and team
building.

(* for identification purpose only)
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERE

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Capital
Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited (Formerly known as China
Investment Development Limited) (the “Company”, together with
its subsidiaries, the "Group”)) hereby present its report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company and its subsidiaries are engaged in investment for
short to long-term capital appreciation purposes, and investment
in listed and unlisted securities. There have been no significant
changes in the nature of the Group's principal activities during the
year.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 85 of the annual report. The
Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for the
year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Business Review and Future Prospect

A review of the business of the Group during the year and a
discussion on the Group's future business development are
provided in the Management Discussion and Analysis section on
pages 7 to 10 of this Annual Report.

Financial Key Performance Indicators

An analysis of the Group's performance during the year using
financial key performance indicators is provided in the Management
Discussion and Analysis section on pages 7 to 10 of this Annual
Report.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERE

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Use of proceeds
For the year ended 31 March 2024

i)

The Company has implemented the Rights Issue on the basis
of one (1) Rights Share for every one (1) existing Share held
on the Record Date at the Subscription Price of HK$0.15
per Rights Share, to raise gross proceeds of approximately
HK$54.1 million and the net proceeds (after deducting all
relevant expenses) from the Rights Issue were approximately
HK$52.7 million.

As disclosed in the Announcement of the Company, as at
4:00 p.m. on Friday, 28 July 2023, being the latest time for
acceptance, a total of 18 valid applications and acceptances
under the PAL in respect of a total of 229,830,914 Rights
Shares had been received, representing approximately
63.77% of the total number of Rights Shares offered under the
Rights Issue.

As disclosed in the Announcement of the Company, as at 6:00
p.m. on Wednesday, 9 August 2023, being the latest time
of placing of the unsubscribed Rights Shares by the Placing
Agents, all the 130,563,945 unsubscribed Rights Shares were
successfully placed at the price of HK$0.150 per Share, which
is equal to the Subscription Price, under the Placing.

As all the conditions with respect to the Rights Issue and the
Placing as set out in the Prospectus have been fulfilled, the
Rights Issue and the Placing became unconditional at 4:00
p.m. on Thursday, 10 August 2023.

Details are made to the Prospectus of the Company dated 14
July 2023 and the announcements of the Company dated 2
August 2023 and dated 11 August 2023.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERE

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Use of proceeds (continued)
(i)  (continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the net proceed of
Rights issue was used as follows:

Net proceeds raised during the Intended use of the
year ended 31 March 2024 Unutilised Proceeds |
BHE_ZT_WMF=A=+—H ABRAAEREIWN
HFEECERNAEREFHE STE AR

KO (7
FREREAR (#)

i)

(&
HE_ZT_WNF=A=Z=+—"BILFE -
HEMERBFBECEANOT ¢

Actual use the Unutilised

Proceeds | during the

year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_IE=ZA=+—H
LTEERBAMSREAINERAR

HK$52.7 million (the “Unutilised HK$8.5 million — general working  HK$8.5 million — general working

Proceeds ") capital

capital

HK$44.2 million — repayment of HK$44.2 million — repayment of

the borrowings and finance costs  the borrowings and finance costs

57888 ([XBA 85HEABTT — —MREE
FRERE) S

M2EEB T —EEERK

8 %5 Bk R

(i) On 25 January 2024, the Company entered into the placing
agreement with the placing agents pursuant to which the
placing agents have agreed to place, on a best effort basis, to
not less than six independent placees for up to 144,000,000
new Shares at a price of HK$0.65 per placing share (the
"Placing”), for and on behalf of the Company.

The net proceeds from the Placing of approximately HK$92.5
million (after all relevant expenses) will be used for future
investment opportunities as may be identified from time to
time, repayment of borrowings and general working capital of
the Group.

All the conditions precedent have been fulfilled and that the
completion of Placing took place on 23 February 2024. A total
of 144,000,000 placing shares have been successfully placed
by the placing agents to not less than six placees at the
placing price of HK$0.65 per placing share pursuant to the
terms and conditions of the placing agreement,

Details are set out in the Company’s announcements dated
25 January 2024 and 23 February 2024.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERE

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Use of proceeds (continued)
(i) (continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the net proceed of
Placing was used as follows:

Net proceeds raised during the Intended use of the

year ended 31 March 2024 Unutilised Proceeds |l

BE-F-_MF=A=+—H

¥KOE (2)
FRBRIBEBRAE (&)
(iy (&)

BE_Z_NF=-A=+—HLFEE -
REFHEMSERREFECEANOT :

Actual use the Unutilised
Proceeds Il during the

year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_IE=ZA=+—H
EEERSAMREREAN

LTFEEBENAMEBREFE

HK$92.5 million
(the “Unutilised Proceeds I1")

ABRARERBRINGERRE

HK$92.5 million — investment
— repayment of borrowings
— general working capital

MERAR

HK$92.5 million — investment
— repayment of borrowings
— general working capital

Q5BEEETT
([REBAFBIHEN])

NEEEBETL—KE
—EEBEX

——REEES

Dﬂ

For the year ended 31 March 2023

On 15 September 2022, the Company entered into the Placing
Agreement with the Placing Agent pursuant to which the Placing
Agent has agreed to place, on a best effort basis, to not less than
six independent Placees for up to 492,200,000 new Shares at a price
of HK$0.077 per Placing Share, for and on behalf of the Company.

The maximum number of 492,200,000 Placing Shares represents
approximately 20% of the entire issued share capital of
the Company of 2,461,028,593 Shares as at the date of this
announcement and approximately 16.67% of the Company'’s entire
issued share capital as enlarged by the Placing. The net proceeds
from the Placing of approximately HK$37.4 million (assuming the
Placing Shares are fully placed and after all relevant expenses) will
be used for future investment opportunities as may be identified
from time to time, repayment of borrowings and general working
capital of the Group.

Details are set out in the Company’s announcement date 15
September 2022.
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f& B0 2 #920% + AR A RB LR E FHE
AZEHEBITRAZ 81667% - BBE FE
ZHBREFRENAIABEE T (BRRRE
RO EZHERERNMK —UEBAYE)
BAETEINRYE 2 RRKEEKS - EE
BREAEE -—REEEST °

HBEBRRAD
HEYRE °
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Use of proceeds (continued)

KO (7
FRERERAR (#)

Date of initial announcement
BROERHS

15 September 2022

“E--FARTEA
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Fund raising activity
REED

Placing new Shares under
general mandate

RE-RREREFRH

Net proceeds raised

FERASHEARE

BIABEET

THANNKRRERE
BEARELRE-REE

Intended use of proceeds

FRMERERR

Approximately HK$37.4 million  Future investment

opportunities as may be
identified from time to time,
repayment of borrowings
and general working capital
of the Group

A%

Actual use of proceeds as at
the Latest Practicable Date
REARRIGTERAE
RERRAR

Approximately HK$17.4 million
for a commercial bill in
public transport sector;
approximately HK$6.0
million for investment
in Hong Kong listed
company in logistics sector;
approximately HK$10.0
million for investment
in United States dollar
denominated fund; and
approximately HK$4.0
million for general working
capital

B OU4BEERRARALES

TENERER : 1008E
BTRRRENRITZNE
BLWLE: HI00AER
TARRENX A EHE
£ RAMORBRTAR-
kegLe
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) KO (%)
Strategic Cooperation B aE

EHEBRESEATREZSHEEE ([E
EE&EE]) BERME([ERME]) - RZZT_NW
F=ZA=+—H  ERMENEHRROT -

The Company has signed letter of intent (the “LOI") of strategic A2 &2
cooperation (the “Strategic Cooperation”) with potential

cooperation parties from time to time. As at 31 March 2024, the

status update of the LOls are set out as follows.

Date of Announcements
/'\d: E Eq

Potential cooperation parties

BEEHER

Status
AR

29 April 2021 Shenyang Shiye Culture Media Co., Ltd.* Still in progress
—E_-FWMA-+ANAH UL E XEEHEERRAA) MEETT

26 July 2021 Shanghai Yudu Investment (Group) Co., Ltd.* Ended

S S P AN= LEREBRER (EF) BRAA) B#ER

2 September 2021 China Trading Coal Hebei Network Technology Co., Ltd.* Ended
—F-—FNHA=H (P REAIL BRI RAERQA) BE&ER

3 August 2023
—T-=F)N\A=A

25 August 2023
—E_=f/\HZ-+aH

21 September 2023

Si Chuan Hui Tong Yun Enterprises Management Group
Limited* (W) ZBECXEEEEFR AR

Shenzhen San Zang Hui Tou Consulting Management

Limited* (R Y = ERZAEEBR QA

Scallop (Zhejiang) Intelligent Technology Co., Ltd.*

Still in progress

DEET

Still in progress
DEETT

Still in progress

“EC=FAAF+—R (BRI BREMKRERQA DEET
25 October 2023 Chengdu Guandetang Biotechnology Group Company Ended
—E_=f+tH-+aH Limited* (X BREEZLEYRKREBEFR A AF) E&R

17 November 2023
—Fo=Fft-AtER

29 November 2023

—E_=%+—HA=-+AhAH

30 November 2023
—E-=+—H=+H

3 January 2024
—E-_mME—-R=H

22 January 2024
—F-_mE—-A=+=H

*  For identification purpose only

For the LOlIs still in progress, the specific terms and conditions of
the formal agreement are subject to the approval of the Board after
the completion of the Company’s due diligence. As at 31 March
2024, the Company has not entered into any formal or legally
binding agreement concerning Strategic Cooperation for the LOls

still in progress.

Weiyun Times (Jilin) Digital Technology Co., Ltd.*
(MEBK (EH) BFHEERA )

Kejian Kekang (Qingdao) Group Co., Ltd.*
(TRRATE(E8) SEBRMERADR)

Huizhigu (Nanjing) Information Technology Co., Ltd.*
(B22a (AR EEMEARRAA)

Guangdong Chaoyou Xinfu Housekeeping Services Group
Co, td* (EREBAEXZRAEXBMEXERBEEBEFRE LA

Fengmao Ecological Technology (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.*

(B#EEM ORI BRAA)

* EHEE

ExgHtE -

HR2ENEETHNERE -
BEALGHAGTRARARTKERESZH
RZE-_NWFE=ZA=+—8
AARIERZENEETHERSE W AR
BEEI LA EXKEERZNR N = -

Still in progress

DEET
Still in progress
DHEET
Still in progress
MHEET
Still in progress
DEET

Still in progress

DEET
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERE

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Important Events after the Year-end Date

In April 2024, the Group entered into share transfer agreements
with an independent third party for the disposal of its entire equity
interests in Jiajiafu and Wole (see note 18 to the consolidated
financial statements) at the consideration of HK$20,412,000 and
approximately RMB14,849,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$16,046,000) respectively. Completion of these share transfer
agreements is expected to take place by July 2024.

In June 2024, the Group entered into share transfer agreements with
other shareholders of Zhong Ying Hua Xia and Hui Tong Yun (see
note 19 to the consolidated financial statements) for the transfer of
its entire equity interests in Zhong Ying Hua Xia and Hui Tong Yun
at the consideration of RMB27,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$29,176,000) and RMB30,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$32,418,000) respectively. Completion of these share transfer
agreements is expected to take place by July 2024.

On 28 June 2024, the closing market share of Int'l Genius was
HK$3.56 per share. Based on the share price of HK$3.56 per share,
the fair value of the Group's interest in the shares of Int'l Genius
would be approximately HK$34,048,000, representing a decrease of
approximately HK$42,942,000 or 56% as compared to the carrying
value of approximately HK$76,990,000 as at 31 March 2024.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group's principal business activities are exposed to a
variety of key risks including credit risk, interest rate risk, liquidity
risk, operational risk and market risk. Details of the aforesaid
key risks and risk mitigation measures are set out in “Financial
Risk Management Objectives and Policies” in note 37 to the

consolidated financial statements.
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¥KOE (2)
FHEAGZEEEH
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VYBRHhEERE  LEERIIERREN
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51 %20,412,0007%8 7T & 49 A R #14,849,0007T (48
B R #416,046,000% 70) © 3% F R0 EE B
FEHE_ST_NFEEAATER °

RZZE-_MFANA AEBHPREERES
BEMNHEMBRRTIROEEDRZ (R

HWMEMF9)  EERHEHATREERZERE
maEEicE - RE DR A A RE27,000,0007T

(FB & M %29,176,0007% 7T) & A R % 30,000,000
T (BER432,418,0008 T) ° ZERMEZE
WEERME_Z_MNE+L ARITHK -

RZZEZMWFARAZ T AR ' Int'l Genius 8
WmmigHhBEEER3ILET - ERNKRES
BE3.5678 T © AN & B A Int'| Genius B {7 A 4 25
NF{EH) A34,0480008 0 0 BR T - W&
—H= + —H E‘EE{E %’776,990,000/& E/}j—é) :%"7
42,942,000/ 7T 3k56% ©

TERBRRTABRRE
AEENIZEREYEEE TIEZRR
BEEERR - FXER - RHESER -
EERRNMTIZER o Lt RERKLER
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Environmental Policy and Performance

We are committed to protect the environment by introducing a
green policy to enhance the awareness of environmental protection
among staff. The Group has implemented internal recycling
programme for office consumables such as toner cartridges and
paper to help protect the environment and natural resources.

The Group has also implemented energy saving practices in offices
and branch premises where applicable, such as taking initiatives to
reduce paper usage by encouraging the use of websites and online
version of corporate communications. As regards reduction of
power consumption, lighting, air-conditioners and office equipment
will be turned off when not in use.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with
regulatory requirements. The Group has been allocating resources
to ensure the Group’s ongoing compliance with the updated
applicable rules and regulations. During the year under review, the
Group has, to the best of our knowledge, complied with the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”), the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Company Law of Bermuda, the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and
other relevant rules and regulations.

Relationships with Key Stakeholders
The Group's success lies also on the support from key stakeholders,
including shareholders, employees, bankers, and service providers.

Shareholders

One of the corporate goals of the Group is to enhance corporate
value to our shareholders. Description of the shareholders’
rights and our investor relations can be found in the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 60 to 76 of this Annual Report.

Employees

The Group treasures our employees as the most important assets
of the Group. The objective of the Group’s human resources
management is to reward and recognise our employees by
providing a competitive remuneration package, appropriate
incentives such as share options and bonus, and opportunities
within the Group for career advancement.

KO (%)

BERERRR

RMBARRERS  BBSIAREERE
FERETHEREH - AREERHHE -
BESHARN BHRABEKRIELR - LARE
RERARER -

AEBARPRERSHFR (WER) BF
REED  PINEBTBERBUELENEL
FBRANERRAAZTERDERFER - A
REEANCASEFRE  ZFARKARE
AEIHAE -

BFEERRAG
AEBRPETEERTHNEEZNE - £5H
BRI ERNERAEBRFEETTN
BAMAAEBG - REBEER @ HERMAH
A AEBBEETHIMES LEMRA ([E
MHRAL) - BEEMNENEZS LB EK
Bl - BRERBE - BEEG F22F QA
16 5] Ko E fh 4B B R B R AR5 o

B EFFEEEBR
AEEMKNTEINRAETENZEBEENS
B OBERE - EE  TREBITERBREMS
7 o

IR
AEENCEBBRZ - DRBRRRAAEE
B BRRENEREREEREZHBINASE
BFEOET6A 2 EEERARE °

(3=
AEEBBEMNBEERRAKEBEREENE
E- - AEBENANEREEERAEBEMHR
BEHFANGHEE  BENHE (PImE
BIERIEA) ARRAEBANBEEFA KRS
HEERTRARLER -
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Bankers

The Group has maintained excellent relationship with our bankers
and has been soliciting funds from our bankers as and when
necessary.

Service Providers

The Group's good relationships with its key service providers are
important in our provision of effective and efficient services as well
as meeting business challenges and regulatory requirements. The
key service providers provide professional services to the Group
which are key to our success.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment during the
year are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the authorised and issued share capital of the Company
are set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on pages 87 to 88 and in note 26 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2024, in the opinion of the Directors, the Company
had approximately HK$222,564,000 reserves available for
distribution to shareholders (2023: HK$222,129,000).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

As the Group is engaged in investment for short to long-term
capital appreciation purposes, and investment in listed and unlisted
securities, there are no major customers and suppliers during the
year.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 180. This
summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial
statements.

26 Annual Report F ¥ 2024

EBORE (@)

ERBRAT
AEBEBEMANERBTESBROBREK -
YERVEHREAMOERRTERES -

AR %% 12 At
AEBRATERBREFMORTFEARYR
MR ERRYE  EHFERBRETET
REMETHEE - Ixﬁﬁﬁ‘%ﬁﬂ\ﬁﬁzﬁﬁﬁ
EREEXRBARMAXIINER -

ME - BERRHE

ERAME  BERRERAFREZEZ2HFE
FRERE M mAM S -

&S
ARBZAERCEITRAFBIANES Y

R R M E25

(Eh]
AEBRARARAFEZHBESFED

BN FETEBA AR EIREES
B RS R MY 5E26 ©

o] 7K A
RZF-_WNF=ZA=1T—H8 EFAR &

AR A 9k TR R 2 A 49222,564,0007%8 JT
ZE = 222,129,000 T) ©

IEEFRHER
MARASBEZEBARENESEHERSY
AAHE  ARREREDRIELTES
FERAFEYEEERS RGER -

MBHRR
AEERBEAAMBFEZEBEUREAE
REEREHNEI0E - LEBL THRE
BRRAMBRRET—H5



Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited ® & 7N R & 2 &£ [# 5 [R A &)

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERE

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive Director
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee
Mr. Chan Yiu Pun Clement

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Han Zhenhai (Chairman of the Board and re-designated as
Joint Chairman of the Board on 22 January 2024)

Mr. Deng Dongping (appointed as Deputy Chairman of the Board
on 11 December 2023 and as Joint Chairman of the Board on
22 January 2024)

Mr. Liu Lihan (resigned on 6 October 2023)

Mr. Zhu Zhikun (appointed as Deputy Chairman of the Board on
11 December 2023)

Mr. Ge Zhifu (appointed on 6 October 2023 and as Deputy
Chairman of the Board on 11 December 2023)

Mr. Lyn Ping
Ms. Mo Xiuping (re-designated on 19 April 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. Mo Li

Mr. Shi Zhu

Ms. Chen Shunging

Ms. Mo Xiuping (ceased on 19 April 2023)

Mr. Ding Jiasheng (appointed on 26 September 2023)

Directors respectively subject to retirement or rotation at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company in accordance
with Bye-law 120 and Bye-law 153 of the Company’s Bye-laws and
eligible for re-election thereat will be contained in a circular to be
separately issued to the shareholders of the Company.

X
RAFEARBEEARERR ZARAESE
mr

HITES
REFRLLE
BREMW 5T &

FHITES

BEBEE (BEFELTEUIR _F_MAF—HA
Tt HAEREFEHELE)

BREFEAE (R-ZF=-—=ZF+=-A+—HE
ZEREFEFHTREUIR—_F_HF—H
A HEZAREFEHELE)

RIS RS E (RZF=Z=F+ANHE)

Re|AELE (RZF-_=ZFF+_HA+—HEZ
IREFEETRE)

BAREE (RCF-_ZF1+ANAEZHY
R-ZF_=ZFf AT HEZEREF
2ELE)

B FEE

RERZRL (RZF-_=ZFHA+NHHBE)

BYFHITES

REMZ L

Yap s

BRIIES 2+

EFEYLT (RZFZ=ZFMA+/HEIL)

TEEERE (RZF=Z=ZFANA=-F+NAE
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors of the Company and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 11 to 17 of the
annual report.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND

DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2024, the interests and short positions held by
the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance, the "SFO") as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
"Model Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules were
as follows:

Long position in shares and underlying shares of the Company

EEREREERERE

ARABEERAEESRE
RERFINEITE °

BEZzEREH R

EERIETHRAERKRG - HBERA
REERzER

R-ZZ-_ME=A=+—H E2RARQA
TETRABRARARERAEEE (E&E R
EH LRGN (TEFRAERGI]) FXVER)
B HEBRHAERETHERBELARN
RARBEFLPERPIFEIGEFEZE
ez s KORA - SRR L AR B 8 C3
P8 ETmBETAEFETESFRGNBREST
A (BREFAD ERTHAERRALRER

BMEXZMARLR ([BXM]) 2=k
KRB

ARABRDRBBERD TR

Number of shares/underlying shares held

fiske/ RBRRGHA

Number of shares Approximate

Number of  issuable on share percentage of

Name of Director Capacity in which interests are held shares held optionheld  Total interests shareholding

sl R E 2 ERERL

EEns BEEEZHH FERGHE TRTRHOKE AR AAt

(Note)

(Hit)

Han Zhenghai & IF /& Beneficial owner E& A 1,110,900 1,110,900 0.13%

Deng Dongping B & ¥ Beneficial owner Bz % H A 1,110,900 1,110,900 0.13%

Zhu Zhikun 8 48 Beneficial owner E &5 A A 4,890,000 4,890,000 0.57%

Mo Li B Beneficial owner B A A 111,088 111,088 0.01%

Shizhu A1 Beneficial owner B 5 A A 125926 125926 001%

Note: HiE -

The percentage of shareholding is calculated on the basis of the Company's BREB AL IEAATAR T _MNF=ZA=+—H2Z

issued capital of 864,789,718 shares at 31 March 2024.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, none of the Directors or chief
executive of the Company had any interests or short positions in shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES (continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company had any interests or
short positions in shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be
kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2024, the following persons, other than a Director
or chief executive of the Company, were interested or had short
positions in more than 5% of the shares and underlying shares of
the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 336 of the SFO:

EERFETRAEBRKRG - HEBER®G
REEEZES (&)

BREXEEEIN  RZZE_HWNF=RA=+-—
B EFHARAETBTIBRAEREREARQ
A E T REAE (E& LER RPERD
EXVER) 2B - HEROIEEED - &
BERARRQAREREZF L E G&H F3521%
AGFEZECMARBEETRESTAE
ARBRBRMzEEIRE -

FERR

RZZB_OF=A=+—H BREFHARQ
AEXBETBAEN  BBEREBEIEFRHPEEH
FERIKAFEZECMARLE - HELARA
B in R AEBA AR P5% A ERER TR B 2 AL W
T

Approximate

Capacity in which interests are Number of  percentage of
Name of Shareholder held shares held shareholding
ERERLD
BRREE/ LB BEREZZESH KRG #E BOk
(Note 1)
(Brit1)
Zhang Hai (Note 2 and 3)K /& (K5E2%3) Beneficial ownerE = B A 25,614,000 2.96%
Interest of Controlled 87,359,945 10.10%
Corporation¥ 1% il /% B # 2
112,973,945 13.06%
Infinite Apex International Corporation (Note 2) Beneficial ownerE&m A A 87,359,945 10.10%
Infinite Apex International Corporation (Ffi7£2)
China Investment Limited (Note 3) Interest of Controlled 87,359,945 10.10%
HEEEERQE (FF3E3) CorporationZ {2 #7% B #
Yitong Enterprise Group Holdings Limited (Note 4) Beneficial ownerEz= B A 72,424,000 8.37%
Yitong Enterprise Group Holdings Limited (Ff{4)
Shuo Kang International Limited (Note 5) Beneficial ownerEm B A 58,144,000 6.72%
Shuo Kang International Limited (i 75)
China Hui Shang Enterpriser Association International Beneficial ownerEB z# B A 56,000,000 6.48%
Group Limited (Note 6)
PEYHEERHERREEER A (HTo)
Yang Weixuls &8 Beneficial ownerZE @A A 53,222,000 6.15%
Ng YURF Beneficial ownerE & & A 52,560,000 6.08%
Notes: Wit -

(1 The percentage of shareholding is calculated on the basis of the
Company's issued share capital of 864,789,718 shares as at 31 March 2024.

2 Infinite Apex International Corporation (“Infinite Apex”) is owned by Mr.
Zhang Hai (51%) and China Investment Limited (49%). Therefore, Mr. Zhang
Hai and China Investment Limited are deemed to be, or taken to be,
interested in all the shares held by Infinite Apex for the purpose of the SFO.

(1) BEBD IR ARIR_E_NE=ZA=1+—
B2 B 317 A864,789,718M X D st E B H -

(2)  Infinite Apex International Corporation ( [Infinite

Apex]) B RBEEGCINEFTEEEFRAQ A

WX HER - At - BBEZFHFRAEKRD - K&

Ak RPEEE AR TR R Infinite Apex
BENREROPHEEER -
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

3) China Investment Limited ("CIL") is owned by Mr. Zhang Hai (40%), % 3!l
MBI g EMREER A A GB0%) and FERE OFII) ZARFEER
A A) (30%). Therefore, Mr. Zhang Hai, F I B8] E T AR AR 2 7
and F1EF®E ORII) 7% ARB B R 2 7l are deemed to be, or taken to
be, interested in all the shares held by Infinite Apex for the purpose of the
SFO.

(4) Yitong Enterprise Group Holdings Limited is wholly owned by Ms. Yao
Aiyun.

(5) Shuo Kang International Limited is wholly owned by Ms. Yang Dandan.

(6) China Hui Shang Enterpriser Association International Group Limited is
wholly owned by Zhang Qiaoyun.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, the Company was
not notified of any persons, other than the Directors or chief
executive of the Company, having any interests or short positions in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section
336 of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, the Company was
not notified of any persons, other than the Directors or chief
executive of the Company, having any interests or short positions in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section
336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

At the AGM held on 28 December 2018, the terms of a new
share option scheme (the “Scheme”) were adopted by providing
incentive to eligible participants to work better for the interests
of the Group, under which the Board may, at its discretion, offer
to grant an option to any full-time or part-time employee and
directors of the Company or any of its subsidiaries and service
providers of the Group (collectively the “Grantees”).

The purposes of the grant of the Options are to retain and motivate
the Grantees to stive for future development and expansion of
the Group, give incentive to encourage the Grantees to enjoy
the results of the Group attained through their efforts and
contributions.

The old share option scheme (the "Old Scheme"”) adopted by the
Company by ordinary resolution of the shareholders of the Company
on 9 April 2009 was terminated and replaced by the Scheme at the
AGM held on 28 December 2018. Details of the Old scheme are
shown in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Scheme must not in aggregate exceed 10%
of the total number of shares in issue on the date of adoption of
the Scheme. The total number of shares which may fall to be issued
upon exercise of the share options granted under the Scheme to
each Grantee in any 12-month period up to the date of grant shall
not exceed 1% of the shares in issue as at the date of grant.

Any grant of options to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company or any of their respective associates
is required to be approved by the independent non-executive
Directors. If the Board proposed to grant options to a substantial
shareholder or any independent non-executive Director or their
respective associates which will result in the number of shares to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted and to be granted to
such person in the 12-month period up to and including the date
of such grant, representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares in
issue on the date of grant and having an aggregate value in excess
of HK$5 million, based on the closing price of the shares at the date
of each grant, such further grant of options will be subjected to the
shareholders’ approval in general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 21
days from the offer date or within such other period of time as may
be determined by the Board. Upon acceptance of the options, the
Grantee shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company by way of consideration
for the grant.

The subscription price of a share in respect of any option granted
under the Scheme shall be priced as the Board in its absolute
discretion shall determine, but must be at least the higher of (i) the
closing price of the Company’s shares as quoted on the SEHK on
the date of grant; (ii) the average closing price of the Company’s
shares as quoted on the SEHK for the five consecutive business
days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (i) the nominal
value of a share of the Company.

The period during which an option may be exercise will be
determined by the Board in its absolute discretion. An option may
be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Scheme at any
time after the date upon which the option is deemed to be granted
and accepted and prior to the expiry of 10 years from that date.
The shares to be allotted upon the exercise of an option will not
carry voting rights until the completion of the registration of the
Grantee.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

When the Scheme was adopted on 28 December 2018, the Scheme
Mandate Limit approved by the Shareholders was 88,218,572
Shares (after taking effect of the share consolidation (involving
consolidation of ten of the then shares of nominal value of HK$0.001
into one Share of nominal value of HK$0.01) which has taken effect
on 21 March 2019). The Scheme Mandate Limit was refreshed by
an ordinary resolution passed at the annual general meeting held
on 16 September 2021. The refreshed Scheme Mandate Limit was
19,064,785 Shares (after taking effect of the share consolidation
(involving consolidation of ten of the then shares of nominal value
of HK$0.01 into Share of nominal value of HK$0.1) which has taken
effect on 15 February 2023).

The outstanding share options at the beginning of the financial
year ended 31 March 2024 was 3,187,647 as follows:

(i)  For the share options granted on 2 August 2021 (“First
Granted Options”), the outstanding share options was
3,087,647 Shares; and

(i) For the share options granted on 7 January 2022 (“Second
Granted Options”), the outstanding share options was
100,000 Shares.

For the First Granted Options, during the year ended 31 March
2024: (i) as a result of the Rights Issue on 11 August 2023, the
number of shares to be issued upon exercise of the outstanding
Share Options pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Share
Option Scheme has been increased by 800,501 shares to 3,888,148
shares; (i) 1,110,900 share options were lapsed; (iii) no share option
was exercised; and (iv) as at 31 March 2024: 2,777,248 share options
remained outstanding.

For the Second Granted Options, during the year ended 31 March
2024: (i) as a result of the Rights Issue on 11 August 2023, the
number of shares to be issued upon exercise of the outstanding
Share Options pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Share
Option Scheme has been increased by 25,926 shares to 125,926
shares; (ii) no share option was lapsed; (iii) no share option was
exercised; and (iii) as at 31 March 2024: 125,926 share options
remained outstanding.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

In total, during the year ended 31 March 2024: (i) as a result of
the Rights Issue on 11 August 2023, the number of shares to be
issued upon exercise of the outstanding Share Options pursuant
to the terms and conditions of the Share Option Scheme has been
increased by 826,427 shares to 4,014,074 shares; (ii) 1,110,900 share
options were lapsed; (iii) no share option was exercised; and (iv) as
at 31 March 2024: 2,903,174 share options remained outstanding.
Details of the Scheme and share options movements are set out in
note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at the date of this report, the total number of securities
available for issue under the Share Option Scheme in respect of
outstanding share options granted but not yet exercised is 2,903,174
shares which represented 0.34% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at 31 March 2024.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Apart from as disclosed under the heading “Directors’ and chief
executive's interests in shares, underlying shares and debentures”
above, at no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
or of any other body corporate granted to any Directors or their
respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, or were any
such rights exercised by them; or was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors,
their respective spouse or children under 18 years of age to acquire
such rights in the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE AND CONNECTED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

No Director had a significant beneficial interest, either directly
or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of
significance to the business of the Group to which the Company
was a party during or at the end of the year.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

As at the date of this report, none of the Directors and their
respective associates had any interest in a business which causes or
may cause a significant competition with the business of the Group
and any other conflict of interests which any such person has or
may have with the Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
was entered into or existed during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws and subject to the provisions
of the statutes, every Director or other officer of the Company shall
be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities which he may sustain or incur in
or about the execution of the duties of his office or otherwise in
relation thereto, and no Director or other officer shall be liable
for any loss, damages or misfortune which may happen to or be
incurred by the Company in the execution of the duties of his office
or in relation thereto, provided that the Bye-law shall only have
effect in so far as its provisions are not avoided by the Bermuda
Companies Act. The Company has maintained Directors and
officers liability insurance during the year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the share option scheme of the Company as disclosed
above, no equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the
Company issuing shares or that require the Company to enter into
any agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing
shares were entered into by the Company during the year or
subsisted at the end of the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF

THE COMPANY'’S LISTED SHARES

During the year, the Company had not purchased, sold or
redeemed any of its securities.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES

There was no material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries during
the year ended 31 March 2024.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had 11 (2023: 14) full time employees
(exclusive of directors). The Group's total staff costs (including
directors’ remuneration) amounted to approximately HK$6,776,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: HK$6,048,000). The employees
were remunerated based on their responsibilities and performance.

The Company has adopted the model set out in Code Provision
E.1.2(c)(ii) of Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules as its remuneration
model for determining the emoluments of the Directors. This
model stipulates that the Remuneration Committee shall make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of individual executive directors and senior management. The
Remuneration Committee would take into consideration, among
other things, the duties and responsibilities of the Directors and
senior management and prevailing market conditions when
determining their remuneration.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme to provide
incentives to eligible persons, including Directors, employees,
consultants, suppliers and customers of the Group.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws
of the Company or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to the existing
shareholders.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained a sufficient public float as required under the Listing
Rules during the year and up to the date of this report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has set up an Audit Committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with the Listing Rules. Amongst other
duties, the principal duties of the Audit Committee are to review
and supervise the financial reporting process and internal control
of the Group. The Audit Committee comprises three independent
non-executive Directors, namely, Ms. Chen Shunging, Ms. Mo
Li, and Mr. Shi Zhu, and Ms. Chen Shunging is the Committee
Chairlady. The audited financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2024 have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee.

=S A D&

NRZZE-_ME=A=+—H ' "&E£BAHN
HZH(ZEZ=ZF:14%8) 2B EE (TBE=
F) BE_ZT-_NE=F=+—HILEE -
AREBEZEIXNALE (BEEZEHE) 945
6,776,000/ 70 (ZZ = =4 : 6,048,000/ 7T) °
BEMES NIBEEEZHRERREMET -

AABEHEMETRAWECI 2 FRHIEXE
E1206) B c AN EAFTFMEX + NUE
FEEZ2HFMTE - ZEXRTEFMNEZES
ERENRAITEERSREEABZEMNE
BRNESeRLESR - EETESFEaRE
BAEBZEHENS @ FTHEZE2KE (EHE1E)
BEZEBE  BEMRITMRAELER

ARRERABERETE  SERBAER
AL BREF A5BEE - EBEH - H#
FERERER -

BEBEERE
ARANERANKARELIZALERRBE
EBERZBX  BEARRBELARL
FIRRERRIBE2HER KD -

DR E

BREADBAMEZARAEN RBEEMA -
RAFEANREEARSEAMS - ARAI—&H
BERETRAFMAERAARITRE -

EREEE
ARRRBEEZEZEE > URIELHHAAG
TETRERLE - REMBEI  FERXE
EZIBHAERENREEARE ZMBH
BREFEANEE  BERZEEH=28BY
FATEFTAEAR - DR RRIBBLZL - BA)
LR AEEE  YHRIBEBFBLLHEEZE
CXIF - ERZECEERNAKERE-T
THEZA=+t-HLEFEZEERYBR
= o

Annual Report F % 2024 35



Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited ® & 7S 2 & 2 £ [& 5 [R 2 &)

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERE

AUDITOR

On 25 February 2022, BDO Limited resigned as the auditor of
the Company and Fan, Chan & Co. Limited ("FCCL") has been
appointed as the new auditor of the Company to fill the causal
vacancy following the resignation of BDO Limited.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 March 2023 and 2022 have been audited by FCCL and
the consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 March 2021 was audited by BDO Limited.

The term of office of FCCL will expire upon the conclusion of the
AGM. A resolution to re-appoint FCCL as auditor of the Company
will be proposed to the shareholders of the Company for approval
at the AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Han Zhenghai
Joint Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2024
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BRI HEREBRE

ABOUT THIS REPORT

Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”)
is pleased to present its report on the Environmental, Social, and
Governance (the “ESG”) aspects (the “ESG Report”) to provide
an overview of the Group’s management on significant issues
affecting the operation and the performance of the Group in terms

of environmental and social aspects.

Being a listed company, apart from strictly complying with the
Code of Corporate Governance practices as set out in the Rules
(the "Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), the
Board also strives to be a responsible corporation by placing great
emphasis on the environmental protection, people oriented and
community care and to maintain a high ethical standard. The Board
believes that these sustainability objectives can align with the
company's business strategies to contribute most favourable return
for stakeholders.

PREPARATION BASIS, SCOPE AND REPORTING

PRINCIPLES

This Report is prepared to be in compliance with Appendix 27 to the
Listing Rules — “Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide” (“ESG Reporting Guide”), including the overall approach,
reporting principles, the mandatory disclosure requirements, and
the “comply or explain” provisions as specified in the ESG Reporting
Guide.

The Company is an investment company and is principally engaged
in investments in a diversified portfolio of listed and unlisted
companies. As an investment company, the Company does not
directly participate in the production and operation of these
listed and unlisted companies. Hence the scope of this Report is
limited to the office space in Hong Kong. The ESG Report covers
the Group's overall performance, commitment and approaches in
workplace quality, environmental protection, operating practices
and community involvement in relation to the abovementioned
operations during the year ended 31 March 2024. All information
and data disclosed herein were based on formal documents and
internal statistics of the Group.
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PREPARATION BASIS, SCOPE AND REPORTING
PRINCIPLES (continued)
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The reporting principles used throughout this Report is explained A& FEATHEA MRS RABRELD T ¢

as follows:
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The ESG Report includes ESG issues that are determined by the Board of Directors,
with the assistance of the management and ESG working group that are above the
threshold at which they are sufficiently important to investors and other stakeholders
to be reported. These material ESG issues were identified through consideration and
discussion by the Board of Directors and the ESG working group, and also through the
discussions in the normal course of engagement with the different stakeholders. Further
detail of the identification process and the selection criteria are set out in the “Stakeholder
Engagement” section.
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The KPIs in respect of historical data described in the ESG Report are measured by
the Company. Targets set are either in terms of actual numerical figures, or directional
statements or forward-looking statements to reduce a particular impact related to each
of the KPIs. The effectiveness of ESG policies and management systems can hence be
evaluated and validated. Each quantitative information is accompanied by a narrative,
explaining its purpose, impacts, and comparative data are given where appropriate.
Information on the standards, methodologies, assumptions and/or calculation used, and
source of key emission and conversion factors used for both quantitative environmental
and social KPIs are disclosed in the ESG Report where appropriate. Refer to the
explanations accompanied the relevant KPlIs for further detail.
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The ESG report provides an unbiased picture of the Company’s performance during the
Reporting Period by disclosing information in an objective manner, avoiding contents that
may inappropriately influence the judgment made by report readers, i.e. bias selections,
omissions, or present in a format that deliberately misrepresentation reality.
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Methodologies used is consistent so as to allow for meaningful comparison of ESG data
over time. Any changes that could affect a meaningful comparison of the KPIs have been
disclosed accordingly.
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ESG GOVERNANCE

While actively seeking to optimise its investment portfolio and
maximise shareholder return, the Company lives up to its corporate
social responsibility by striking a balance between the interests of
stakeholders such as the shareholders and the community, with the
ultimate goal of achieving to be a sustainable corporation and a
giant step towards responsible investing.

ESG oversight

The Board aims to provide stakeholders with an understanding
of the overall ESG governance structure of the Company. The
Board acknowledges its role of oversight of ESG issues through
the consideration and discussion of ESG issues in board meetings.
In this section the Board will further explain its ESG management
approach and strategy, including the process used to evaluate,
prioritise, and manage material ESG-related issues (including risks
to the issuer’s businesses), and how it reviews progress made
against ESG-related goals and targets with an explanation of how
they related to the Company'’s business.

ESG management approach and strategy

To ensure cohesion with existing business strategies and processes,
the Board aligns its ESG management approach and strategy with
our existing governance (i.e. risk management and internal controls
system) framework. The ESG-related risks are therefore evaluated,
prioritise, and managed as part of the existing processes of this
governance framework, so that ESG-related risks are managed just
as effective as those which are not ESG-related.

Through an integrated, dual top-down and bottom-up approach,
risks identified at each level of defence are discussed, evaluated
and prioritise at that level as well as between the other levels.
Material risks are then communicated and considered by the Board
and the senior management regularly at board and committee
meetings.
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ESG GOVERNANCE (continued)

ESG management approach and strategy (continued)

Each of these material risks are entered into a risk register where
an appropriate level of risk appetite is set with the appropriate
risk response. Risk register and their relevant risk appetite and
risk responses are approved by the Board. These risks in the risk
register are regularly monitored to consider the change of any risk
and the necessity of change in risk response.

Hence, in formulating our sustainability we take not only the
principle of sustainability seriously, we also take into careful
consideration various risk including legal compliance, operational,
finance and also the opinions from stakeholders. We have
established and implemented various policies to manage and
monitor the risks related to the environment, employment,
operating practices and community. Details of the management
approaches to sustainable development of different areas are
illustrated in this Report.

Stakeholder Engagement

We recognise the ESG Report as an important measure to
showcase our efforts in sustainable development. In realising
sustainable development, we are devoted to strike a balance of
the interests among various stakeholders, such as investors and
shareholders, customers, employees, work partners as well as the
community. The Company is searching for every opportunity to
understand and engage our stakeholder to ensure improvement
can be implemented to our investments. We strongly believe our
stakeholders play a crucial role in sustaining the success of our
business.

40 Annual Report £ 5} 2024

- HERERIEE (£)
F% HEREANEESHREE (£)
&%EKR&ﬂFHAWE%¢ﬂ¢'I&

ENRERASTRENDKERILEEHR R
FQEMOEﬁéﬂﬁ&EWﬁH 2 R 4 &

RRENEERESSE  THESRAR

“%ﬁ¢ma%HAvu%FEﬂﬂﬁZ
FRBESERETHNERR -
Eir » B EOIHELR TEERAHF
BERRA - THREZESERR - BEZX
EEHBR - BE - BBEFZHEBEEER -
ﬁﬁegﬁﬁﬁﬁy@ﬁﬁ'Mﬁﬁ&#*
HIREE - BE - ZEEfRARAR AR
$ﬁ%ﬁﬁ$ﬁﬁ%27%%%?*ﬁﬁ%
I o

NEHEEES HE
BMPRARE  HEekEnBRE—RRTIEM
AREERSNINEEEE -  EERAKE

HROBET - BRABNIREREERER -

EPFP BB IHBHURHEREZZMNEM
BECHERBETE - ARF—EBESKEEE

MAmBEREETHEEIROES - UREREM
MIRERATENRE - HMARE - MSBBEE
BRAPSENSEBRNTERREEZHER
MAE e



Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited ® & 7N R & 2 &£ [# 5 [R A &)

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIE HERE

BHRE

ESG GOVERNANCE (continued)

Stakeholder Engagement (continued)
The existing communication mechanism with stakeholders of the

Group is set forth as below:

Stakeholders
Flz=rEEE

Expectations and concerns

HERBIER

- HERERNAE (&)

ﬂéﬁﬁ%gﬁﬁa
EAREENSZHEENREBERHWT ¢

Communication Channels

BRERE

The Stock Exchange

B 22 P

Government and regulatory
authorities

BT REEHE

Shareholders or investors

BRI EE

Employees

7l
il

Public and Communities

NSYSEa

e Compliance with the Listing Rules,
publishing of announcements in a
timely and accurate manner

o HST LT AL K Ko B 2 B I B 4D

A&

e Compliance with laws and regulations
e Business Sustainability

.« BTEREEM
o« EBUREYL

e Return on investments
e Corporate governance
® Business compliance

o KREM®K

o FEER

o XBEMR

e Employees’ compensation and benefits

e Training and development

® Protection for the labour force and
safety in the working

o EEmMKER

o IFFIHEER

s BHARINERERE

* Involvement in communities

e Business compliance

e Environmental protection awareness
o ZEMEBER

e XBAM

o RIFEFREER

Meetings, trainings, seminars,
programmes, website update and

announcements
;;% i%%m S ﬁﬁ%ﬁ@ N g%%fnf: N %ﬁﬁ

BEEAE

Supervision on the compliance with local
laws and regulations

Routine reports
EEHEMERIEAENETE
e

Regular reports and announcements
Regular general meetings
Company's official website
EHHmELRE

EMBRRARE

NAEEM

Performance reviews
Regular meetings and trainings
Organization of team activities

RETFE
}’:\E/\ Eu#‘k‘&i H
HEBEF LS

Volunteer activities

Public welfare and community activities
Company's official website

ELED

NHEEHN R R E B

NAEEHE
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ESG GOVERNANCE (continued)

Stakeholders’ Feedback

We welcome stakeholders’ feedback on our environmental, social
and governance approach and performance. Please share your
views with us via:

Address:  Suite No. 7, 17/F., Tower 1,
China Hong Kong City, 33 Canton Road, Tsim Sha Tsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong

Email: info@chinainvestment.com.hk

Website:  www.00204.com.hk

No formal stakeholder engagement exercise was conducted,
material ESG factors were selected based on input from ESG
working group, the management and stakeholders from existing
stakeholder engagement processes as outline above, which we
have identified to be (in the order of importance): supply chain
management, safety and quality assurance of food production,
health & safety of employees and customers, and also environment
ESG topics such as GHG emissions, waste management, energy
and water consumption.

ESG-related goals and targets progress review

Material ESG-related issues are issues that are critical to both
short-term and long-term success of the Company’s business. It is
those parts of the Company’s business where these issues lie, the
ESG impact of these issues is highly relevant. The KPIs of material
ESG-related issues are regularly reviewed against goals and targets
set-up by the Management and the Board, with the assistance of
ESG working group, throughout the process of the preparing of
ESG reporting to determine progress made and made adjustment
and revisions to the original goals and targets where appropriate.

A. ENVIRONMENT
A.1. Emission and Resources Consumption

The Company is committed to reduce carbon footprints
by pursuing energy saving and other environment
protection measures in our business operation. As
the Company is engaged in investment business, only
generate indirect greenhouse gas (“GHG") emission
limiting to electricity and paper consumptions in
our office setting and employee business travel.
Non-hazardous wastes (commercial wastes and the
disposal of computer devices and office equipment)
produced by the Company are also at a minimum.
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ENVIRONMENT (continued)

A.1. Emission and Resources Consumption (continued)
Since the year of 2022 and up to November 2023, the B - —_FHEREE_T_=F

BHRE

A BRIE (@)
Al BEYIRERERE (&)

Company is under the shared office arrangement where
the fees for water usage are included in the shared
office arrangement, and, since November 2023, the
Company has changed the office where the fees for
water usage and electricity are included in the office
rental, and hence relevant data cannot be obtained.
The details of carbon dioxide equivalent emission

+— A ARARFERAEERAER
B KEBEEXEZHAELH
o IEE_Y_:ﬂz‘f’ A -
AAREBRPERAE - KENEESR
SERAEHeY BLEEES
HESE - ~SERBFSEHA-S
IEmBEREERERBREZFBW

and resources consumption of the Group during the o
reporting period was as follows:
Printing paper TENAR
Unit 2024 2023
B —E-QmE —F-=
Consumption quantity EREE kg F5 94.08 40.00
Electricity e
Unit 2024 2023
B —E-NE —F-=F
Consumption quantity EREE kWh F E & 10,752.00 14,784.89
Greenhouse Gas Emissions R EREEHEN (BE2) " Kg CO.e 7,634.00 10,497.27
(Scope 2)! TR &1
MR E &
Direct Energy EREER
Unit 2024 2023
B —EF-NE —F-=
Gasoline | MWh JK FL B 5,933.37 —

During the year ended 31 March 2024, our Group
had accounted for a total of 7,634 Kg CO,e (2023:
10,497.27 Kg CO,e) carbon dioxide equivalent
emissions, produced indirectly from our electric energy
consumption in the business office.

L The amount of carbon emissions per unit is 0.71 kg CO,e
for the year 2021 as disclosed by HK Electric Investments
Limited.

BE_T-_mE=ZA=+-—A1I

FE
S BEME £

REBEALEHR

£7,634F 72 —
—EZ=F

1049727 TR — R L E 2
Dt EERNETEREREEEE -

! BEEBRENREBRARAEE =
T —FEMBRBEREARII TR
SRR EE -
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ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Al

A.2.

Emission and Resources Consumption (continued)

Our Group purchased a motor vehicle during the year
(2023: Nil).

Due to the nature of the business, our Group's business
activities do not generate any hazardous waste or any
significant non-hazardous waste, and do not have any
direct and significant impacts on the environment and
natural resources in the course of its operation.

Use of Resources

The Company commits to protect the environment by
mainly focusing on the reduction in electricity, paper
and water consumption. To achieve this, the Company
continually applies efficient consumption strategy
to improve resources saving and reduce resources
consumption.

Resource Efficiency Management

The Company adopted a number of energy-saving and
resources usage initiatives to reduce greenhouse gas
emission and conserve resources usage.

Electricity

The Company uses LED lighting system, which saves
up to 80% energy and has a long life of more than 10
times comparing with traditional lighting. In addition,
there are no ultraviolet and infrared rays in the LED
light spectrum, and the waste can be recycled. It does
not contain mercury vapour as in traditional fluorescent
lamps. There is no gas pollution and it is a typical green
lighting.

J Set the central air-conditioning system at room
temperature of 25.5°C;

o Set the computers and printers in energy saving
mode when not in use;

o Switch off lights in meeting rooms when not in
use;

J Switch off printers when all staff have left office;

o Turn off computers and monitors overnight except

it is required for working purpose such as system
updates; and

o Remove all the electronic chargers from the
sockets when not in use.
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A. ENVIRONMENT (continued)

A2

A3

A4

Use of Resources (continued)

Paper
. Print in duplex;
o Use recycled paper for printing;

° Print in black and white; and
. E-storage of documents.

Water
Water consumption of the Company is minimal.
Employees are encouraged not to waste water.

The Environment and Natural Resources

Due to the nature of the business, in addition to the
above-mentioned emissions and resource usage, the
Company does not have any direct and significant
impacts on the environment and natural resources in
the course of its operation. Staff members believe it is
important to minimise the impact on the environment
and natural resources due to by their operations. In fact,
as the Company’s operations do not directly involve
the use of natural resources there is comparatively little
impact on the environment and natural resources.

Climate Change

The Company acknowledges that climate change
poses different kinds of risks as well as opportunities
to the Group's operations. According to the
recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-Related
Financial Disclosures (TCFD), climate risks are classified
into transitional risks (the adaptation challenges
that companies may face in terms of policies, laws,
technologies and markets) and physical risks (the impact
that extreme weather events may have on companies).
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ENVIRONMENT (continued)
A.4. Climate Change (continued)

For physical risks, examples include bad weather such
as extreme cold or heat, heavy rain, storm, typhoon,
and other extreme weather events that can disrupt
operations by damaging the power grid, communication
infrastructures, obstructing and injuring our staff on the
way or during their work, and also disastrous events
incidental to these weather such as the fire hazard from
overheated equipment in severe heat waves caused by
global warming. All these events may bring a severe
impact on the company’s operations.

For transformation risks, which means the risks faced
by the Group include the introduction of policies
related to energy conservation and emission reduction,
stricter emission reporting obligations and compliance
requirements, etc.

In response, the Group will identify these risks and
prioritise those which have a severe impact to take
precautionary measures first. The Group will also
identify, if any, opportunities where changing of the
business processes may be possible, for instance, staff
switch to using online video conference methods to
communicate in order that these severe impacts to
operations may be mitigated or avoided.

SOCIAL

B1.

Employment

Employees are regarded as the greatest and valuable
assets and core competitive advantage of the Company
and also provide driving force for the continuous
innovation of the Company.

The Company has set up a comprehensive human
resources management system, which was prepared in
compliance with or with reference to the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance, the PRC Labour Law ( {1 & A
R A H)%) ), the PRC Labour Contract Law ( (/1
EARANMBESH A

and regulations.

[@ %) ) and other existing laws
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SOCIAL (continued)

B1.

Employment (continued)

The Company has implemented a set of human
resources policy, which clearly states the recruitment
and promotion, staff benefits and welfare,
compensation and dismissal, training and development,
codes of ethics, safety and health, working hours and
rest periods, equal employment opportunities without
any discrimination against gender, marital status, age,

race, nationality and religion etc.

Furthermore, for all our employees, we provide fair
and adequate opportunities in terms of job promotion
and salary increment in recognising and rewarding our
employees; whilst we encourage career development
within our organisation by offering on-job training.

Provision of mandatory provident fund, pension,
medical and unemployment insurance, and a range of
other welfare benefits is guaranteed in compliance with
relevant Employment laws.

As at 31 March 2024, the proportion of male and female
employees were 7:4 (2023: 9:5). The proportion of age
group of below 30, 30 to 50 and over 50 were 3:7:1
(2023: 2:9:3) respectively.

Among all employees, 27% (2023: 7%) were from Hong
Kong and 73% (2023: 93%) from China. The employee
composition (in number of employees, excluding
directors) by gender, employee category, age group
and geographical region were as follows:

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had a total number of
11 (2023: 14) employees. During the year, 16 (2023: 5)
employees left the company, of which 1 (2023: nil) was
employed in Hong Kong and 15 (2023: 2) was employed
in the mainland China. The resulting turnover rate by
gender and age group were both 59% (2023: 26%).
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SOCIAL (continued)

B2.

B3.

Health and Safety

The Company is committed to providing and
maintaining a safe and healthy workplace for all
employees. Every employee has enough working space
in office and small fitness equipment is offered in office
to support health. The Company provides its staff with
mandatory provident fund (MPF) and, medical insurance
(including in-patient and out-patient). In the Year, no
work related injuries or fatalities were recorded.

The Company has developed a set of work safety
codes covering areas of environmental hygiene and
cleanliness, machine operation, smoking ban and fire
prevention, hazardous materials handling, arrangements
in times of typhoons and rainstorms, as well as response
to emergencies, etc. It also requires strict compliance
with these work safety codes by its employees. During
the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company recorded
nil number of work-related fatalities (2023: nil, 2022: nil)
and no lost days due to work injury (2023: nil, 2022: nil).

Development and training

The Company supports its staff to develop and enhance
their professional knowledge and skills to cope with
the evolving market environment and compliance
level. On top of on-job training, the staff members are
encouraged to take external professional training to
strengthen their work-related expertise.

The Company has always encouraged staff members to
attend courses or seminars organized by professional
bodies and regularly update their knowledge on
investments, accounting standards, Listing Rules,
the Securities and Futures Ordinance and the
Companies Ordinances, and also those training
related to anti-corruption. The Company also offers
education allowance as incentive for employees to take
professional examinations.

We adopt a five-day work per week and encourage
our employees to have a good balance among health
work and social or family activities. Also we encourage
communication between employees and their
supervisors or the management of the Company. Based
on their requests and job performances, we provide
flexible career options to them to foster a better
personal development.
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B3.

B4.

Development and training (continued)
As at 31 March 2024, the average training hours for all
employees was 20 hours (2023: 20).

Labour Standards

The Company is in compliance with Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance, Regulations on Labour Security
Supervision and other applicable laws as the Group
sets a high standard in protecting employees. Relevant
guidelines are set out in employment contracts, internal
notices and other forms of documents.

The Company strictly prohibits any child labour or
forced labour, or any unfair treatment to our employees
and does not employ staff who are below 18 years of
age. The Company provides such rights and benefits
to its employees which are no less than those required
statutorily. No employee is paid less than the minimum
wage specified by the Minimum Wage Ordinance
(Chapter 608 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The Company'’s
contributions to the defined contribution retirement
scheme we operate under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme are made by each monthly contribution
day. During the Year, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with employment-related laws
and regulations that would have a significant impact on
the Group, including but not limited to the Employment
Ordinance (Cap. 570, the law of Hong Kong), Disability
Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 487, the law of Hong
Kong), Sex Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 480, the
law of Hong Kong), Minimum Wage Ordinance (Cap.
608, the law of Hong Kong), Employees’ Compensation
Ordinance (Cap. 282, the law of Hong Kong), Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance (Cap. 485, the law
of Hong Kong), the Labour law of the People’s Republic
of China, the Production Safety Law of the People’s
Republic of China and Prevention and the Control of
Occupational Diseases of the People’s Republic of
China.

We closely monitor our workplace conditions and
employees’ behaviour. In any case of misconduct, we
will launch detailed investigations over the matters and
improve our preventive measures.
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B.

50

SOCIAL (continued)

B7.

Anti-Corruption

The Company is committed to adhering to the highest
ethical standards and maintaining a culture of integrity
and justice for preventing, detecting and reporting all
types of fraud, including corruption.

The Company seeks to encourage strict policies that
prohibit bribery and other improper payments to
public officials consistent with the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance (Chapter 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and
similar laws in other countries in which the Company
operates and invests.

All staff members are to comply with provisions laid
down in the Staff Handbook, "Anti-bribery, Bribe
taking, Bribe-providing, and Conlflict of Interest”. The
Staff Handbook stipulates that if an employee breaks
the Company’s policy or any Hong Kong laws and
regulations, the Company has the right to terminate
the employment contract. In addition to an open-door
policy towards employees’ grievances, as staff members
are also important stakeholders, as mentioned in the
stakeholders’ feedback section they are regularly
engaged by the Company in meetings and team
activities, etc., to provide them with guidance and
feedback to their work, and these also provide them
with ample opportunity to voice their complaints and
whistle-blow in a constructive manner.

Among the legal cases brought against the issuer or its
employees, there was no legal case regarding corrupt
practices during the reporting period during the year.

The Risk Management Committee was set up to
regularly evaluate and determine the nature and extent
of risks to the Company. Interest of shareholders and
stakeholders can hence be further protected.

Since the Board has recognized the importance of
corporate governance practice, it strictly complies
with the Code of Corporate Governance practices as
set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. Hence
anti-corruption policy is adopted and all directors and
employees are required to sign the Code of Conduct
of the Company. Furthermore, the Company regularly
updates and informs employees which securities are
forbidden to purchase due to conflict of interests.

Annual Report F ¥ 2024
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B.

SOCIAL (continued)

B8. Community Investment

As a socially responsible company, the Group is
committed to understanding the needs of the
communities in which we operate. We encourage
our employees to pursue their personal passions
and dedicate their time and skills to supporting
local communities. We strive to develop long-term
relationships with our stakeholders and bring a positive
impact on community development.

SOUND GOVERNANCE

To satisfy the expectation of shareholders, regulators and
others, the Company clearly promotes sound governance,
emphasizes on strong leadership and well management
that properly incentive appropriate behaviours. The senior
management of the Company is responsible for developing
company’s strategic direction and overseeing execution,
while the Board of Directors are in-charge of oversight of
management's performance.

The annual report contains detailed information about the
members of the Board, including the Director biographical
information and the Board’s role in risk management
oversight.

Independence of Board of Directors

Board independence is essential to effective governance. An
independent Board serves the interests of shareholders by
effectively carrying out its fundamental obligation of oversight
of management. Four of the Company’s twelve Board
members and each of the members of Audit Committee are
independent directors, and the majority of the Nomination
Committee and Remuneration Committee are independent
director, under the standards established by the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange and the Company’s independence standards.

For more information, please refer to the part of corporate

governance in the annual report.
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RIE #HERERHRE

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE B - 4 gRERRERS
REPORTING INDEX
Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key Performance Section Pages
Indicators (KPls)
TEEHR  EH —REENBREXRER =4} BER
A. Environmental
A RER
A1: Emissions
Al B
General Disclosure Emission and Resources 42
Consumption
— R E BER) B B TROE 7
KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions 43-44
data
R ERIERAL PRt 2R N AR B B I BUR
KPI A1.2 Direct and energy indirect greenhouse gas Emission and Resources 43-44
emissions and, where appropriate, intensity. Consumption
BEREARIEEAL2 BEEkERAEAEREBAENER (WER) R RERER
BE -
KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced and, where Not applicable to the N/A
appropriate, intensity. Group's business.
BRENEEAI MELEEEEDHEEN (WER) BE - TERRAEBER - THEA
KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and, where ~ Not applicable to the N/A
appropriate, intensity. Group's business.
EREZIEREAL MELEZEEDREEN (WER) BE - TERARAEEER - TEH
KPI A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps ESG-related goals and 42,44
taken to achieve them. target progress review,
Use of Resources
EREREEREAS RAMATYOSEREERERREINELEEN RE  HERER/EH
RENEY B - BEREREERS -
BIRE
KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous ~ ESG-related goals and 42,44

wastes are handled, and a description of reduction
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
MR EREREZTERZYMNTG L » Ml
RIVHRERERER REIELBERMRMNS

FAEENIEIEALSL
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE BiE - d2REARBFERS ()
REPORTING INDEX (continued)

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key Performance Section Pages
Indicators (KPls)
TEEHE  EH —-REERBRENEER =40 =P/

A2: Use of Resources

A2 BRER
General Disclosure Use of Resources 44
— R BRER
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by Emission and Resources 43-44
type in total and intensity. Consumption, Use of
Resources
B8 ERIERA2.1 REAESNEER S HEERERERT FHRURERER &
B o R fE
KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity. Not feasible for the N/A

Group to obtain water
consumption data.

BMRENIEEA22 BHEKERETE - BEEREKEHBEREAE T
Eims NAfT e

it
R

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set ESG-related goals and 42, 44-45
and steps taken to achieve them. target progress review,
Use of Resources
BREMERA23 AT NEREARZERLIREINEE R -  HEREREH
EREITEZ: N BREREREEEDS
EIRE R
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in No issue on sourcing water N/A
sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water fir for purpose, since
efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve water consumption is
them. not material for the
Group's business.
BREAERIEEA24 MACSKEBGEA KR EAT BEMBRE - URFA  KEBERKRETER TEA
VAR R AEINELREMER & REALAKEAN
B - SEXBMELITE
K oo
KPI A2.5 Total packaging materials used for finished Not applicable to the N/A
products and, if applicable, with reference to per Group's business.

unit produced.
BREREEREA25 U mABEEMENRER (WER) 84 TERARAEEEK - T
EBMLEE -

[
I
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE RiB

REPORTING INDEX (continued)

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key Performance

Indicators (KPls)

TEER  BEH  —REBERERERER

Section

B

C HERERBRERS (@)

Pages

'R

A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

A3 BERARER

General Disclosure

— B
KPI A3.1
B AR MIE R A3

A4: Climate Change
A4 RIRE L

General Disclosure
— R R

KPI A4.1

B EMIEZEALT
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Description of the significant impacts of activities
on the environment and natural resources and the
actions taken to manage them.

WX EDHRERRAERNEATE
EXREEABTENTY -

Description of the significant climate-related
issues which have impacted, and those which

may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to
manage them.
WEERRAREEHBETAELEZENEAR
RAEBEEE - REHTH -

The Environment and
Natural Resources

RIENERARER

No significant impact
of activities on the

environment and natural
resources was noted.

I f B IR SE SR B IR
BERRXABRELS

By 488
A E -

Climate Change

= [ gy

RIRE

Climate Change

45

N/A

4546
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE BE - 4 gRERBERS @)
REPORTING INDEX (continued)
Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key Performance Section Pages
Indicators (KPls)
TEEHE  EH —-REERBRENEER =40 =P/
B. Social
B.#&
Employment and Labour Practices
BREREZEIER
B1: Employment
B1: &R
General Disclosure Employment 46
—RIKE &%
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age  Employment 47
group and geographical region.
B8 ERIEEB RER - BEEEL  FRANERWES SN ER
EEHRE -
KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and Employment 47
geographical region.
R ERIEEB.2 mIER - FiREAMNEMEESHNEEREAL (ERE
& o
B2: Health and safety
B2 EHEZE
General Disclosure Health and Safety 48
— AR B 5R RBEEZE
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities Health and Safety 48
occurred in each of the past three years including
the reporting year.
B B MIE B2 BE=F (BHEERFE) BFAITHNHA REEZSD
HRE -
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety 48
ME&ENIEEB22 ATHEERTIERE - fEERTE
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety Health and Safety 48
measures adopted, how they are implemented
and monitored.
R ERIEEB23 BRI RRERLZ2ER - URiE RBEEZRE

BMITRERTE -
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

REPORTING INDEX (continued)

BE -

HERERRERS (@)

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key Performance Section Pages

Indicators (KPls)

TERHE  BEH - —REERBRERER 4] EED/N

B3: Development and Training

B3 : R R

General Disclosure Development and Training 49

— R TR MIE

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender ~ Data on employee N/A
and employee category. demographics was not

available
B EMIEEB3N BERREERMNEDHXIEER DL - BLXEBEEAOGH TEA
27&

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per Development and Training 49
employee by gender and employee category.

R AENIEEB3.2 BERKREERMNE D  BREETAXI  BHREIEFI
MR o

B4: Labour Standards

B4 : 5T %A

General Disclosure Labour Standards 49

— MR E L4 T AR

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment Labour Standards 49
practices to avoid child and forced labour.

B R AN IEEBA s BEEMNERAEREE T REHIE & ITER
T o

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such Labour Standards 49
practices when discovered.

B RENIERBL2 R EERERBRNKHERABBEB KRR 8 TR
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

REPORTING INDEX (continued)

BE -

HERERRERS (@)

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key Performance Section Pages
Indicators (KPls)
TEEHR  EH —REERBEREREER =4} EED/N
Operating Practices
EEEN
B5: Supply Chain Management
B5 : HESEERE
General Disclosure Not identified as material ~ N/A
aspect.
—RKE THREEREAZE - THEA
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Not identified as material ~ N/A
aspect.
B 8 4 AIEEB5.1 mriWES DM HEFREE - TEEER/REAZE - TER
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging Not identified as material ~ N/A
suppliers, number of suppliers where the aspect.
practices are being implemented, how they are
implemented and monitored.
B8 & RIEEB5.2 HMAFERERHERNED  MERTEHE ITHETE/EAZE - TER
BOHIOHEREE - URBEBABANRITR
ERE -
B6: Product Responsibility
B6 : EmEE
General Disclosure Not identified as material ~ N/A
aspect.
— R E TREEREAZE - THEA
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped Not identified as material ~ N/A
subject to recalls for safety and health reasons. aspect.
B 8 & BB EB6.1 EEXRCEZXERAHPRLR2HERIPAMN THEERELEE - TER
ARKBED L -
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related Not identified as material ~ N/A
complaints received and how they are dealt with. aspect.
BRENIEEBSL.2 EEMNEREBRBORFHREUAREETTE - TREEREAZE - THEA
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

REPORTING INDEX (continued)

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key Performance

Indicators (KPls)

TEER  BEH  —REBERERERER

Section

B

C HERERBRERS (@)

Pages

'R

KPI B6.3
B R EMIEEB6.3
KPI B6.4

BRENIEEBS

KPI B6.5

B & WIS EB6.5

B7: Anti-corruption
B7 : RES
General Disclosure

—RKE

KPI B7.1

B & W EB7.1

KPI B7.2

B R A& NMIERBT.2

KP17.3

BREMERTS
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Description of practices relating to observing and
protecting intellectual property rights.
Wt EREENRENZERRBENED -

Description of quality assurance process and recall

procedures.

il EERTREREMBKERF -

Description of consumer data protection and
privacy policies, how they are implemented and

monitored.

Wi EBEEEHRERLEBERE - ARIEH

WITRERTE -

Number of concluded legal cases regarding
corrupt practices brought against the Company or
its employees during the reporting period and the

outcome of the case.

RBEEHAHARAKERBERBICELEN
BESAHARTFHEE RFRER -

Description of preventive measures and
whistleblowing procedures, how they are
implemented and monitored.

R BEREBREF - ARBEBERTR

ERTE -

Description of anti-corruption training provided to

directors and staff.

WimESFERETRENRESE -

Not identified as material
aspect.

THREEBEKRER °

Not identified as material
aspect.

TREERERNHE o

Not identified as material
aspect.

THREERERNZAE o

Anti-corruption
R&R

Anti-corruption

R&ES

Anti-corruption

R&ES

Development and
Training; Anti-
corruption

HREEI  RES

N/A

N iEH

N/A

-
e
3

N/A
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE RiE -

REPORTING INDEX (continued)

HERERRERS (@)

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key Performance Section Pages
Indicators (KPls)
TEEHR  EH —REERBEREREER =4} EED/N
Community
#HE
B8: Community Investment
B8 : HERE
General Disclosure Community Investment 51
—REE HEKRE
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, Community Investment 51
environmental concerns, labour needs, health,
culture, sport)
B 8 & I B8 EIEREE (WHE  REFH  HIF HRKRE
koo RBE - XE - BE)
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the ~ Community Investment 51
focus area.
B 8 A RIEEB8.2 EEIHBABDAER (M EHEFHE) - HRIRE
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The Board recognises the importance of corporate governance
practice of a listed company and is committed to adopting the
standards of corporate governance. The board is responsible for
performing the corporate governance duties. It is in the interest
of the shareholders and stakeholders for a listed company to
operate in a transparent manner with the adoptions of various self-
regulatory policies, procedures and monitoring mechanisms with a
clear definition of accountability of directors and management. The
Company and the Directors confirm, to the best of their knowledge,
that the Company has complied with the Corporate Governance
Code (the "CG Code") as set out in C3 to the Listing Rules during
the year ended 31 March 2024, except for the following deviations:

(i) The code provision C.1.6 of the CG Code requires that the
independent non-executive directors and other non-executive
directors, as equal board members, should attend general
meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the views
of shareholders. Some directors were unable to attend the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 30 August
2023 due to other important engagement.

(i)  The code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code requires that the
roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. The division
of responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive
should be clearly established and set out in writing.

Since Ms. Lin Yudan resigned as the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company on 12 July 2021, nobody has been
appointed. The executive Board which includes all executive
directors, investment manager and senior management
have been delegated with the authority and responsibility by
the Board for the day-to-day operations of the Group while
reserving certain key matters for the approval by the Board.
After evaluation of the current situation of the Company
and considering of the board composition, the Board is of
the opinion that it is appropriate and in the best interests
of the Company at the present stage for such arrangement
as it helps to maintain the continuity of the policies and the
stability of the operations of the Company.

60 Annual Report £ 5} 2024
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(i)  The code provision F.2.2 of the CG Code requires that the
chairman of the board should attend the annual general
meeting. The chairman of the board should also invite the
chairmen of the audit, remuneration, nomination and any
other committees (as appropriate) to attend. In their absence,
the chairman should invite another member of the committee
or failing this their duly appointed delegate, to attend. These
persons should be available to answer questions at the annual
general meeting. Some of the committee chairmen were
unable to attend the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 30 August 2023 due to other important engagement.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

The Board comprises two executive Directors, namely, Mr. Chan
Cheong Yee and Mr. Chan Yiu Pun Clement; six non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Han Zhenghai (Joint Chairman of the Board),
Mr. Deng Dongping (Joint Chairman of the Board), Mr. Zhu Zhikun
(Deputy Chairman of the Board), Mr. Ge Zhifu (Deputy Chairman of
the Board), Mr. Lyu Ping and Ms. Mo Xiuping; and four independent
non-executive Directors, namely, Ms. Mo Li, Mr. Shi Zhu, Ms. Chen
Shunging and Mr. Ding Jiasheng.

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company, is collectively responsible for promoting its success
by directing and supervising its affairs and oversees the Group's
businesses, investment and strategic decisions and performance.
Directors take decisions objectively in the best interests of
the Company. The executive Board, investment manager and
senior management have been delegated with the authority
and responsibility by the Board for the day-to-day operations of
the Group while reserving certain key matters for the approval
by the Board. In addition, the Board has also delegated various
responsibilities to the Board committees. Further details of these
Board committees are set out in this Corporate Governance Report.

The Board members have no financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationships with each other. Such balanced
board composition is formed to ensure strong independence exists
across the Board. The biographical information of the existing
Directors is set out on pages 11 to 17 under the section headed
"Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management”.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Composition (continued)

Newly appointed directors of the Company would receive a
comprehensive and formal induction on appointment. Subsequently
they would receive briefing and professional development
necessary to ensure that they have a proper understanding of the
Company'’s operations and business and are fully aware of their
responsibilities under statute and common law, the Exchange
Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory requirements and the
issuer’s business and governance policies.

Chairman

The Chairman of the Company takes the lead in formulating
overall strategies and policies of the Group; ensures the effective
performance by the Board of its functions, including compliance
with good corporate governance practices and encourages and
facilitates active contribution of Directors in Board activities. The
Chairmen also ensures that all Directors are properly briefed on
issues arising at Board meetings and have received adequate,
complete and reliable information in a timely manner with the
assistance of the company secretary.

The respective roles and responsibilities of Mr. Han Zhenghai and
Mr. Deng Dongping as Joint Chairman of the Company (“Joint
Chairman”) under the memorandum of continuance and bye-laws
of the Company (the “Bye-laws”) and the Listing Rules (including
the Corporate Governance Code). Bye-law 95 of the Bye-laws
stipulates for the chairman of the Company to preside as the
chairman at every general meeting of the Company. Paragraph
C.2 of the Corporate Governance Code sets out certain roles and
responsibilities of the chairman of the Company with respect to the
Company's corporate governance matters.

Executive Directors

The executive Directors are responsible for running the Group
and executing the strategies adopted by the Board. They lead the
Group’s management team in accordance with the directions set
by the Board and are responsible for ensuring that proper internal
control system is in place and the Group's business conforms to
applicable laws and regulations.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Non-executive Directors and Independent Non-executive
Directors

The non-executive Directors and the independent non-executive
Directors serve the important function of ensuring and monitoring
the basis for an effective corporate governance framework. Their
participations provide adequate checks and balances to safeguard
the interests of the Group and its shareholders. The Board consists
of four independent non-executive Directors and each of them has
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise. All independent non-executive
Directors are financially independent from the Company. The
Company confirmed with all independent non-executive Directors
as to their independence with reference to the factors as set out in
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

As one of the main pillars of good corporate governance, boards
are expected to have a suitable number of non-executive directors
("NEDs") including independent non-executive directors, and with
the right skills. The term of appointment of NED includes:

(i) The process by which any new director, including a NED, can
be appointed will be governed by the Company's articles
of association. The board may be able to appoint a NED,
this need shareholder approval at the next annual general
meeting.

(i) The letter of appointment confirms the initial term of the
NED’s appointment, considering that the articles require
directors to retire by rotation and stand for re-election. The
letter also makes it clear that either the company or the NED
may terminate the appointment early by giving the other
party one (1) month notice in advance or payment of one (1)
month’s remuneration in lieu of such notice.

(i) A NED is subject to the same general legal duties as an
executive director.

(iv)  Conflicts provisions in the appointment letter was balanced
carefully with the company's articles. The NED is required to
be absented from board discussions which present, or may
present, a conflict of interest. Alternatively, the NED can
attend the meeting and only be prevented from voting.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Board Meetings

The attendance of each Director at Board meetings during the year & & —

ended 31 March 2024 was as follows:

BE=g ()
Exged

—E_NWNF=A=+—RHILFE -

5=

EREFEEZ 2LFELENT ¢

Number of meetings

attended/held
Name of Director BEsps HE/BTERYE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee BRERLE 11/15
Mr. Chan Yiu Pun Clement BRIBH 5 £ 15/15
Non-executive Directors kBTES
Han Zhenghai (Chairman of the Board and re-designated =~ BIEBEE (EFSLEUIR-F-HF—H 10/15
as Joint Chairman on 22 January 2024) —f= Hﬁ/f;%if*ﬁf/%‘)
Mr. Deng Dongping (appointed as Deputy Chairman of the BRFE4&E (R -F-=ZF+=-F+—HE 15/15
Board on 11 December 2023 and as Joint Chairman on EHREZESHLTREIR - FE-HFE—F
22 January 2024) =f= Hié‘*ffﬁ G
Mr. Liu Lihan (resigned on 6 October 2023) BN ELRE (R-F-=F+ A NHEH) 8/8
Mr. Zhu Zhikun (appointed as Deputy Chairman of the KABEE (R=F-=F+-A+—HEZ 5/15
Board on 11 December 2023) FREZEE ﬂff )
Mr. Ge Zhifu (appointed on é October 2023 and as Deputy %?D!ﬁﬁ'ﬁi (R-ZB-=F+ A AEZfFT 3/7
Chairman of the Board on 11 December 2023) R-IE-=ZF+-A+—HEZITAREE
EEZEE)
Mr. Lyu Ping aEEE 12/15
Ms. Mo Xiuping (re-designated on 19 April 2023) EERRT(R=ZFZ=FHA+HHFF) 7/14
Independent non-Executive Directors BUFHTES
Ms. Mo Li Rkt 7/15
Mr. Shi Zhu AL 10/15
Ms. Chen Shunging BRIES 2 + 12/15
Mr. Ding Jiasheng (appointed on 26 September 2023) TEEEE (RZE-=ZFAA=F"H# 4/8
ZF)
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

As part of an ongoing process of directors’ training, the company
secretary continuously updates all Directors on latest developments
regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements to ensure compliance of the same by all Directors.
All Directors are encouraged to attend external forum or training
courses on relevant topics which may count towards continuous
professional development training.

Pursuant to Code C.1.4 of the “Corporate Governance Code”,
Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
This is to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant. For the period from 1 April 2023 to 31
March 2024, all Directors participated in appropriate continuous
professional development activities either by attending training
courses or by reading materials relevant to the Company'’s business
or to the Directors’ duties and responsibilities.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary Mr. Wong Shiu Wah Williamson is a service
provider. He fulfill the requirement under rules 3.28 and 3.29 of
the Listing Rules. The company secretary report to the Chairman
and support the Board, ensure good information flow within the
Board and Board policy and procedures are followed; advise the
Board on governance matters, facilitate induction and, monitor the
training and continuous professional development of Directors. He
has attained not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
during the review period.

INSURANCE

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance, with
coverage being reviewed annually, to indemnify the Directors and
officers from their risk exposure arising from corporate activities.

SUPPLY OF AND ACCESS TO INFORMATION

In respect of regular board meetings, an agenda and accompanying
board papers of the meeting are sent in full to all directors in
advance before the intended date of a meeting. The management
has the obligation to supply the Board and the various Board
committees with adequate information in a timely manner to
enable the members to make informed decisions. Each Director
has separate and independent access to the Group's senior
management to acquire more information than is volunteered by
management and to make further enquiries if necessary.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Ms. Mo Li, Mr. Shi Zhu and Ms. Chen Shunging,
and is chaired by Ms. Chen Shunging. The Audit Committee meets
at least twice a year. The Audit Committee is mainly responsible
for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting system and
internal control procedures; making recommendations to the
Board in the appointment and removal of the external auditors
and to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditors; and any questions of resignation or dismissal of
such auditors; and reviewing the interim and annual reports and
the financial statements of the Group. The terms of reference are
available on the Company’s website.

The attendance of each member at Audit Committee meetings
during the year ended 31 March 2024 was as follows:

EREEE
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Number of meetings

attended/held
Name of Directors Exns HE/SBTeEHs
Ms. Chen Shunging (Chairlady) BRIEE &+ (£/) 2/3
Ms. Mo Li BERt 3/3
Mr. Shi Zhu AERE 3/3
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee consists of one non-executive
Director and three independent non-executive Directors, namely,
Mr. Han Zhenghai, Ms. Mo Li, Mr. Shi Zhu and Ms. Chen Shunging,
and is chaired by Ms. Mo Li. The Remuneration Committee is
mainly responsible for making recommendations to the Board
on the Company’s remuneration policy for Directors and senior
management, and overseeing the remuneration packages of
the executive Directors and senior management. The terms of
reference are available on the Company’s website.

The Remuneration Committee has considered and approved
the Group's policy for the remuneration of Directors and senior
management. The Remuneration Committee has assessed the
performance of the executive Directors and considered the
remuneration package of executive Directors by reference to the
prevailing packages with companies listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange. Details of the Directors’ remuneration are
disclosed on an individual basis in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements. The Group adopts a competitive remuneration
package for its employees. Promotion and salary increments are
assessed based on a performance related basis.

The attendance of each member at Remuneration Committee
meetings during the year ended 31 March 2024 was as follows:
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Number of meetings

attended/held
Name of Directors EEpR HE/BTEEYA
Ms. Mo Li (Chairladly) BRiz+(FE) 11
Mr. Han Zhenghai BIEEEAE 11
Mr. Shi Zhu Ak E 1/1
Ms. Chen Shunging BRIEE 2+ 0/1
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee consists of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Ms. Mo Li, Mr. Shi Zhu and Ms. Chen
Shunging as well as the Joint Chairman of the Board and non-
executive Director Mr. Han Zhenghai, and is chaired by Mr. Han
Zhenghai. The primary function of the Nomination Committee is
to review the structure, size and composition of the Board annually
and make recommendations on any proposed changes to the
Board to complement the Group's corporate strategy. The terms of
reference are available on the Company’s website.

The attendance of each member at Nomination Committee
meetings during the year ended 31 March 2024 was as follows:

REEESE

RAZBEEA-BBIUFATES (BRFARL
AEEERRIBEL L) ARESEHFETE
RIFAMTEFBEBLLEEN - YHEILEE
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EHFERELE

Number of meetings

attended/held
Name of Directors EEns HE/BTEEEE
Mr. Han Zhenghai (Chairman) BIEELE(FE) 3/4
Ms. Mo Li RH&+ 3/4
Mr. Shi Zhu AEEE 4/4
Ms. Chen Shunging BRIEE 2+ 3/4
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DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

The Company endeavours to ensure that the Board has the
appropriate balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives that are required to support the execution of its
business strategy and in order for the Board to be effective.

The Nomination Committee shall consider, among others, the
following criteria in evaluating and selecting candidates for
directorships:

o Character and integrity;

o Personal attributes including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge, experience and expertise that are relevant to the
Company'’s business and corporate strategy, and the ability
to provide insights and practical wisdom based on those
attributes;

o Willingness to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a
Board member, other directorships, memberships of various
committees and significant commitments;

o For independent non-executive directors to be appointed in
accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the candidates
would be considered independent with reference to the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;

J Ability to develop a good working relationship with other
Board members and contribute to the Board’s working
relationship with senior management of the Company;

o Board Diversity Policy and any measurable objectives
adopted by the Committee for achieving diversity on the
Board; and

o Any other perspectives appropriate to the Company's
business.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company aims to build and maintain a Board with a diversity
of Directors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, or professional experience.

A truly diverse Board will include and make good use of differences
in the skills, regional and industry experience, background, race,
gender and other qualities of Directors. These differences will be
taken into account in determining the optimum composition of the
Board. All Board appointments will be based on merit while taking
into account diversity (including gender diversity).

The Nomination Committee will discuss and agree annually
measurable objectives for implementing diversity on the Board
and recommend them to the Board for adoption. The Nomination
Committee will report annually, in the corporate governance report,
on the Board’s composition under diversified perspectives, and
monitor the implementation of this policy.

The following tables further illustrate the diversity of the Board
members as of the date of this annual report:

EEERESTLBER
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Gender Age Group Area
% Bl F iR E i
China
Male  Female 20to 50 50to 70 HKSAR Mainland
EB%H
Name of Director EEHR El3 ZM 20E50%50F705 THE FEAM
Chan Cheong Yee bR E & v/ v/ v
Chan Yiu Pun Clement PR 12 2 v v v
Han Zhenghai (Joint Chairman) $81E/8 (B /@ £ /&) v v/ v
Deng Dongping (Joint Chairman) 88 R ¥ (B /& £ /&) 4 v v
Zhu Zhikun (Deputy Chairman) 3648 (8% /&) 4 4 v
Ge Zhifu (Deputy Chairman) BEXE (FE/E) 4 v v
Lyu Ping B ¥ v v v
Mo Xiuping REF 4 4 v
Ding Jiasheng TESE v v v
Mo Li B A v v v
Shi Zhu At 4 v v
Chen Shunging bR IE B v v 4
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RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE Jﬁﬁﬁ‘“ﬂiééﬁ

The Risk Management Committee consists of the executive Director B R BEEZEEHATEETMEREER =
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee and three independent non-executive HBBIYFRTES (EF LT - AFEEER
Directors, namely, Ms. Mo Li, Mr. Shi Zhu and Ms. Chen Shunging, FRIB)EZ ) AKX @+ WHRE R L EEEE
and is chaired by Mr. Chan Cheong Yee. The primary function of & - RREEZESEERE AR ~ BT -
the Risk Management Committee is to review, monitor, manage EIEKIEHIRBIKE A aT NERRRE
and control the existing investments, developing and reviewingthe EHE LK EZRREEMNEREE

risk management policy and monitoring the effective running of the

risk management.

The attendance of each member at Risk Management Committee #HEZZT_HWHF=A=+—HLEFE = K
meetings during the year ended 31 March 2024 was as follows: BEHFRAREBZEEERCHOT :
Number of meetings
attended/held
Name of Directors EEng HERITEEEA
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee (Chairman) MERLTE(EE) 0/1
Ms. Mo Li BHZ+t 1/1
Mr. Shi Zhu AEEE 1/1
Ms. Chen Shunging PR IE)E 22 £ 0/1
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for each financial period
and to ensure that the consolidated financial statements are in
accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. The Board also ensures the timely publication of the
consolidated financial statements. The Directors, having made
appropriate enquiries, confirm that they are not aware of any
material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt upon the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern. The statements of the auditor of the Group regarding
their responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set
out in the Independent Auditor’'s Report on pages 77 to 84 of this
Annual Report.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT
The Board, recognising its overall responsibility in ensuring the
system of internal controls of the Group and for reviewing its
effectiveness, is committed to implementing an effective and sound
internal control system to safeguard the interests of shareholders
and the assets of the Group. Procedures have been designed
to safeguard assets against unauthorised use or disposition, to
ensure the sufficient allocation of resources and manpower and
the maintenance of proper accounting records for the provision of
reliable financial information for internal use or for publication, and
to ensure compliance with applicable law, rules and regulations.
The procedures provide a reasonable but not absolute assurance
and prevention of material untrue statements or losses, as well
as management on the interruption of the Group’s management
system and risks existing in the course of arriving at the Group's
objectives.

The management of the Group has conducted a review on the
Group's internal control and risk management system for the
year ended 31 March 2024 with no material weakness found. The
management will continue to improve and strengthen its control
in order to enhance the corporate governance and safeguard the
interest of its shareholders.

The Company conducted an annual review for the need of setting
up an internal audit department. Given the Company’s simple
operating structure, it was decided by the Board that the Board be
directly responsible for the internal control system of the Company
and for reviewing its effectiveness.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

The Company is committed to maintaining good corporate
governance, emphasizing accountability and high degree of
transparency which enable our stakeholder to have trust and faith
in the Company to take care of their needs and to fulfill its social
responsibility. The Company has devised a Whistleblowing Policy
(the "Policy”) so that employees of the Company as well as relevant
third parties (e.g. customers, suppliers, etc., who deal with the
Company (“Third Parties”)) can raise concerns, in confidence, about
misconduct, malpractice or irregularities in any matters related to
the Company The Company also ensures that proper arrangements
are in place for the fair and independent investigation of such
matters and for appropriate follow-up action.

Whistleblowing matters may include but are not confined to: (i)
Breach of legal or regulatory requirements; (ii) Criminal offenses,
breach of civil law and miscarriage of justice; (iii) Malpractice,
impropriety or fraud relating to internal controls, accounting,
auditing and financial matters; (iv) Violation of rules of conducts
applicable within the Company or those of the Group; (v) Bribery or
corruption; and/or (vi) Deliberate concealment of any of the above.

The Company will make every effort to keep all whistleblowing
reports and identities of employees and/or Third Parties who have
made reports confidential.

In addition, having discovered any suspicious behavior, employees
could report to the relevant business department, or the executive
directors or management of the Company. The Company provides
anonymous reporting channels in case of corruption or deception.

In general, the whistle-blower should made their reports to the
chairman of the board of directors ("Board”) of the Company in
writing by post in a sealed envelope clearly marked “To be opened
by addressee only” at

Chairman of the board of directors

Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited

Suite No.7, 17/F, Tower 1, China Hong Kong City, 33 Canton Road,
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong

A report may also be submitted to the chairman of the Board via
the following email address: chairman@chinainvestment.com.hk, or
directly to the chairman of the Audit Committee of the Company via
the following email address: whistleblower@chinainvestment.com.hk
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year, the remuneration paid and payable to the
Company'’s auditor, Fan, Chan & Co. Limited, for audit service of
the year ended 31 March 2024 is HK$540,000 and there is no non-
audit service provided during the year ended 31 March 2024.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set
out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the directors. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, the Company confirmed that all the
Directors have complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code throughout the year.

The Company also has established written guidelines on no less
exacting terms than the Model Code for securities transactions by
employees who are likely to be in possession of any unpublished
inside information of the Company or its securities.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHT

Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for
election as a director

Subject to the Bye-laws and applicable laws, rules and regulations,
the Company may in a general meeting by ordinary resolution elect
any person to be a director of the Company either to fill a casual
vacancy on the Board, or as an addition to the existing Board.

A shareholder who is entitled to attend and vote at the meeting
may propose a person (the “Candidate”) other than a Director of
the Company for election as a director at a general meeting by
lodging the following documents at the Company’s principal place
of business in Hong Kong (Suite No.7 17/F, Tower 1, China Hong
Kong City, 33 Canton Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong)
for the attention of the company secretary:

1. A written notice signed by the shareholder concerned which
is given of his/her intention to propose the Candidate for
election;

2. A written notice signed by the Candidate indicating his/
her willingness to be elected, together with the Candidate’s
biographical details as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing
Rules; and

3. The Candidate’s written consent to the publication of his/her
personal data.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHT (continued)

Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for
election as a director (continued)

The period for lodgment of the above documents shall have
given to the company secretary of the Company during a period
commencing no earlier than the day after the despatch of the
notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and
ending no later than 7 days prior to the date of such meeting.

Procedures for shareholders to convene a special general
meeting

Special general meetings shall be convened on the written
requisition of any two or more registered members of the Company
deposited at the registered office in Bermuda specifying the
objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided
that such requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company. General meetings may also be convened on the
written requisition of any one member of the Company which is
a recognised clearing house (or its nominee) deposited at the
principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the
Company ceases to have such a principal office, the registered
office specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the
requisitionist, provided that such requisitionist held as at the date
of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company which carries the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company. If the Board does not within
21 days from the date of deposit of the requisition proceed duly
to convene the meeting, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of
them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of
all of them, may convene the general meeting in the same manner
as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may be convened
by the Board provided that any meeting so convened shall not
be held after the expiration of three months from the date of
deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to them by the Company.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The annual general meetings provide a useful forum for
shareholders to exchange views with the Board. The chairman
of the Company as well as the chairman and members of various
Board committees are pleased to answer shareholders’ questions.
Separate resolutions are proposed at general meetings on each
substantially separate issue, including the election of individual
Directors. Details of poll voting procedures and the rights of
shareholders to demand a poll are included in the circular to
shareholders despatched together with the annual report. The
circular also includes relevant details of proposed resolutions,
including biographies of each candidates standing for re-election.
The results of the poll are published on the Company’s website,
http://www.00204.com.hk, and on the website of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, (http://www.hkex.com.hk).

INVESTOR RELATIONS

During the year under review, the Group has proactively
enhanced its corporate transparency and communications with
its shareholders and the investment community through the
announcement of its mandatory interim and final reports. Through
the timely distribution of other announcements, the Group has also
kept the public abreast of its latest developments.
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SLIR G 3t ERAT A R 3]
Fan, Chan & Co. Limited

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CAPITAL REALM
FINANCIAL HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED (FORMERLY
KNOWN AS CHINA INVESTMENT DEVELOPMENT
LIMITED)

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda
with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Capital
Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited (formerly known as
“China Investment Development Limited”) (the "Company”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out
on pages 85 to 179, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2024, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, comprising material accounting
policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
“Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Key audit matter
HREXREER
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMERUNMNEEEARERSHE

Fair value measurement of unlisted financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss ("FVTPL") and
unlisted financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):
BEAVTEFACEZREMNELTYBEERZAF
Bt AEEME2ARNEEENELTHBEENAF
BFft & :

We identified the fair value measurement of unlisted
financial assets at FVTPL and FVTOCI as a key audit
matter due to the inherent level of complex and
subjective judgements required and estimation e
uncertainty involved in determining their fair values.
HAEBEAFEFAERaRE MR AFEFALE
H2HmBaERENIFLTHBEENAFEITERS o
FREZER  RARBEAFEMRMSIRAENER
BEANRMFOHTEHE MG TIBEKE -
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Our procedures in relation to the valuation of unlisted
financial assets at FVTPL and unlisted financial assets
at FVTOCI included:
BAHRAFEFAEEERENFLTMBEE
MEAFEFAEEMSEWESRENIE LT B
BENGHEETHERFEHE

Evaluating the competence, capabilities, and
objectivity of the valuer and obtaining an
understanding of the valuer’s scope of work and
their terms of engagement;

AL R EMEERE RO REFEM TR
HERE TESHE R TGN

Evaluating the appropriateness of the valuer’s
valuation approaches to assess if they meet the
requirements of the HKFRSs and industry norms;
AHEREMZAESARTEE @ AlHHE
BRNEBTEMBREEINRITEBOHNRE
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KEY AUDIT MATTER (continued)

Key audit matter
HREREE

HAREREBEREE ()

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMELNMEERRERS R

The Group's unlisted equity securities classified as FVTPL
and unlisted equity securities classified as FVOTCI are
stated at their fair values of approximately HK$158
million and HK$37 million, respectively at 31 March
2024, with a fair value loss on FVTPL and fair value loss
on FVTOCI of approximately HK$25 million and HK$12
million respectively, recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income for the year then ended as disclosed in note 19(c)
and note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.
The fair values were assessed by the management based
on valuations performed by an independent valuer
engaged by the Group.

EEERDPEREBEATES A EEREENIELTR
REHFLDBERBRAFEFAEEMEE WS EIERN
FETRABFN _ZT_NF=A=T—HRHEA
FELNIBEEBTRIIAEETIEER - BEZBILF
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AAEEMEPERSEEENRATEEESNN2BEE
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mERER B RE RGBT EE TR EET
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Challenging the reasonableness of the
key assumptions and inputs adopted and
appropriateness of valuation models applied
based on available market data and our
knowledge of the investees and their industry
and whether the assumptions, inputs and
methodologies are consistent with those used in
prior year;
REMSMEHREREAHRELRRETE
MR REARANTIERKXLBABIEN
AEELMERAGEELNESZE - AREH
BR  BWABBERSTEZRCEBEFEMAE
ERSHEE

Reviewing supporting documentation and
evidence for the significant judgements and
estimates of the valuations and the key inputs
used in the valuations; and
EHEENERHGREFARGERAEZE
BABBOXFHXHRERE &

Checking the mathematical accuracy of the
valuation.

mEMEZAEEREE -
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KEY AUDIT MATTER (continued)

Key audit matter
HREXREE

HRELER (&)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMERUNMNEEEARERSE

Impairment assessment of financial assets at amortised
cost:

RBHEKASHEZMBEEREBENG -

We identified impairment assessment of financial assets as
a key audit matter because the Group has other receivables
and deposits paid and promissory notes with the net
carrying amounts of approximately HK$123 million and
HK$83 million, respectively, as at 31 March 2024 which
accounted for 24% and 16% of the Group's total assets
respectively.
BPHBNMBEEEREFLEABAREREE  RA
2 BEEER-_Z_HF=A=+—HBHEMEKE E&
ENRERAREZEBEREFEI NN /IZBEEETR
BEEATL - BEREBREEDH24%K16% -

The assessment of impairment of financial assets at
amortised cost under the expected credit loss model ("ECL")
is considered to be a key audit matter as it requires the
application of judgement to reflect information about past
events, current conditions and forecasts of future conditions,
and use of subjective assumptions by the management.
EHEEEREATREBEHFEKAFEZCHBEERE
FEERAEREZFE  REASHEFTREEERERER
HERRBREBEBESMH - BRI K ARKARIER
MEHUALRERETHERR -

The ECL was assessed by the management with reference
to valuations performed by an independent valuer engaged
by the Group and other information of the assets.
BEHMEEREAMEEES2E ESEZRENBIGER
ETHEEREENEMERETHMG -
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Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment
of financial assets at amortised cost included:
BMHREEK AT EZLH B EERBENHETH
BrFeiE:

J Understanding the key controls on how the
impairment assessment of financial assets at
amortised cost is estimated by the management;
THREEBNMMMAZBEENAHAEZYBE
BB E AT 4 RO BE B2 4% I

o Reviewing and assessing the application of the
Group's policy for calculating ECLs to consider
consistency of application;

ER kL ESEEAEENEERBEREN
JERAEERA —3E

o Evaluating the independence, objectivity,
competence and capabilities of the valuer;

AP EMEELYE - BEE - R

o Evaluating the techniques and methodologies
in the ECLs model against the requirements of
HKFRS 9;
TEBRBEEEVNBREENFEIRRTNED
EEEBEERA MR R AE

o Assessing the reasonableness of the basis and
judgement of the management in determining
credit loss allowance on financial assets at
amortised cost;

TR EETHRBERANABECMBEEE
MEREBEBRBECEERABNA RN

o Testing the key data sources applied in the ECLs
computation on a sample basis by checking to the
supporting information and external data sources,
as applicable; and
FRMEXIHENRINBEERIR (WMER) -
mEAHEREEERFETERN T ZEE
R R

o Checking the mathematical accuracy of the ECLs.
WEBEMEEBR T EERMLE -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms
of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

J Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited ® & 7N R & 2 &£ [# 5 [R A &)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BYZBEHRESE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued))

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,

among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit

and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies

in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement

that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding

independence, and to communicate with them all relationships

and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our

independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate

threats or safeguards applied.
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Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited ® & 7S 2 & 2 £ [& 5 [R 2 &)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BYZBMBES

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued))

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Fan, Chan & Co. Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Leung Kwong Kin

Practising Certificate Number P03702

Hong Kong, 28 June 2024
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Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited ® & 7N R & 2 &£ [# 5 [R A &)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GneERmakEtEZERSER

Forthe yearended 31 March2024 B ZE — T —_MF=A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—E-_NE —E-=%F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B & THERT FET
Revenue Yz 7 — —
Other income Hipdg A 7 8,082 10,331
Net (losses)/gains on financial assets BRAFEFAEERERE
at fair value through profit or loss MkEE (BB WaEFE (787) 2,518
Impairment losses under the expected HHEEEEEX TRERE
credit loss model, net of reversal Mk AL 8 (1,619) (6,687)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE B LR e 28 344 —
Administrative and other expenses TEREEMFES (32,482) (26,132)
Finance costs IR 9 (2,265) (2,832)
Loss before income tax expense AT R A AIEE 10 (28,727) (22,802)
Income tax expense PSR 11 = —
Loss for the year attributable to owners of AR AHEE ABEAFEEE
the Company (28,727) (22,802)
Other comprehensive (expense)/income ~ H#t 2 (BA%) /%
ltem that will not be reclassified to profit or T2 EH N EEEZ AR ¢
loss:
— Change in fair value of financial —BATEAEEGZE
assets at fair value through other WREEBHBEEL
comprehensive income NEEZE (11,798) (9,166)
ltems that may be reclassified subsequently & A EHHEEET 2
to profit or loss: BE
— Exchange differences on translation — BEFREER RN EREESE
of financial statements of PRC ZIEHZ5
subsidiaries (1,553) (2,189)
— Release of reserves upon disposal of — & KB A 7] b 12 A 1
subsidiaries — 90
Other comprehensive expense for the year, NFEE 2 ER X - M FIE
net of tax (13,351) (11,265)
Total comprehensive expense for the year RNFEEZHRZ B (42,078) (34,067)
(Restated)
(&%)
Loss per share BRE#R 13
— Basic (HK cent per share) — BEAR(ZREMW) (4.27) (5.59)
— Diluted (HK cent per share) — B5E (BB (4.27) (5.59)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e MR &

Asat31March2024 R —ZE-_WMFE=HA=+—H

2024 2023
“E-ME —E-=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
L= FAER FHET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEREE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment VER VL] 15 1,369 26
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFAEAEMEEKE
other comprehensive income BRIEHKERE 18 — 48,304
Financial assets at fair value through BRAFHEFAEBRRREZ
profit or loss MK EE 19 157,714 -
159,083 48,330
Current assets RBEE
Financial assets at fair value through BAVEAEE 2 EK R
other comprehensive income BRI HBEE 18 36,506 —
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFAERRREZ
profit or loss B A E 19 103,068 49,922
Other receivables and deposits paid HuRKGFERENRS 20 122,531 121,640
Other financial assets at amortised cost REENAGTEC EMHEEE 17 83,347 100,809
Amount due from a shareholder JE W AR B 3R IA 21 = 949
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkBLEEYD 22 16,166 3,997
361,618 277,317
Current liabilities nREEE \
Other payables and accrued charges HiprtE R ETER 23 142,576 50,474
Lease liabilities HEaE 24 = 1,497
142,576 51,971
Net current assets REBEEFE 219,042 225,346
Net assets BEFE 378,125 273,676
EQUITY &
Equity attributable to owners of ARARERABEER
the Company
Share capital %$ 25 86,478 36,039
Reserves [ 291,647 237,637
Total equity A 378,125 273,676

The consolidated financial statements were approved and AU BEBRERKLEETTR T M F K A
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 June 2024 and =+ \BHH#t A RIZ#E T » AU TREKE

are signed on its behalf by: z
Han Zhenghai Chan Yiu Pun Clement
BIES BRI
Director Director
£ BF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REREREBR

Forthe yearended 31 March2024 B ZE — T —_MF=A=+—HILFE

Investment Share
Share Shareholder's revaluation option Exchange  Accumulated
capitel  Share premium ~ contribution reserve reserve reserve losses Total
R RhaE RRiE RAERER BREER ERGRH 2itbR At
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HKS'000
Thr Tin T Thn Fitn Tin Tt Thr
(note 25) (note 26) (note 26) (note 26) (note 26) (note 26)
(K i) (W) Gk (Ht20) (Ht20) (W)
At 1 April 2022 R-8-ZEMmA-R 2,8% 561,040 10934 (12093) 19,587 (1,539 (376,173) 24016
Loss for the year AEEER - - - - - - (22802 (22802
Other comprehensive (expense)fincome Eh2E(ER) /i
Exchange difference on translation of financial statements BERAREAR
of PRC subsidiaries HREREE BRZE - - - - - 2189 - 2189)
Release of reserves upon disposal of subsidiaries HERBRANENGR - - - - - %0 - %0
Change in fai value of financial assets at fair value through other  BRATEi AEEH2ANERE
comprehensive income (*FYTOCI") ([RAFEFAZEBZENERE])
ZHBEEZAFERD - = = (9,166) - - - (0,168
Total comprehensive expense for the year TERRARY AR — - - 9,166) — 2,099) (22.800) (34,067)
Transfer of accumulated fair value loss to accumulated losses ~— HERATEFAELHRE
upon disposal of financial assets at FVTOCI WEREZHBAERERZH
ATEEEEZHER - - - 18,338 - - (16,338 -
Placing of new shares (note 23(v) BEHRH (Wit 4922 nm - - - - - 3789
New shares placement expenses note 25(i) HREER (M) - (379 - - - - - (379
Issue of consideration shares (note 25(v)) EIRERR (M) 6507 35,790 = = = = = 8097
Lapse of vested share options BERERELN = — = = 2,130) = 2130 =
Exercise of share options (note 25(ii) 71 98 8 (B s 25i) 1,754 10,177 = = 8,021) = = 3910
At 31 March 2023 W-B-Z£Zp=t-A 36,039 639,605 10934 (4921) 943 (3634 (#13,783) 213876
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
RERERBBR

Forthe year ended 31 March2024 B Z — T —_MF=A=+—HILFE

Investment Share
Share Share ~ Shareholder's  revaluation option Exchange  Accumulated
capital premium  contribution reserve reserve reserve losses Total
k& RHEE RREE REEMRER BRERE EXfE ZitER ait

HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn TEn TEn TER TiEn TEn TEn TiEn

(note 25) (note 26) (note 26) (note 26) (note 26) (note 26)

(H&25) (W&t26) (W =20) (M &26) (GE (GEV

At 1 April 2023 RZ2BZZ5MmA-A 36,039 639,605 10,934 (4,921) 9,436 (3,634) (413,783) 213,676
Loss for the year TEEER - - - - - - (28,727) (28,727)
Other comprehensive expense A2ERY

Exchange difference on translation of financial statements R ERENE AT

of PRC subsidiaries BHRRELVENER - - - - - (1,553) - (1,553)
Change in fair value of financial assets at FVTOCI PATEAAEAMZENEREL
UEEEZATEED - = = (11,798) - - - (11,798)
Total comprehensive expense for the year TEE2EHYLE = = = (11,798) = (1,553) (28,727) (42,078)
Rights issue (note 25(i) 5 (B 5E2500) 36,039 18,021 = = = = = 54,060
Rights issue expenses (note 25(i) BB S (M E250)) = (197) = = = = = (197)
Placing of new shares (note 25(ii) RENB B (HaE25(i) 14,400 79,200 - - - - = 93,600
New shares placement expenses (note 25(i) MREER 3 (W E25(i) - (936) - - - - = (936)
Lapse of vested share options BEBRERELNR - - - - (1,161) - 1,161 5
At 31 March 2024 R-E-mE=R=+-R 86,478 735,693 10,934 (16,719) 8,275 (5,187) (441,349) 378,125
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

Forthe yearended 31 March2024 B ZE — T —_MF=A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
= =k —E-=
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B & THERT FET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REREXBZRERE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before income tax expense BrATBER A EE (28,727) (22,802)
Adjustments for: ST ERELAE
Depreciation of property, mE - BEREENE
plant and equipment 185 89
Impairment loss on property, plant and ME - BELREREBRE
equipment — 60
Net realised loss on disposals of HERZRATEFALERE
fair value of financial assets at fair (MBRATEFAEER Jf
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL") Bl)2HBEERFELZ
EERERFR — 273
Bank interest income RITHE WA 7 (80) —
Interest income from other financial REHK A E 2 B 7%
assets at amortised cost BEZHBRA 7 (7,972) 9,519)
Interest expenses on lease liabilities MEBBZHERAX 9 185 263
Interest expenses on bonds BHZMBFAY 9 2,080 2,569
Change in fair value of financial assets at R AFEFTAEEZREZ
FVTPL MBRAEZRTEED 787 (2,791)
Gain on disposal of interest in an HEBE NS 2 WA
associate — (20)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEMB QR .2l (344) —
Impairment loss, net of reversal on other ~ IR Z#EM ANt E 2 H
financial assets at amortised cost HBEERD 2 REBE 8 1,212 7,564
Impairment loss, net of reversal on HkeErZke
deposits paid BmzRERSE 8 407 877)
Exchange realignment fE N B 14,460 6,365
Operating loss before working capital EEELEBAICRERR
changes (17,807) (18,826)
Purchase of financial assets at FVTPL BERATEFATERREE
ZHBEE (29,070) (22,063)
Proceeds from disposals of financial HERATFEFATERERE
assets at FVTPL LU BEEZHBIA — 8,697
Decrease in amount due from a JE U A% 3R SR IR R
shareholder 949 —
Decrease in other receivables and HERRERE FESH D
deposits paid 8 1,595
Increase in other payables and HiEMNRERESER
accrued charges # 3,921 301
Cash used in operations REFRERSE (41,999 (30,296)
Interest received B HE 14,159 7,288
Net cash used in operating activities KERXRBMERSFE (27,840) (23,008)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HEBREREBR

Forthe year ended 31 March2024 B Z — T —_MF=A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
= =k —E-=F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B & THERT FET
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REREEZH2RERE
ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BB E W%  BE k& & (100) (175)
Purchase of other financial assets at BEREENAGTE ZHMT K
amortised cost BE (95,394) (116,656)
Purchase of financial assets at FVTPL ,@\%,\?ﬁﬂzﬁ FFATERR
BBEE (69,269) —
Net cash outflow on acquisition of assets i i It EHEBAAMBEEY
through acquisition of a subsidiary RembFE 27 (1,438) —
Proceed from disposal of other financial & & & fﬁﬁfi$§+%2ﬁ B 75
assets at amortised cost BEMEBHT 100,352 133,542
Deposits paid for acquisition of investments &t 4 8% 1% & E’] E ﬁ ®e (129,814) (123,105)
Deposits refunded for acquisition of PUBEBRENERER 2
investments 5,403 5,230
Proceeds from disposal of interest in an HEBEARER 2 MERE
associate — 20
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at it} & & 2 F{E 5 AT & 1 2 IR
fair value through other comprehensive nREBEZMBEEEZ
income T %A — 52
Net cash used in investing activities REZHFHMERSTFHE (190,260) (101,092)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING REMEZHZRAERE
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from bonds & %"ﬁﬁ FE 56,600 70,270
Repayment of principal portion of bonds EEEH 2 e85 (40,000) (30,000)
Proceed from deposit received E 1451 BReMmEHA 23 73,617 —
Net proceeds from issuance of shares Bl & R 10 18 1T B2
upon placement of shares BT K18 F58 92,664 37,520
Net proceeds from rights issue of shares  #t % 2 FT /5 B F 58 53,863 ==
Proceeds from exercise of share options  1T{# i I 1€ 2 FT 15 ?ﬁ’\ o 3910
Repayment of principal portion of EBEHEARZAS
lease liabilities (1,497) (2,067)
Interest paid on bonds BEH 2 BEHFE (3,240) (748)
Interest paid on lease liabilities MERBZENTEA (185) (263)
Net cash generated from financing METHIERETFH
activities 231,822 78,622
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash BERBESEWE M,/
equivalents (M) =8 13,722 (45,478)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes ER# B 2 F & (1,553) (2,099)
Cash and cash equivalents FUREREEEEY
at the beginning of the year 3,997 51,574
Cash and cash equivalents FRAGRBEEEEY
at the end of the year 16,166 3,997
Analysis of the balances of cash and cash RERBREZEYEH DT
equivalents:
Cash and cash equivalents RehBLFEY 16,166 3,997
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2024 B ZE — T —_MF=A=+—HILFE

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited (Formerly
known as China Investment Development Limited) (the
"Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability on 25 March 1998
and was de-registered on 11 March 2011 and was registered
by way of continuation as an exempted company in Bermuda
on 2 March 2011. The Company'’s shares have been listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) with effect from 12 December 2000. Its registered
office is located at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and its principal office in Hong
Kong is located at Suite No.7, 17/F, Tower 1, China Hong
Kong City, 33 Canton Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong

Kong.

The Company and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in
investment holding for short to long-term capital appreciation
purposes, and investment in listed and unlisted securities.
The principal activities of the Company's subsidiaries are set

1. —REHR
EAREEESEBR AR (A1 P E
HERBEERRAA) ([A2RQA])
—WNWNF=ZA-_t+HHEHES#HEZ
MKz RERRERAA » HERZZT
——F=ZA+—BHEEM BER=
T——F A _BUGFEFARBERE
TMAeaEREAA - AARKRMEBEZ
ZEEF+_A+_BREFEBHAX
SHBRAR ([BXF) bW - EiF
fitt % = B {32 72 Clarendon House, 2 Church
Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda @ £ &
BENERUNEBNELAPBHERE
WA B E —BITIETRE o

.

=1l

ARAREMBRARZEEXEL A
RENESERERPEREE - UK
BREREMKRIFLEMES - ARAET
MEBARZEZEXEBHNGEMB®RE

out in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements. B sE16 ©

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily

effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new
and amendments to HKFRSs that are first effective for the

current accounting period of the Group:

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. ERAFHTEBUMBEREER ([FE
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

BB EER]) REMEET

RAFERFERZHITEBUBRE
ERREAER]

RAFE  AKBECERBATRAKHE
At HEERERRFITNE LY B
HBEENREEET

° HKFRS 17, Insurance Contracts (including the October e BHEMBHREERNFI7IH - RE
2020 and February 2022 Amendments to HKFRS 17) B (BRF_F_FF+ALK-F
TS F A BB B HREERE
175 .2 1EET)
o Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement e HABGHERNFIFLB LMK R
2, Disclosure of accounting policies LEHEBREFE2RZ2ER &
AR 7
e Amendments to HKAS 8, Definition of accounting e B[AEGFEAFESRZIBF] - B
estimates 1 51 B9 JE 2
o Amendments to HKAS 12, Deferred tax related to assets e F[ESHEANFN2HRZER @ RE
and liabilities arising from a single transaction EXGELMEER B BB EE
#E
° Amendments to HKAS 12, International tax reform-Pillar o HBHEDEAEI2H 2B - BE

Two model rules

HEXNE X _FAHA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRME

Forthe year ended 31 March2024 B Z — T —_MF=A=+—HILFE

2.

92

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily

effective for the current year (continued)

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs listed above in the current year has
had no material effect on the Group's financial performance
and positions for the current and prior year and on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

In accordance with the guidance set out in the amendments,
accounting policy information that is standardised
information, or information that only duplicates or summarises
the requirements of the HKFRSs, is considered immaterial
accounting policy information and is no longer disclosed in
the notes to the consolidated financial statements so as not to
obscure the material accounting policy information disclosed
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12, Deferred tax related to assets
and liabilities arising from a single transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the initial recognition
exemption such that it does not apply to transactions that
give rise to equal and offsetting temporary differences on
initial recognition such as leases and decommissioning
liabilities. For leases and decommissioning liabilities, the
associated deferred tax assets and liabilities are required
to be recognised from the beginning of the earliest
comparative period presented, with any cumulative effect
recognised as an adjustment to retained earnings or other
components of equity at that date. For all other transactions,
the amendments are applied to those transactions that occur
after the beginning of the earliest period presented.

Prior to the amendments, the Group did not apply the
initial recognition exemption to lease transactions and had
recognised the related deferred tax, except that the Group
previously determined the temporary difference arising from a
right-of-use asset and the related lease liability on a net basis
on the basis they arise from a single transaction. Following
the amendments, the Group has determined the temporary
differences in relation to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities separately. This change in accounting policy did not
have any material impact on the Group's financial position
and performance. It also did not have any material impact on
the opening balance of equity at the earliest period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2024 B ZE — T —_MF=A=+—HILFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continued)

HKICPA guidance on the accounting implications

of the abolition of the Mandatory Provident Fund
("MPF") — Long Service Payment (“LSP") offsetting

mechanism in Hong Kong

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting implications
of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in
Hong Kong” which provides guidance for the accounting
for the offsetting mechanism and the impact arising from
abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in Hong
Kong. In particular, the guidance indicates that entities may
account for the accrued benefits derived from mandatory
MPF contributions that are expected to be used to reduce
the LSP payable to an employee as deemed contributions by
that employee towards the LSP.

To better reflect the substance of the abolition of the
offsetting mechanism, the Group has changed its accounting
policy in connection with its LSP liability and has applied
the above HKICPA guidance retrospectively. This change in
accounting policy did not have any material impact on the
opening balance of equity at 1 April 2023, and the cash flows
and loss per share amount for the year ended 31 March 2023.
It also did not have a material impact on the company-level
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2023 and 2024.
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2.

94

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

("HKFRSs") (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not applied the following amendments to

HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective

for the current accounting period. The Group has already

commenced an assessment of the impact of these

amendments to HKFRSs but is not yet in a position to state
whether these amendments to HKFRSs would have a material
impact on its results of operations and financial position:

e Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification
of liabilities as current or non-current
and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)

e Amendments to HKAS 1, Non-current
liabilities with covenants

e Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28,
Sale or contribution of assets between an
investor and its associate or joint venture

e Amendments to HKFRS 16, Lease liability
in a sale and leaseback

e Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7,
Supplier finance arrangements

o Amendments to HKAS 21, Lack of
exchangeability transaction
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Effective for
accounting
periods
beginning
on or after

1 January 2024

1 January 2024

To be
determined

1 January 2024

1 January 2024

1 January 2025
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(a)

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable HKFRSs,
HKASs and Interpretations and the disclosure
requirements of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing
Rules”).

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost basis except for
financial assets at FVTOCI and financial assets at FVTPL,
which are measured at fair values as explained in the
material accounting policy information set out in note 4
below.

Functional and presentation currency

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"). Each entity in the Group
maintains its books and record in its own functional
currency. The functional currency of the Company is
HKS$.
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4.

96

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

(a)

Business combination and basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(the "Group”).

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income from the dates
of acquisition or up to the dates of disposal, as
appropriate.

The Group accounts for business combinations using
the acquisition method when the acquired set of
activities and assets meets the definition of a business
and control is transferred to the Group.

The cost of an acquisition is measured at the aggregate
of the acquisition-date fair value of assets transferred,
liabilities incurred and equity interests issued by the
Group, as the acquirer. The identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed are principally measured at
acquisition-date fair value.

Subsidiaries

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend
received and receivable.

Associates

The associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee but not control or joint control
over those policies.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(d)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so as to
write off their cost net of expected residual value over
their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The
useful lives are as follows:

Over the shorter of the
lease term or 4 years

Leasehold improvements

Furniture and equipment 5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years
Computer equipment 5 years

An asset is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if its carrying amount is higher than the asset’s
estimated recoverable amount.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant
and equipment is the difference between the net sale
proceeds and its carrying amount, and is recognised in
profit or loss on disposal.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will
be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which
the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire
non-current assets (including property, plant and
equipment) are recognised as deferred income in the
statement of financial position and transferred to profit
or loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful
lives of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable and are recognised as other revenue, rather
than reducing the related expense.
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4.

98

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(f)

Leases

The Group as a lessee

All leases are required to be capitalised in the
statement of financial position as right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities, but accounting policy choices
exist for an entity to choose not to capitalise (i) leases
which are short-term leases and/or (ii) leases for which
the underlying asset is of low-value. The Group has
elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities for low-value assets and leases for which at
the commencement date have a lease term of less than
12 months. The lease payments associated with those
leases have been expensed on straight-line basis over
the lease term.

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset is recognised at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liability.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the
lease term.

Lease liability

The lease liability is recognised at the present value
of the lease payments that are not paid at the date of
commencement of the lease. The lease payments are
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if
that rate can be readily determined. If that rate cannot
be readily determined, the Group uses the Group's
incremental borrowing rate.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group
measures the lease liability by: (i) increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease
liability; (ii) reducing the carrying amount to reflect
the lease payments made; and (iii) remeasuring the
carrying amount to reflect any reassessment or lease
modifications.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(9)

Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price is
directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a
liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics
of the asset or liability if market participants would take
those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as
value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair
value and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs
are to be used to measure fair value in subsequent
periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so that, at
initial recognition, the results of the valuation technique
equal the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair
value measurements are categorised into Levels 1,
2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to
the fair value measurements are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement
in its entirety, which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.
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4.

100

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(h)

Financial instruments

(i)

Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable
without a significant financing component)
is initially measured at fair value plus, for an
item not at FVTPL, transaction costs that are
directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A
trade receivable without a significant financing
component is initially measured at the transaction
price.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirely when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group's business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Financial assets
at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest rate method. Interest
income, foreign exchange gains and losses and
impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any
gain on derecognition is recognised in profit or
loss.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

(h)

(i)

Financial assets (continued)

Debt instruments (continued)

FVTOCI: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest, are
measured at FVTOCI. Debt investments at FVTOCI
are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest
income calculated using the effective interest rate
method, foreign exchange gains and losses and
impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Other
net gains and losses are recognised in OCI. On
derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in
OCl are reclassified to profit or loss.

FVTPL: Financial assets at FVTPL include financial
assets held for trading, financial assets designated
upon initial recognition at FVTPL, or financial
assets mandatorily required to be measured at
fair value. Financial assets are classified as held
for trading if they are acquired for the purpose
of selling or repurchasing in the near term.
Derivatives, including separated embedded
derivatives, are also classified as held for trading
unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments.
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4.

102

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(h)

Financial instruments (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Financial assets (continued)

Equity instruments

On initial recognition of an equity investment
that is not held for trading, the Company could
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes
in the investment's fair value in OCI. This election
is made on an investment-by-investment basis.
Equity investments at FVTOCI are measured at fair
value. Dividend income are recognised in profit or
loss unless the dividend income clearly represents
a recovery of part of the cost of the investments.
Other net gains and losses are recognised in
OCIl and are not reclassified to profit or loss. All
other equity instruments are classified as FVTPL,
whereby changes in fair value, dividends and
interest income are recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for
expected credit loss ("ECL") on other receivables
measured at amortised cost. The ECLs are
measured on either of the following bases: (1) 12
months ECLs: these are the ECLs that result from
possible default events within the 12 months after
the reporting date; and (2) lifetime ECLs: these are
ECLs that result from all possible default events
over the expected life of a financial instrument.
The maximum period considered when estimating
ECLs is the maximum contractual period over
which the Company is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of
credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the
difference between all contractual cash flows
that are due to the Company in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Company expects to receive. The shortfall is then
discounted at an approximation to the assets’
original effective interest rate.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(h)

Financial instruments (continued)

(ii)

Impairment loss on financial assets (continued)
The Group has elected to measure loss
allowances for other receivables using HKFRS 9
general approach and the ECLs are based on the
12-months ECLs. However, when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since origination,
the allowance will be based on the lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a
financial asset has increased significantly since
initial recognition and when estimating ECL, the
Group considers reasonable and supportable
information that is relevant and available
without undue cost or effort. This includes both
quantitative and qualitative information analysis,
based on the Group’s historical experience
and informed credit assessment and including
forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a
financial asset has increased significantly if it is
more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be
credit-impaired when: (1) the borrower is unlikely
to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full,
without recourse by the Group to actions such as
realising security (if any is held) or (2) the financial
asset is more than 90 days past due.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets
is calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the
gross carrying amount less loss allowance) of the
financial asset. For non credit-impaired financial
assets, interest income is calculated based on the
gross carrying amount.
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4.

104

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

(h)

(iii)

(iv)

Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities,
depending on the purpose for which the liabilities
were incurred. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are
initially measured at fair value and financial
liabilities at amortised cost are initially measured
at fair value, net of directly attributable costs
incurred.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including
other payables, accrued charges and bonds are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method. The related interest
expenses are recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as
through the amortisation process.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when
the contractual rights to the future cash flows
in relation to the financial asset expire or when
the financial asset has been transferred and the
transfer meets the criteria for derecognition in
accordance with HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires.

Where the Group issues its own equity instruments
to a creditor to settle a financial liability in whole
or in part as a result of renegotiating the terms
of that liability, the equity instruments issued
are the consideration paid and are recognised
initially and measured at their fair value on
the date the financial liability or part thereof
is extinguished. If the fair value of the equity
instruments issued cannot be reliably measured,
the equity instruments are measured to reflect the
fair value of the financial liability extinguished. The
difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability or part thereof extinguished and
the consideration paid is recognised in profit or
loss for the year.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(i)

()

Revenue recognition
Interest income is accrued on a timely basis on the
principal outstanding at the applicable interest rate.

Income taxes

Income tax expense comprises current tax and deferred
tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent
that it relates to a business combination, or items
recognised directly in equity or in other comprehensive
income.

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable or
receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year
and any adjustments to the tax payable or receivable
in respect of previous years. The amount of current tax
payable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax
amount expected to be paid or received that reflects
any uncertainty related to income taxes. It is measured
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date. Current tax also includes tax arising
from dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain
criteria are met.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not
recognised for:

— temporary differences on the initial recognition
of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not
a business combination and that affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss and does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences;

—  temporary differences related to investment in
subsidiaries to the extent that the Group is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that they will not
reverse in the foreseeable future; and
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4.

106

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(0

Income taxes (continued)

—  those related to the income taxes arising from
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted to
implement the Pillar Two model rules published
by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation
and Development.

The Group recognised deferred tax assets and deferred
tax liabilities separately in relation to its lease liabilities
and right-of-use assets.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax
losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profits will be available against which they can
be used. Future taxable profits are determined based on
the reversal of relevant taxable temporary differences.
If the amount of taxable temporary differences is
insufficient to recognise a deferred tax asset in full, then
future taxable profits, adjusted for reversals of existing
temporary differences, are considered, based on the
business plans for individual subsidiaries in the Group.
Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting
date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that the related tax benefit will be realised;
such reductions are reversed when the probability of
future taxable profits improves.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if
certain criteria are met.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(k)

Share-based payments

Where share options are awarded to employees and
others providing similar services that are vested at
the date of grant, the fair value of the share options
granted is expensed immediately to profit or loss with
a corresponding increase in the share option reserve
within equity.

When the share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options
are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred
to accumulated profit or loss.

Impairment of other assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of the following assets
to determine whether there is any indication that
those assets have suffered an impairment loss or an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists
or may have decreased:

o Property, plant and equipment; and
o Investment in subsidiaries

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair
value less costs to sell and value in use) of an asset
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
as an expense immediately.
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4.

108

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(m)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, which will probably result in an outflow of
economic benefits that can be reasonably estimated.

Employee benefits

(i)  Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are employee
benefits (other than termination benefits) that
are expected to be settled wholly before twelve
months after the end of the annual reporting
period in which the employees render the
related service. Short-term employee benefits
are recognised in the year when the employees
render the related service.

(i)  Defined contribution retirement plans
Contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans are recognised as an expense in profit
or loss when the services are rendered by the
employees.

(iii) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised on the
earlier of when the Group can no longer withdraw
the offer of those benefits and when the Group
recognises restructuring costs involving the
payment of termination benefits.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances
and short-term deposits and highly liquid investments
with maturities of three months or less from the date
of acquisition that are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in their fair value, and are used by the Group in
the management of its short-term commitments. For the
purpose of the statement of cash flows, bank overdrafts
that are repayable on demand and that form an integral
part of the Group's cash management are included in
cash and cash equivalents.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(p)

Foreign currency translation

Translation on consolidation

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the
respective functional currencies of group companies at
the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated into the functional currency at
the exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value in
a foreign currency are translated into the functional
currency at the exchange rate when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are
measured based on historical cost in a foreign currency
are translated at the exchange rate at the date of the
transaction. Foreign currency differences are generally
recognised to profit or loss.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations,
including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising
on acquisition, are translated into HK$ at the exchange
rates at the reporting rate. The income and expenses
of foreign operations are translated into HK$ at the
average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during the year, in which
case, the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions
are used.

Foreign currency differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the
exchange reserve.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
(q) Related parties
(@) A person or a close member of that person’s
family is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Company's
parent.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions apply:

()  The entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

(i) One entity is the associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or the associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

(i)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

(v  The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of the employees of the
Group or an entity related to the Group.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
(q) Related parties (continued)
(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions apply: (continued)

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
key management personnel of the entity (or
of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;

(i)  children of that person’s spouse or domestic
partner; and

(i) dependents of that person or that person’s spouse
or domestic partner.
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5.

112

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The key assumptions concerning the future and other sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of reporting period that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year are discussed below.

Estimation of impairment loss recognised in respect
of other receivables and deposits paid and other
financial assets at amortised cost

The Group individually assesses the ECL for other receivables
and deposits paid and other financial assets at amortised
cost. The impairment allowances are based on assumptions
about risk of default and ECL rates. The Group makes its
estimates based on the ageing of its loan balances, debtors’
creditworthiness, historical write-off experience and existing
market condition including forward-looking estimates as at
the reporting date. If the financial condition of its debtors was
to deteriorate so that the actual impairment loss might be
higher than expected, the Group would be required to revise
the basis of making the allowance and its future results would
be affected. The information about the ECL and the Group's
other receivables and deposits paid and other financial assets
at amortised cost are disclosed in notes 37, 20 and 17 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

Fair value of unlisted equity securities classified as
financial assets at FVTPL and FVTOCI

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s unlisted equity securities
classified as financial assets at FVTPL and unlisted
equity securities classified as financial assets at FVTOCI,
amounting to approximately HK$157,714,000 (2023: Nil)
and HK$36,506,000 (2023: HK$48,304,000) respectively, are
measured at fair value hierarchy Level 3, which cannot be
derived from active markets. In the absence of an active
market, the directors use their judgement in selecting
an appropriate valuation technique for those financial
instruments not quoted in an active market. The fair value
measurement valuation methodologies require the adoption
of some assumptions not supported by observable market
prices and rates. Changes in assumptions about these factors
could affect the reported fair values of financial instruments.
Further disclosures are set out in notes 18, 19(c) and 37 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An operating segment is a component of the Group that is
engaged in business activities from which the Group may
earn revenue and incur expenses, and is identified on the
basis of the internal management reporting information that
is provided to and regularly reviewed by the Group’s chief
operating decision maker ("CODM") in order to allocate
resources and assess performance of the segment. For
the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, the information
reported to the executive directors, who are the CODM,
for the purpose of resource allocation and assessment of
performance, do not contain profit or loss information of
each business line or geographical area, and the executive
directors reviewed the financial results of the Group as a
whole reported under HKFRSs. Therefore, the executive
directors have determined that the Group has only one
single operating and reportable segment as the Group is
only engaged in investment holding. The executive directors
allocate resources and assess performance on an aggregated
basis. Accordingly, no operating segment information is
presented.

The following table provides an analysis of the Group's
revenue and non-current assets including property, plant
and equipment (i.e. “specified non-current assets”) by
geographical locations, determined based on physical
location of the assets:

KESEAAEBEER RIUKARE
EHRYXZEBRES AKX - TIIRE
AEBETEEBEBRARE ([FEEERK
) EREERCHEBERUNESRE S
BREFERBFECANDERREZ2RE R H
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=+T—HLEFE  RERDERKRBEAN
BME r MATES (NETELERRK
H)BREZERTRESEBRY St
BraMkEEER  MATESEE
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Revenue from Specified
external customers non-current assets
RENMREFZWE REFRBDEE
2024 2023 2024 2023

“E-NE —T-=-F ZEZNE —T_-_=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER FET FET FET

Hong Kong (place of domicile)
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7. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME 7. WERHEMEBA
2024 2023
—E_ME —_=E_=
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FHE T
Revenue W = — —
Other income Hfb i X
Bank interest income R1T A B U A 80 —
Government subsidy (note) T 48 BY (B 5E) S LN
Interest income from the other financial B EK AT E 2 EME &
assets at amortised cost BEEKFE KA 7,972 9,519
Waiver of amount due to a former director AR EN — B A E F 2 HNIE — 600
Others H b 30 101
Total revenue and other income W K B b Uk A 48 &8 8,082 10,331
No other source of income contributed to the Group's TEIMERTE=FUMEMKA
revenue for both 2024 and 2023. RKEAENEEBERKE -
Note: B aE -
Government subsidy under the employment support scheme was granted BB R BUT B COVID-1987 F 89 Bt AR & 3t %
from HKSAR Government in relation to the employment during COVID-19 XA B BERBEHE > ML ENERET
without unfulfilled conditions or other contingencies attaching to the WA H S A EIE o
subsidies.
8. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER THE ECL MODEL, 8. FEHIEEEFEEEA NEREEE {1
NET OF REVERSAL R
2024 2023
—E-_ME —_Fg_-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FET
Impairment losses, (net of reversal) on UT&EZREEE
(M@ mE) -
Other financial assets at amortised cost HEEK AT EZHMYH
(note (i) BE (ME®0) 1,212 7,564
Deposits paid (note (ii) B ftiEke (M) 407 (877)
1,619 6,687
Notes: e -
(i) For the year ended 31 March 2024, balance included reversal of 0] BE_ZT-_MF=ZA=Z+—HLFE -
impairment losses on promissory notes classified as other financial ﬁ?@% DERBEHKATEZ B Hﬁfﬁz
assets at amortised cost of approximately HK$11,234,000 (2023: BEZENEE 2R MEE B RE %911,234,000
HK$3,670,000). BT (ZT =% : 367/0000/7T) °
(i) For the year ended 31 March 2024, balance included reversal of (i) BE_Z_NF=ZA=+—HLLEE -

impairment losses on deposits paid for potential investment of
approximately HK$2,431,000 (2023: HK$877,000).
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Forthe yearended 31 March2024 B ZE — T —_MF=A=+—HILFE

9.

10.

FINANCE COSTS 9. BABMA
2024 2023
—E-NE —E_=F%
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHE T FE T
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEBBENAERX 185 263
Interest expenses on bonds BHFEBOF B 2,080 2,569
2,265 2,832
LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10. BRATE B AIE 18
Loss before income tax expense is stated after charging the BRETEBAIAEBLENEG T SIER
following: B8R -
2024 2023
—E_F —F-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FRET FAET
Staff costs 8 TR

Salaries e 4,908 4,220

Provident fund contributions WEE N 8 105
Total staff costs excluding directors’ BETINARE (TREEEM

remunerations (note 14) &) (MizE14) 4,916 4,325
Auditor’s remuneration % EEM B & 540 470
Depreciation of property, plant and mME - BMEREZHEITE

equipment
Directors’ remuneration (note 14) EEME (M5E14)

— Fees — % 1,860 1,723
Investment manager's fee KEKEEH 480 480
Short-term leases REEE 3,815 1,154
Legal and professional fees FENEEER 3,423 4,106
Net exchange losses VE & B FE 13,124 11,364
Impairment of property, plant and mE - BRERZERE"

equipment* — 60

* Amount included in “administrative and other expenses” in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income.

REFFARABRAEREME2EBERD (17
BEEMES] -
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11.

116

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Pursuant to the Inland Revenue (Amendment) Bill 2017,
profits tax rate for the first HK$2 million of assessable profits
of a qualifying corporation in the Group is lowered to 8.25%
with the excess assessable profits continue to be taxed at
16.5%. Overseas tax is calculated at the rates applicable in the
respective jurisdictions. No provision for income tax expense
is required since the Group has no assessable profits either

arising from Hong Kong or other jurisdictions during the year
(2023: Nil).

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the

11.

FreRimEx
BRE_ZE—EFHBE (B5]) GHER -
REEBLSEROCEERBENE2EE S
JCH A SRR R G K =8.25% 0 B
B FE R R i F) BN A2 4B 12 16.5% B R BN B
H o BIINHBIEEBEREERERAMEK
HE c R AEERAFETERAESR
BRHEMEAERZERT G - WH
BAELSEHREYBEBE (ZE=_=F:
/) o

REFRF fREﬂS‘ZEﬁ??/m\TE s N HE MR

loss before income tax expense per consolidated statement ERGZZARAEHAXZAER 2 HE
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows: IR
2024 2023
—ECmE —F-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Loss before income tax expense FRFTS M F X AT ES 18 (28,727) (22,802)
Tax calculated at the applicable REREAEMEFEZHIE
statutory tax rates (4,740) (3,762)
Tax effects of income not taxable BERBBRA BB ZE (1,315) (2,004)
Tax effects of expenses not deductible AAHRAX 2 BT & 3,645 2,564
Tax effects of tax losses not recognised AERTEERZH 151 T8 3,493 2,540
Tax effects of deductible temporary AERATENEREZHEZ
differences not recognised W% % & = 662
Tax effects of utilisation of unrecognised ) Fi & T 3R 7] 3] 0 & I = &8
deductible temporary differences 2GR (1,083) —
Income tax expense FTIS B R — —

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had unused tax
losses of approximately HK$262,091,000 (2023: approximately
HK$240,921,000) available for offset against future profits
that may be carried forward indefinitely. The tax losses are
subject to the final assessment of Hong Kong Inland Revenue
Department. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of the unused tax losses due to unpredictability of
future profit streams.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has deductible
temporary differences in respect of impairment losses under
the ECL model, net of reversal of approximately HK$1,619,000
(2023: HK$6,687,000) and lease liabilities of HK$ nil (2023:
HK$1,497,000). No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in relation to such deductible temporary as it is not probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

Annual Report F ¥ 2024

PR EE R $$lﬁ%@%ﬁﬁg
Emmmmm&ﬂ_ —ZF 8
240,921,000/ 7T.) ﬁﬁ*Xmﬂ'

B &R 4 TRIE%TEZEEEE/%@%
BRETRENE - AR TAIIERT KK

EARE - I E B R A IE B 1A R
RELERBEE °

RBRESPR  AEERBEHEEHER
AT REBEZ A RMNEEEZE (3
BB @) 4 516190008 T (Z 8 - =
F 668700087 RHEBBEEZS BT

ZT =4 1,497,0008 7T) © BT
A e BRI AREE T HINE s 5
MERT OGN - it WEZ A ENE

RERBRAELEHREE -



Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited ® & 7N R & 2 &£ [# 5 [R A &)
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Forthe yearended 31 March2024 B ZE — T —_MF=A=+—HILFE

12.

13.

DIVIDENDS 12. BRE

The directors do not recommend the payment of any EETEBRMREBEE_ZT_MWF=H

dividend for the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: Nil). =S+ BLEFERNEMBKBRE (ZF
—=ZF ) o

LOSS PER SHARE 13. ’éﬂ’igﬂﬁ

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share PAN/NIS) =R R T—rﬁ/\JETEtHXﬁ$&

attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company is BEEBERNDRATEBIEFE

based on the following data:

2024 2023

—E-NE —E-=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET THET

(Restated)

(g=E7)

Loss &5’

Loss for the year attributable to owners of FARFTEERERLKEEE
the Company for the purposes of basic B2 ARRBIHEA AEIER

and diluted loss per share FEEE (28,727) (22,802)

Number of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares for the purposes of basic and
diluted loss per share

K6 ®AE
ARFAESRERARBER
iazjat ﬁﬂxm%ﬂ?i@%&
672,362,605 407,909,139

Note: M5

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the years ended MEREAREEEENS  BE_T_0HF
31 March 2024 and 2023 for the purposes of basic and diluted loss per T Z=F=-A=+—HBLEFENLTAEBKRM
share have been retrospectively adjusted for the bonus element of the BTPHETER _ZE_=FNATKOEEZ
rights issue of shares during the year ended 31 March 2024 which was Z_NEF=ZRAR=+—HBLEFEHERAFIH#&
completed in August 2023, as detailed in note 25. TERPAE - FRMEE2S -

The computation of diluted loss per share for both years did not assume FEMEFENSRESFEBLTRBRITESR
the exercise of the Company's outstanding share options since it would RAIMAITENERE > DHREBERER
result in a decrease in loss per share. Therefore, the diluted loss per share BERD - Bt - MEFEEREEEHEER

is the same as the basic loss per share for both years.

BEREBEER -
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14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS

118

(a)

Directors’ emoluments
Directors’ emoluments for the year, disclosed
pursuant to Section 383 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, (Cap. 622) and the Companies (Disclosure
of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation
(Cap. 622@) are as follows:

14. EERITETHAEZ#HE

(a)

EEMS

BEEBQARIEN (£6228) 5383
EhAR (WEEEFNFER) R
Bl (£622GE) TUBBEZKNFEE
EEMELOT

2024 2023
—E-MF ZEZ=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET

Fees Ziahc A
Executive directors WITES 720 715
Non-executive directors FEHITES 718 560
Independent non-executive directors B FEHITE S 422 448
1,860 1,723

No directors had waived any emoluments and no
emoluments were paid to the directors as inducement
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation
for loss of office during the year (2023: Nil).

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were mainly for their services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and the
Group. The non-executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were mainly for their services as directors
of the Company or its subsidiaries. The independent
non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were

mainly for their services as directors of the Company.

Annual Report F ¥ 2024

REAFEE  BESEREMLAHM
- TENESIATEAMS
EASBEMAREBHRINAR
SERZER - SERBBIWME (=
T=F ) o

EXFRATEEMS D ERER
FEBEARARAKEEHZRE
BRE - EXFIRFATEETHETD
TRERFELARFAXENBL
RAEFEZMEER - EXAREL
FRTEFME DT BERFEL
ARRAEEZRHBAER -



Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited ® & 7N R & 2 &£ [# 5 [R A &)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2024 B ZE — T —_MF=A=+—HILFE

14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a)

14. EERIFETHRAEZ#ME &)

Directors’ emoluments (continued) (a) EE=M< (&)
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the 13 (2023: ERNHENIZE (ZEZ=F 17
17) directors are as follows: H)ESZHE2WT
2024 —EBoE
Employer's
Salaries  contribution
and other  to pension
Fees benefit scheme Total
HER BAKEHH
he HegEN EIEER b
HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000
ThRL ThERL ThERL ThERL
Executive director: BTES:
Chan Cheong Yee REE 360 — — 360
Chan You Pun Clement 4372 360 - - 360
Non-executive directors FuiTES:
Deng Dongping HRY 120 — — 120
Han Zhenghai BIA 120 — — 120
Liu Lihan (note (i) 8IS (B i) 60 — — 60
Zhu Zhikun v 120 — — 120
Ge Zhifu (note (ix)) EAR (K3t (x) 58 - - 58
Lyu Ping a ¥ 120 - - 120
Mo Xiuping (note (xi) EAS (M (X)) 120 = = 120
Independent non-executive directors: BUFHMES:
Chen Shunging RIEF 120 - - 120
Mo Li B 120 — - 120
Shi Zhu it 120 — — 120
Ding Jiasheng (note (vii) THE (B vil) 62 = = 62
Total i 1,860 — - 1,860
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Forthe year ended 31 March2024 B Z — T —_MF=A=+—HILFE

14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 14.

EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued)

EERTFETBRAEBZHME @)

a) EE=ME (&)

2023 —EC=F
Employer's
Salaries  contribution
and other o pension
Fees benefit scheme Total
ek RAK2HE
e HEN  EIHR )
HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000
TEx TEx TER TEx
Executive directors: HITEE .
Chan Cheong Yee REE 360 — — 360
Chan Yiu Pun Clement (note (xi) B (B3 (i) 355 = = 355
Non-executive directors FHTES:
Deng Dongping BRT 120 — — 120
Gao Yun (note (i) = E (M) 30 - — 30
Han Zhenghai 8IS 120 — — 120
Li Jiangtao (note (ii) ZEE (M) 2 = = 2
Liu Lihan 2% 120 — — 120
Zhu Zhikun =k 120 - — 120
Lyu Ping (note (iv)) aF (M) 48 = = 48
Zhang Junze (i REZ (K xii) — — — —
Independent non-executive directors: BUFHMES:
Kan Yat Kit (note (v) R4 () 2 - — 2
Chen Shunging (note (x)) BIEE (M) 70 — — 70
Lok Chiu Chan (note (vi)) SERE (P (vi) 36 = = 36
Mo Li ¥ 120 - — 120
Shi Zhu bax:: 120 — — 120
Yuan Wei (note (viii)) ®E (i) 37 = = 37
Mo Xiuping (note (i) EEF (M) 63 = = 63
Total @t 1723 = = 1723

The number of directors whose remuneration fell within

the following band is as follows:

MENFUATHEZESARET :

2024 2023
—E-QmE 2 —F-=
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z %1,000,0007% 7T 13 17
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14. DIRECTORS’' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS (continued)
Directors’ emoluments (continued)

(a)

Notes:

0]

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(xi)

(xii)

(xiii)

Mr. Gao Yun has been appointed as a non-executive
director of the board on 6 August 2021 and resigned on 7
September 2022.

Ms. Li Jiangtao has been appointed as a non-executive
director of the board on 17 June 2021 and resigned on 6
April 2022.

Mr. Liu Lihan resigned as a non-executive director of the
board on 6 October 2023.

Mr. Lyu Ping has been appointed as non-executive director
of the board on 7 November 2022.

Mr. Kan Yat Kit resigned as an independent non-executive
director of the board on 6 April 2022.

Mr. Lok Chiu Chan resigned as an independent
non-executive director of the board on 22 July 2022.

Mr. Ding Jiahseng has been appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the board on 26 September 2023.

Mr. Yuan Wei resigned as an independent non-executive
director of the board on 22 July 2022.

Mr. Ge Zhifu has been appointed as a non-executive director
of the board on 6 October 2023.

Ms. Chen Shunging has been appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the board on 27 July 2022.

Mr. Mo Xiuping has been appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the board on 19 April 2022 and has
been re-designated as non-executive director of the board
on 19 April 2023.

Mr. Chan Yiu Pun Clement has been appointed as an
executive director of the board on 6 April 2022.

Mr. Zhang Junze has been appointed as a non-executive
director of the board on 27 July 2022 and resigned on 17
November 2022.

14. EERTETHRAEBZME (@)

(a)

EEME (@)

Wi -

0]

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(xi)

(xii)

(xiii)

SERER_BE-_—FENANBE
ZEREETSIRPTES IR
T-_FNAAELBHME -

FERFELITR_Z=—F~ATL
AREZEREFSINTES X
RZZE-_—FWMANBEE -

BINEAER T _=F+AXA
BHIESEFNTES -

BEEER_ZT-__F+—AtH
BEZEREFEGHNTES -

AaRErERN T __FWMAH
BIEEEBUFENTES -

REERBELAR-ZF
—_t+t_HEHIEFS
E

8 3L

TEEEER T =
T+RBEZEREFESHE
TESE -

RBEAER-_T__FtA=Z+=
ABTEESBIIERTES -

EAREER_T_=F+AKA
BZEREFTSHRNTES -

RIEEFEZXRLTR -_ZT=__F+A
:+t5%§&%§$aﬁi#ﬁ
TESE -

EESLTN_E-_—_FMAB+H

AREZERESTEHLIFNTES -
WYHRZZFEZ=ZFONA+ALBATE
EFHENTES -

BRBWAER T -__FWMAKH
BZEREZERTES -

REZEAER_T=_=_F+tA
_+t5%§6%§$§#ﬁﬁﬁ
£ YR -_E-__F+—F++tH
BT o
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14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 14, EERFTETHRAEZHE (&)

EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals’ emoluments
The emoluments of the five highest paid individuals
(which include nil director (2023: none)) were as follows:

(b)

TEEEFALTZHME

TG ALT (HHBEESTE (=
E_=FFTR)EF)2HMem
T 2

2024 2023

—E-_MEF ZEZ=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Basic salaries and other benefits HEA#H & MK EMEF 2,954 2,504
Contributions to retirement benefit R ARAE T AT 8 3K

scheme — 6

2,954 2,510

The number of the five highest paid individuals whose
remuneration fell within the following bands is as

MENFUTHEEZzRAEZEZEHA
THBEWT :

follows:
2024 2023
—E_MEF —_E-=
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = 21,000,000 JT 5 5

There was no arrangement under which any of the five
(2023: none) highest paid employees had waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year.

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the
Group to any of the directors or the highest paid
employees as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group, or as compensation for loss of office.
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. W% - WMERKE

Leasehold ~ Furniture and Motor Computer
improvements  equipment vehicles  equipment Total
HENEEE GARRE "E ERRE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TER TET TEL TEL
At 1 April 2022 A=2-—FMA-H
Cost KA = = = = =
Accumulated depreciation RitHE = = = = =
Net carrying amount REFE — - — — —
Year ended 31 March 2023 BE-%-=
ZAZT-ALFE
Opening net carrying amount S IR EF (& — — — — -
Addition nE 149 26 — — 175
Depreciation WE (89) = = = (89)
Impairment HE (60) = = = (60)
Closing net carrying amount HRRERE - 26 - - 2
At 31 March 2023 and R-B-=#=ZA=t+-H

1 April 2023 kR=2-=fNA-H
Cost A 149 2 — — 175
Accumulated depreciation 2iHE (89) = = S (89)
Accumulated impairment RitEE (60) — - - (60)
Net carrying amount REFE - 26 — — 26
Year ended 31 March 2024 HZE-Z-ME

ZR=1-HLFE
Opening net carrying amount S IR E F (& - 26 - - 2
Addition NE ) — — — 100 100
Acquisition of assets through ~ EBMENBLAKEEE

acquisition of a subsidiary (W zr7)

(note 27) — — 1,428 - 1,428
Depreciation & = 4 (153) (28) (185)
Closing net carrying amount HREEFE = 2 1,275 72 1,369
At 31 March 2024 %:g:ﬁfﬁf‘f‘—ﬁ
Cost A 149 2 1428 100 1,703
Accumulated depreciation LT E (89) @) (153) (28) (274)
Accumulated impairment ZEtRE (60) — = = (60)
Net carrying amount EmFE = 2 1,275 72 1,369
Note: M 5
(i) Management identified impairment indicator for subsidiary of the (0 EHENHAEEENESEENHERT

Group that incurred loss for the year and performed impairment
assessment on the property, plant and equipment that were
allocated to that subsidiary, which mainly represented motor
vehicles. The recoverable amounts of the assets were determined
based on fair values less costs of disposal with reference to
observable market prices of similar assets. As the estimated
recoverable amounts of these assets are greater than their carrying
amounts, impairment loss is not required.

HARETR - WS EZHE QR
ME BELKRB (TERAE) ETHE
Bl - BENAKEEEIERAFE
MEERAL S EEUBENATEBRM S
EBIREE - ARNZFEENGFTTRE S
HaREEE  EFREBRE -
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16.

124

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars of Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March
2024 and 31 March 2023 are as follows:

16. RIMBARIZRE

N—EZ

ME=A=+t—HER-_Z—_=

FZA=T—"BARAIENBERAF

BT
Company Place of Share capital/  Proportion of ownership interest held  Principal
incorporation/ Paid up BERELA activities
operation capital 2024 2023
—E-NE “EZ=F
Direct Indirect  Direct Indirect
AL EMRY/EEHE REA/RERE  ER Mg  BX HE TEER
Global Oasis Corporation Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% — 100% —  Investment holding
REEHRARDA BR 187 REAR
Fu Hao Investment Consulting PRC Nil —  100% — 100%  Investment holding
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd."2
BERAFA (RY) BRRA2  HHE z REAR
China Zhongzi Zhiyuan Technology ~ BVI/Hong Kong US$50,000 100% — 100% —  Investment holding
Co., Ltd.
hEMEHENRERAA ABRRER/FR 50,000% T REZR
China Dingrun Supply Chain Co., Ltd.  BVI/Hong Kong US$50,000 100% — 100% —  Investment holding
TERBHEAERAA EBEREE/BE 50,000% T REAR
Beijing China Zhiyuan Technology Hong Kong HK$100 —  100% — 100%  Investment holding
Co., Ltd.
IRAERERRARDA 'R 100/ 7 RE R
Guangzhou Dingrun Supply Chain Hong Kong HK$100 - 100% — 100%  Investment holding
Co., Ltd.
BNTSEMERERDA BE 100/ 7T REZR
China Investment Assets Co., Limited* Hong Kong HK$100 - - — 100%  Investment holding
hEREEEARAAN &R 1008 7T REAER
China Zhongzhixie Emergency Rescue  BVI US$1 100% — 100% —  Investment holding
Development Co., Ltd.
PEREHESMEERRARLAT REBARES (Es REZR
China Creation Investment Group Hong Kong HK$100 — 100% — 100%  Investment holding
Holdings Limited (formerly know as
"Hong Gaocheng Co., Limited”)
TRARRERBARRERAA  FB 1007 7T REZR

(IBAERHARLR)
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16. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

16. RMBRBEIZRE (4#)

Company Place of Share capital/  Proportion of ownership interest held  Principal
incorporation/ Paid up BRRELA activities
operation capital 2024 2023
—BomE -
Direct Indirect  Direct Indirect
oL EfRY/EESE RA/BERX EE 0 BE 0 EE R TEXH
Shengshi Venture Capital Holding PRC Nil —  100% — 100%  Investment holding
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd."3
BUARER (RI) ARAF:  HE z REZRK
Fuhao Technology (Guangzhou) PRC RMB50,000 - 100% — 100%  Investment holding
Co., Ltd.!
EHERE (BM) BRAA il AR 50,0007 REAR
China Tianzhi Market Management ~ BVI/Hong Kong US$1 100% - - —  Investment holding
Co., Ltd.
PEXEMSRLERARA EBAREE /R (B3 REZRK
Skillful Plan Limited Hong Kong HK$100 —  100% — —  Investment holding
AEERAA BE 100/ 7 REAR
Good Palace Holdings Limited BVI US$1 —  100% - —  Investment holding
FERERAERAA ABEREE (B3 RERR
Hongkong Hong Xuan Co., Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$10,000 —  100% — —  Investment holding
EEREARAA B 10,0007% 7T REAR
Notes: Mt &E -
1. Registered as a wholly foreign-owned enterprise under PRC law. 1. BIEFEEEAMARIEBERE -

2. The authorised share capital of the subsidiary as at 31 March 2024
was RMB200,000,000. There was no paid up share capital as at 31
March 2024.

3. The authorised share capital of the subsidiary as at 31 March 2024
was USD50,000,000. There was no paid up share capital as at 31
March 2024.

4. On 29 March 2024, the Group disposed of 100% of equity interest
in the subsidiary at cash consideration of HK$1.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding
at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally
affected the results for the year or formed a substantial
portion of assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details
of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of
the Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

2. YMBARR-_E-_ME=A=+—8%
S5 E BN B A R 200,000,000 © R
ZHME=ZA=1T—BYEEHBRALX -

3 YMBARIR-_E-_ME=A=+—8%
A T B AN A50,000000%€ T c R —_ZF =0
FZA=Z+—"HIEBEHBKAK -

4 RZE-_ME=ZA=Z+ANHB - AEBEN

ﬁﬁmﬁﬁ B B H B A R1100% /%

EZ%%WJ?E’A‘TEAEXﬁEWETEJB%FME)E
BEIMNAREEEBRES

ERIHARREERRTIERE
liﬁq%ﬁi%ﬁk$’§lé§fg&@1
7( DEARRAMBELRA - NAAE
" #Wﬁ@ﬁﬂﬁ/‘jz;ﬁ\ # ¢$
RREBER -

uﬂHH%

L

ES
ES
S
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRME

Forthe year ended 31 March2024 B Z — T —_MF=A=+—HILFE

17. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED 17. RBERATTEZHMUBEE
COST
At 31 March 2024, the other financial assets at amortised RZZB_MFE=ZA=+—8H ' REBHEK
cost included promissory notes held by the Group with NEt &£ ZE MW BEEEREAEEFEAR
carrying amount of approximately HK$83,347,000 (2023: & H EE 0 BR @ (B 483,347,000 7T
HK$77,437,000) which are unsecured, interest bearing, (ZZT Z =4 : 77,437,000 L) © BE
non-transferrable, non-trading related in nature and issued by BH 58 T EE - FEEZHEB
private entities. MESHLEERET -
At 31 March 2023, the other financial assets at amortised cost RZEZ=F=ZA=+—8 ' RHEX
also included a secured bond held by the Group with carrying A EZHEMYBEETEREANEERF
amount of approximately HK$23,372,000 which was secured, EMBHEAES - REE 423,372,000
interest bearing, non-transferrable, non-trading related in T RBEEM R TAHEE - E
nature and issued by a private entity. BSHEBELEEYHILEERET -
2024 2023
—E-WEF ZEZ=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT
At amortised cost 2 885 R 95,793 112,043
Less: ECL allowance W TEHEEEERG (12,446) (11,234)
83,347 100,809
Ageing analysis ARl AT
As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of HERESHR  ALEBREEHERES
promissory notes and a secured bond, net of allowance for (MR EEEERE) BRI BENRE
credit losses, based on the maturity date is as follows: DT
2024 2023
—ECRmE —F-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAET
Mature within 1 year 148 M 2| A7 83,347 100,809
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2024 B ZE — T —_MF=A=+—HILFE

17. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED 17. RBERATTEZHMWHMBEE (@)
COST (continued)
Particulars of the promissory notes and a secured bond RELTRAUAFNERBOARER =

E-_NMER-_E-_="F=F=+—H%#
ERBHERATE2HEMM B EE D HE

classified as other financial assets at amortised cost held by

the Group as at 31 March 2024 and 2023 disclosed pursuant SR D O AT
to Chapter 21 of Listing Rules are as follows:
2024 —E-NEF
Percentage
Place of Net Interest of the total
incorporation/ Amortised carrying  Interest received/  assets of
Name of issuer Operation Cost cost ECL  amount rate receivable the Group
AR/ RARE B/ r&EER
BRITAEHW EESHEY RE BERX BR REFE MxE EUANE EBML
HK$'000 ~ HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx TExT FET TER TER
Guangdong Juhong Technology PRC 30,257 30,383 (3,935) 26,448 6% 124 5.08%
Industrial Park Co., Ltd.* (note i)
EREBMREZXEARAA PE
(Hi3Ei)
Guangdong Yijushang Information PRC 64,837 65,410 8,511) 56,899 6% 570 10.93%
Technology Co. Ltd.* (note i)
ERIZRLESNHARAA hE
(W &EiT)

95,094 95,793 (12,446) 83,347

*  For identification purpose only * ZEER
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17. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED

17. BBERATEZEMMBEE (&)

128

COST (continued)
2023 —EBC=H
Percentage
Place of Net Interest of the total
incorporation/ Amortised carrying  Interest received/  assets of
Name of issuer Operation Cost cost ECL  amount rate receivable the Group
AmBYL/ AHEE B/ AEEHEE
BOAER EERY RA BHERE BE RERE AE EUWAE EBSHW
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx THrL TExT ThE=x TAET
Guangdong Juhong Technology PRC 41,035 45,422 (5,752) 39,670 12% 4,387 12.18%
Industrial Park Co., Ltd.* (note i)
EREBHREXEGRAA M E
GED)
Guangdong Yijushang Information PRC 41,035 43,249 (5,482) 37,767 12% 2,214 11.60%
Technology Co., Ltd.* (note ii)
EXSBLEENEERATA HE
(Bt 3Eii)
Water Wood Limited (note iii) PRC 22,797 23,372 — 23,372 6% 575 7.18%
Water Wood Limited (i ziii) H
104,867 112,043 (11,234) 100,809
* for identification purpose only * EHER
Notes: M EE

Business of issuers and terms of promissory notes and a secured bond

0]

Guangdong Juhong Technology Industrial Park Co., Ltd. is a
comprehensive investment enterprise that focuses on property
leasing, property management, parking lot operation, and
consulting services, covering commodity information consulting
services, hotel management, catering management, largescale
event organization planning services, corporate image planning
services, conference and exhibition services, logistics transportation,
professional alcohol trading market investment, supply chain
financing, market services, and more.

The promissory note of principal amount of RMB28,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$30,257,000) is unsecured, interest
bearing at 6% (2023: 12%) per annum, and repayable with maturity
terms of within 1 year of the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2024 B ZE — T —_MF=A=+—HILFE

17. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED
COST (continued)
2023 (continued)

Notes: (continued)

Business of issuers and terms of promissory notes and a secured bond
(continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Guangdong Yijushang Information Technology Co., Ltd. is based
on high-end IT technology services and focuses on building a
high-tech, efficient, and high-quality professional technical team.
The company is committed to integrating the entire IT resources
and wholeheartedly building the most professional IT service
team in Guangdong Province, providing scientific, accurate, and
user-friendly professional IT technical services.

The promissory note of principal amount of RMB40,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$64,837,000) is unsecured, interest
bearing at 6% (2023: 12%) per annum, and repayable with maturity
terms of within 1 year of the end of the reporting period.

Water Wood Limited is committed to providing investors with
excellent returns through cutting-edge technology, proprietary
quantification algorithms, and excellent risk control modules.

As at 31 March 2023, the secured bond was secured by a private
fund, Mozi Currency Fund SP, held by a related party of Water
Wood Limited. The secured bond was interest bearing at 6% per
annum, and repayable with maturity terms of within 1 year of the
end of the reporting period.

In December 2023, the secured bond of principal amount of
approximately US$2,751,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$22,797,000) was fully redeemed.

18. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

17.

BMERATTECHMMBEE (&)

—%

—=F (B)

iR © (&)

BT AW ER AR EERD B HE S FER

(%)

(ii)

(iii)

EXRSBELEEMEERARNILIRSKIT
RMRE - EERTE— &R
ME - GEROANEERMERK - 227
HORNBEITERNES  2L02NTE
BEREKEENT REERK - ZHHBHE
- AR E T BAMRG -

Tt

el

A & 58 A R 60,000,000 (18 & R 4
64,837,000 70) MEARZE AEEE - F
MR B (B =45 :12%) - B HE
BHRABRESHFRIFEA -

Water Wood Limited 81 /7 72 38 i &K i £ 1T
EEMELCEENEBHNRZEERABRE
HEREEIHHER -

R-ZTE-Z=F=ZA=+—8 ' BEEHFESH
8 Water Wood Limited 89 i 3 A T # A &)
L 2 & & Mozi Currency Fund SP{E # ## -
EEFEFFNERS - BIHERHAR
AMEBRIFA -

RZZTZ=F+=A - £8#2,751,000%
7T (R & R £922,797,000% 7T) &) B K # &
FEE2HED -

18. BAVEFAREMZEAREEE
ZUHBEE

2024 2023
—E-_MEF —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Unlisted equity securities in PRC, at cost R EIIE EMBRAZ S  HHK K 53,225 53,225
Accumulated fair value adjustment EFAFERAE (16,719) (4,921)
36,506 48,304

Analysed for reporting purpose as: RMEENSNAT -
Non-current IE T B — 48,304
Current i & 36,506 =
36,506 48,304
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18. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (continued)

130

18. BAVPEFAEEMEZEAREEE
ZHBEE (&)

Particulars of investments in unlisted equity securities held by BEETHUNFNERBE2AEBER =
the Group as at 31 March 2024 and 2023 disclosed pursuant E-NMERZZE_=F=A=+—8HMH
to Chapter 21 of Listing Rules are as follows: FIELFMRABESREFBEOT :
Percentage
of effective Dividend ~ Percentage ~ Dividend  Percentage
Name of investee Place of interest Accumulated receivable/ of total asset  receivable/  of total asset
companies incorporation held at At cost fair value adjustment Carrying value received  of the Group received  of the Group
2024 2024 2023 2024 023 2024 2023 2024 2024 2023 2023
FERR B/ rEEEEE BY/ f5EAEE
BRENHAR  EMAINE  EREAL BRE At VERE REE LS st BHKE ARl
ZRCRE CRCRE ZRIZE ZRI@E ZRIZE ZRIME ZBIZE ZBIRE ZECRE B ZBICE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
Thn Tén Tén Tén THn Tén Tén Tén
Qingzhou Jigjiafu PRC 7% 29,825 29825 043 (1439) 0412 28,386 - 392% - 872%
Modern Agricultural (2023: 7%)
Group Co, Ltd *
("Jigjiafu") (note (i)
ENFFERRRE wE 7%
§EERARAA (z%z=
(15%8]) 7%)
kL)
Lanzhou Wole Home PRC 0% 23,400 23,400 (7,306) (3482) 16,09 19918 - 3.09% - 6.12%
Furnishing Senvice (2023:30%)
Co, Lta* ("Wole")
(note(ii)
BNBERERE hE 0%
BRAMAT (Z32=f%:
(15£)) %)
(it Gi)
53,225 53,225 (16,719) (4921) 36,506 48,304
e For identification purpose only * EXaT= 4l
Notes: iig=d
(i) Jiajiafu is a modern agricultural development enterprise that 0) RRERe—REHE - BRRFKEE -

integrates green and organic fruit and vegetable cultivation,
processing, and sales, poultry breeding, processing, and sales,
agricultural technology services, farmer credit mutual assistance,
agricultural material distribution and supply, and international
trade.

As at 31 March 2024, the investment in Jiajiafu is measured at fair
value based on Level 3 fair value measurement. The fair value of
Jiajiafu is determined by reference to the valuation carried out by
an external independent valuer by using recent transaction with
reference to the consideration paid by an independent third party
for acquiring the Group's indirect equity interests in Jiajiafu after
the end of the reporting period (details refer to note 42).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2024 B ZE — T —_MF=A=+—HILFE

18. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(0]

(ii)

(continued)

As at 31 March 2023, the investment in Jiajiafu was measured
at fair value and classified as Level 3 fair value measurement.
The fair value of Jiajiafu was determined by reference to the
valuation carried out by an external independent valuer by using
Guideline Public Company method with reference to similar listed
companies and adjusted to reflect the specific circumstance of the
investments. The significant unobservable inputs were as follows:

As at 31 March 2023, the fair value of underlying share was derived
from market multiple — enterprise value to earnings before interest,
tax, depreciation and amortisation (“EV/EBITDA") valuation
methodology using key inputs of 6.0 and further adjusted for
discount for lack of marketability of 20.5%.

If the market multiple of Jiajiafu was 5% higher/lower while all
other variables were held constant, the carrying amount of the
investments in Jiajiafu as at 31 March 2023 would increase/decrease
by approximately HK$1,415,000.

Wole's business focuses on the manufacturing of integrated
cabinets and full house customization, continuously upgrading
the design and improving the intelligent chemical factory that
combines “industrialization” and “informatization”, providing
consumers with beautifully designed, exquisite craftsmanship, and
reliable quality customized home products.

The Group has no significant influence as the Group has no power
to participate in the operating and financial policy decisions of
Wole. The directors have elected to designate this investment
in equity instruments as at FVTOCI on initial recognition as they
believed that this investment was not held for trading and not
expected to be sold in foreseeable future.

As at 31 March 2024, the investment in Wole is measured at fair
value based on Level 3 fair value measurement. The fair value of
Wole is determined by reference to the valuation carried out by
an external independent valuer by using recent transaction with
reference to the consideration paid by an independent third party
for acquiring the Group's indirect equity interests in Wole after the
end of the reporting period (details refer to note 42).

As at 31 March 2023, the investment in Wole was measured at fair
value and classified as Level 3 fair value measurement. The fair
value of Wole was determined by reference to the valuation carried
out by an external independent valuer by using Guideline Public
Company method with reference to similar listed companies and
adjusted to reflect the specific circumstance of the investments.
The significant unobservable inputs were as follows:

The fair value of underlying share was derived from market
multiple-EV/EBITDA valuation methodology using key inputs of 3.8
and further adjusted for discount for lack of marketability of 20.5%.

18. BAVEFAREMEZEAREEE
ZHBEE (&)

B

(i)

(ii)

(&)
(&)
%:%:EEEH_+ A RRREBZ
BEANANFEFE Y EARE=ZHRAF

BHEfE - REXBZRAFEDELEINEE
JEEMEMRES EHARELL2EEMU
ERARMBERETHE - URBRIEED
A8FERN - EENTABEEHAZREBENT ¢

%:%:5¢5ﬂ5+—5'm@%ﬁ\
AFEDNRAEEAERGASBOMEE
H(CEEEYRAE - B\ - MERE
iﬁm%ﬂ(rEV/EBWDAJ)) OfBH % -
WHLERZ T B R E HE,E\EEEZOAS%% A -

WRRBEZMEEZHLEF T BS% -
FrEEMEEESRTE H\JEA*T*:
AT ARRREZREREESS
B3 hn 3w A 491,415,000 7T o

ﬁ%%%%%ﬁf%@ﬁﬂ%@i%'W

Fﬁﬂi&&uﬂf Il EEB/]
HEE 8 %mif RBBERMKES

Bx - TERE -
Ed o

HEEUENERRE

AEEERE2EARLENLE RMBERE
AUAKETEFEEATE)) - EFEE
ENHEREHSILIREREERRAFER
AEEMEAREREEZEZTE - RAE
ERERBURENFFIEEE - BEH
EARREIGHE -

R-TZ-_WME=A=+—B  RHEL>
BRERE="BAVEFEUNRFEHNE -
BTN FEDEREIINEE L HERME
AR ZH®THMEE  TL2ERSEY
KEBUE=Z T RBAEEREFERLE
BREMITOREET (FBEHLEME
42) o

m:%:ziiﬂf+ B REREZE
BURTFEFE  ADBERE=ZRITE
T8 REZAFENK2EINBRB LML
BERERESI LT ARELL2ERLU LD
NAMBERETRAE  URBREKRENAR
ER - EENTAERTREABERNAT ¢

HEROHAFEREERABERE A
& H) T 15 5 2 (EV/EBITDA)3.81E (& 77 & -
WELER = TS M EN 1 AR ER20.5% F LA A& -
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Forthe year ended 31 March2024 B Z — T —_MF=A=+—HILFE

18.

132

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

18. BAFEFTAEH

ftb 2 T R 55 B B2

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(ii)

(continued)

If the market multiple of Wole was 5% higher/lower while all
other variables were held constant, the carrying amount of the
investments in Wole as at 31 March 2023 would increase/decrease
by approximately HK$698,000.

ZHBEE (&)
GERNC)

(i) (#&)

MR 2 HIBEHE LT THS% - WA
EHMBEESTE  AR-_T-_=—F=
A=+ BRRELZEEEEESE D HH
B3R A #9698,0005 7T e

The equity investments are not held for trading, the Company has made
an irrecoverable election upon initial recognition of the investments
to present subsequent changes in the investment's fair value in other

comprehensive income.

The following is the analysis of fair value change of financial assets at

FVTOCI for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023:

%%&ﬁiﬁiFﬁf‘Eﬁ%
A E AL 0
ENRTEEEEY -

REERAR

Eﬁﬁiﬁﬂﬁ i 2 5%

ATRBEATEFAEEMEZHKEERE 2 UK

ﬁé#ﬁi:é:miﬁ:?:iiiﬂi+—

AEFEZRAFEEZDS

2024 2023
—EE —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Unlisted equity securities issued by: AU TARBEITZIF EMRAZS
— Jiajiafu —XREKE (7,974) (1,439
—~Wole — R (3,824) (3482)
— Tianjin Bao Xin Ying Precious Metals Management — REBERECBEEERD

Limited (“Bao Xin")* (8%l )~ — 24

— Guangzhou Da Jian Company Management — BENERCEEEZRNERAA
Consultation Limited (“Da Jian")** (TR ) * — (4,269)
(11,798) (9,166)

*%k

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the shares of Tianjin Bao
Xin Ying Precious Metals Management Limited (“Bao Xin") were
disposed of by the Group to an independent third party.

Bao Xin is a PRC established company and principally engaged in
the trading of precious metals and gold products and investment
advisory in Tianjin, the PRC.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the shares of Da Jian were
disposed of by the Group to an independent third party.

Da Jian is a PRC established company and principally engaged in
providing enterprise management and consulting services in the
PRC.

As at 31 March 2024, the entire balance of financial assets at FVTOCI of
approximately HK$36,506,000 were reclassified from non-current assets
to current assets as the Group reassessed its plans for realisation of the
investments and determined to realise them within one year.
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e M HRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2024 B ZE — T —_MF=A=+—HILFE

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 19. AT Bt A EEBRZEE 2K E

PROFIT OR LOSS B
2024 2023
—EZNFE —E =%
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FE T
Hong Kong listed equity securities, at BEETRAZS -
market value (note a) ZmE (fzEa) 103,068 24,662
Hong Kong unlisted equity securities, at BEREELTRAZS  KME
market value (note a(iv)) (P &E aliv) S S
Investments in convertible bonds, at fair BRERARKES -
value (note b) ZAFEE (HEb) — 15,180
Unlisted equity securities in PRC, at fair REIFETRAES
value (note c) BATE (Mac) 157,714 =
Equity interests in private equity funds, at ~ RI.ZREES 2 BE -
fair value (note d) BRAFE (MiEd) — 10,080
260,782 49,922
Analysed for reporting purpose as: RBEEMHIMBT :
Non-current FET 157,714 =
Current & 103,068 49,922
260,782 49,922
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19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 19. AT Bt A\ EEBRZEE K&

PROFIT OR LOSS (continued) E#)

(@) Particulars of the Group’s major investments of listed @ MBELMRAZFNERZEZAEHEH
equity securities held by the Group as at 31 March 2024 RZE_MNFR-_ZZ=F=FH
and 2023 disclosed pursuant to Chapter 21 of Listing ST —HBHREAEZFELTRARZS
Rules are as follows: KEFBLOT -

2024 —EomE

Accumulated

unrealised Percentage

Percentage gain/(loss) Dividend ~ of the total

Number of  of interest Market  arisingon  Changein  received/ asset of the

Name of investee companies Notes shares held held Cost value  revaluation  fairvalue  receivable Group
EffEEY

EEES £ 559

ige §: g/ AFE  BY/ @ BEE

fREAAER Wi FERGHER  BOL S Wi (B8) 28 RBUKE Al

HK$'000  HK§'000 HKS'000  HKS'000  HK§'000
TEn  TEn TR  TEL  TER

Icon Culture Global Company Limited (i) 42750000 19.7917% 2,070 26,078 (2.992) (2.992) = 501%
("lcon") ordinary
shares
AAHEREEERAA REER
(TXES)
International Genius Company (i) 9564000  1.7132% 13,781 76990 63,209 5394 = 14.79%
("Int'l Genius") ordinary
shares
REER
103,068
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Forthe yearended 31 March2024 B ZE — T —_MF=A=+—HILFE

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

19. RAVPEFAEERSRE2HWBE
B (#)

(@) Particulars of the Group’s major investments of listed @ MBELMRAZFNERZEZAEEH
equity securities held by the Group as at 31 March 2024 RZE_MNFR-IZZ=F=H
and 2023 disclosed pursuant to Chapter 21 of Listing ST —HRBREAEZFELTRARE
Rules are as follows: (continued) BEFBWOT « (&)

2023 —E-=F
Accumulated
unrealised Percentage
Percentage gain/(loss) of the total
Number of  of interest Market ~ arisingon  Changein  Dividend  asset of
Name of investee companies Notes  shares held held Cost value  revaluation  fairvalue  received the Group
EffELL
\ FEEY 148
N fgms  kE/ 0B 1T
BRELAAER Wi FERGERE  BOlk RE ) (G8) £8 GSWRE  Bol
HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn  TER Tér  TEr  TEn
Worldgate Global Logistics Ltd (il 7,500,000 1.1800% 6,015 1,613 (4,402) (4,402) - 0.50%
("Worldgate") ordinary
‘ shares
ERORERAR ([ER]) REBR
Int'l Genius ) 9,564,000 1.7802% 13,781 23,049 9,268 8,225 — 7.08%
ordinary
shares
RERR
Target Insurance (Holdings) Limited (iv) 4,228,000 0.8109% 4,298 - (4,298) - - -
("Target") ordinary
shares
FNRE (BK) ARAT REBR
(1%m))
2,662
Notes: BT -
0] Icon was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted U] RiEhm—FHRIERSEE i AT

company with limited liability under the Companies Law of
the Cayman lIslands and its shares are listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (stock
code: 8500). Its principal activities are rendering of traditional
offline media advertising services, online media advertising
service, and public relations, marketing campaigns and other
services. For the financial year ended 31 December 2023,
the audited consolidated loss attributable to equity holders
of lcon was approximately RMB84,647,000 with basic and
diluted loss per share of RMB0.47. As at 31 December 2023,
its audited consolidated net liabilities attributable to owners
of lcon was approximately RMB14,303,000. No dividend was
received by the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023.

HHAE ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁlm&%
AR - EBROREBEE 3
FTBERA TIWim<%ﬁﬁ
%m)oﬁiy%%ﬁkwﬁﬁ
THREESRE - ﬁiﬁ B % R
BLARAHEBE - %é@&ﬁ
AR %5 %ﬁ:?::¢+:ﬂ
S+-—BUEYREE - RXAAEXE
EAREKERRABENAAR
#84,647,0007C * HFREAR R #EE
BAARBOIT - R-ZT =&
+-A=+—8 " X5EEARENL
HEEREAABFEONBARE
14,303,000 - HE-_T-_=ZF+=
A=+ — B 1EFE A £ B % E KR
BB o
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19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

136

(a)

Particulars of the Group’s major investments of listed

equity securities held by the Group as at 31 March 2024
and 2023 disclosed pursuant to Chapter 21 of Listing

Rules are as follows: (continued)
Notes: (continued)

(i)

(iii)

Worldgate was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as
an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and its shares
are listed on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (stock code: 8292). Its principal activities
are (i) international freight services, (ii) transportation
services and (iii) warehousing services. For the financial
year ended 31 December 2023, the audited consolidated
loss attributable to equity holders of Worldgate was
approximately RM20,402,000 with basic and diluted loss per
share of RM3.22 sen. As at 31 December 2023, its audited
consolidated net assets attributable to owners of Worldgate
was approximately RM36,469,000. No dividend was received
by the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Int’l Genius was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as
an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and its shares are
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (stock code: 33). Its principal activities are
(i) trading of party products and metals and minerals, (ii)
securities brokerage and assets management, advancing
business, credit guarantee and (iii) investment business and
trading of commodities. For the financial year ended 30 June
2023, the audited consolidated loss attributable to equity
holders of Int'l Genius was approximately HK$38,710,000
with basic and diluted loss per share of HK$7.21 cents.
As at 30 June 2023, its audited consolidated net assets
attributable to owners of Int'| Genius was approximately
HK$142,670,000. No dividend was received by the Group for
the year ended 30 June 2023.

At 31 March 2023, investments in Int'l Genius held by the
Group with market value of HK$23,049,000 were pledged to
secure the bonds payable amounted to HK$22,000,000 (Note
23).
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19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

(a)

Particulars of the Group’s major investments of listed
equity securities held by the Group as at 31 March 2024
and 2023 disclosed pursuant to Chapter 21 of Listing

Rules are as follows: (continued)
Notes: (continued)

(iv)  Target was incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability
on 28 August 2014 and its shares were listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(stock code: 6161). Its principal activities are (i) writing of
general insurance business and (ii) property investment. For
the financial year ended 31 December 2022, the audited
consolidated loss attributable to equity holders of Target
was approximately HK$871,417,000 with basic and diluted
loss per share of HK$130.21 cents. As at 31 December 2022,
its audited consolidated net liabilities attributable to owners
of Target was approximately HK$253,612,000. No dividend
was received by the Group for the year ended 31 December
2022. Trading in the shares of Target on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited was suspended since 5 January 2022.
The listing of the shares of Target was cancelled with effect
from 9:00 am on 6 December 2023.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group is interested in 4,228,000
shares of the share of Target with a cost of HK$4,228,000 and
accumulated unrealised loss on revaluation of HK$4,228,000.

The fair values of the Group's investments in listed equity securities
are based on quoted market price, except for the investments in
shares of Target. The fair value as at 31 March 2024 and 2023 of the
shares of Target held by the Group was estimated by the directors
of the Company to be insignificant value, taking into consideration
of the circumstances leading to the suspension of trading since
January 2022 and cancellation of listing in December 2023.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group's investment
in the shares of Worldgate was disposed through the disposal of
a subsidiary of the Group which held the investment. The Group
recognised a loss on change in fair value of financial assets at
FVTPL of approximately HK$1,080,000 in respect of the shares of
Worldgate before the completion of disposal of the subsidiary
during the year. The fair value of the shares of Worldgate at
completion of disposal was determined based on the market share
price of Worldgate's shares as at that date.

The proceeds from disposal of financial assets at FVTPL during the
year ended 31 March 2023 were HK$8,697,000.

19. RAVPEFAEERSRE2HWBE
B (#)

(a)

BEITRAUFNEREZAEER
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B4 A871,417,0008 L © R E XK
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19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

138

(b)

19. RAVPEFAERSRE2HBE
B (#)

Particulars of investments in convertible bonds held by BRELMRAEFNERZEZAEEH
by the Group as at 31 March 2024 and 2023 disclosed RZE_MNFR-_ZZ=F=FH
pursuant to Chapter 21 of Listing Rules are as follows: ST -HABERERATRRESF
BT
Percentage Percentage
Name of Interest ~of thetotal ~Interest ~ of the total
investee Place of Unlisted debt Fair value received/  assetsof  recelved/  assets of
companies incorporation securities, at cost adjustment Carrying value receivable  the Group  receivable  the Group
Bk/ kEBE  BY/ KEEE
RRELNTEE ARRLHE FLTERRS  RAA ATERR i EWRE BERAL RUHE BERSK
2024 2023 2024 2023 2004 2023 2024 2024 023 023
ZECRF CBoCF ZSCRE CTIF CRCRF CFo-F CRCRE ZRCRE DR CRIE
HK$'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000 HK$000
Tén Ténr  fErn  TEn  fEr  TEn  TER TEL
Guanwan Investments Limited ~ BVI
(note (i) 20,000 20000 (20,000) (4820 - 15,180 - - - 4.66%
BERERRAA (H() RBARER
Note: B 51

(i) On 22 December 2014, the Company invested in the
3% unsecured convertible bonds issued by Guanwan
Investments Limited (“Guanwan”) with principal amount
of HK$20,000,000, bearing coupon interest rate of 3% per
annum. Guanwan is an investment holding company which
indirectly hold 100% of the issued shares of its subsidiary, &
NEFBEREBRAF ("EKE"). % is established
in the PRC and principally engaged in designing,
manufacturing and retail of women’s dress in PRC. The
convertible bonds held by the Group were originally due on
22 December 2017 and convertible into 24 fully paid ordinary
shares of Guanwan with a par value of USD1.00 each, which
represented 24% of the enlarged issued shares of Guanwan
as at 22 December 2014, at a conversion price of HK$833,333
per conversion share. The Company could exercise the
conversion option at any time until the maturity date. On 23
December 2017, the maturity date of the convertible bonds
was renewed and extended to 22 December 2020.

On 23 December 2020, the maturity date of the convertible
bonds was further renewed and extended to 22 December
2023. All of the other terms of the convertible bonds
remained unchanged for the above renewals.
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Forthe yearended 31 March2024 B ZE — T —_MF=A=+—HILFE

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

(b)

Particulars of investments in convertible bonds held
by the Group as at 31 March 2024 and 2023 disclosed
pursuant to Chapter 21 of Listing Rules are as follows:

(continued)
Note: (continued)

U]

(continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group's
investments in convertible bonds were in default as
Guanwan failed to repay the convertible bonds on 22
December 2023. As the event of default has happened, the
fair value of the convertible bonds has been decreased to
HK$ nil for the year ended 31 March 2024.

The Group's investments in convertible bonds, represented
by investments in convertible bonds issued by Guanwan,
have debt component and embedded derivatives
components. The investments in convertible bonds were
classified as financial assets at FVTPL upon initial recognition
and recognised at fair value, with changes in fair value
recognised in consolidated profit or loss. The fair value of
the investment in convertible bonds as at 31 March 2023 was
determined by reference to the valuation carried out by an
external independent valuer by using Discounted Cash Flow
Method and Binominal Option Pricing Model. The inputs
were as follows:

Guanwan
2023
Equity component
Underlying share price HK$168,290
Number of shares convertible into 24
Conversion price per share HK$833,333
Time to maturity 0.7 year
Debt component
Interest rate per annum 3%
Bond yield 51.92%
Risk free rate 3.04
Volatility 39.99%

For the year ended 31 March 2023, it was estimated that
with all other variables held constant, an increase/decrease
in the bond yield by 5% would have decreased/increased
the carrying amount of the investment by approximately
HK$355,000/HK$375,000.

No interest repayment on the convertible bonds was
received by the Group during the years ended 31 March
2024 and 2023. The directors of the Company consider there
was no foreseeable cash inflow for the interest receivable,
hence, no interest income on the convertible bonds was
recognised during the year.

19. RAVPEFAEERSRE2HWBE
B (#)

(b)
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S+ —BFRBRERTRRESH

FT - (&)
M ()

0] (&
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+ZAZt+t-HEETRRES

FEBRAIBKREFNREHRR
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355,0005% 7T 375,000 7T °

BE_Z_NER_F_=%=A
=St RLEFEREEYEKRA
BEESNEER - ARRESER
RERMETETERENRESR

B U AN 4R 2 OR R AR R R B 5 A B
LN

Annual Report & i 2024 139



Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited ® & 7S 2 & 2 £ [& 5 [R 2 &)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

Forthe year ended 31 March2024 B Z — T —_MF=A=+—HILFE

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH  19. RAFEH ACEBEEE2HKE

PROFIT OR LOSS (continued) E#)

(¢)  Particulars of the Group's major investments of unlisted © BELETRAIFENEEZEZAEHEH
equity securities held by the Group as at 31 March 2024 AZE_NF=R=+—HFFFIF
disclosed pursuant to Chapter 21 of Listing Rules are as ITTRABESFEZEREFEOT ¢
follows:

Percentage
of effective Accumulated Dividend  Percentage of
Place of interest held fair value receivable/  total asset of
Name of investee companies incorporation at At cost adjustment  Carrying value received the Group ~ Principal activities
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2024 2024 2024 2024 2024 2024
FrsgER 2 ATE Ek/Bh AEELEE
BRREARER aMRILS  EEEAL REA EiLd REE RE Aol TEEE
kel 13 k- S 1 -3 - a1 3 —BoME —BoME —BomE
Zp=t-R ZA=t-R ZA=t-R =ZA=t-R =ZA=t-A =A=1-A
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL FHT FHT FER

Zhonghe Huinong (Beijing) Technology - PRC 27.54% 40,503 (14,136) 26,367 — 506%  Scientific research
Development Co., Ltd* ("Zhonghe and technical
Huinong") (note (i)) services industry

FEER (IR) BEEEERAR HEfRE

([rezel) (M) iR E

Shenzhen Qianhai CIC Dingsheng PRC 30.00% 41402 (13,357) 28,045 — 539%  Rental and business
Investment Consulting Co., Ltd* services
(“Shenzhen Qianhai") (notel(i)

RSP RERRELZHERAE  FE MENEE RS

([RYIEnE) ) ()
Huangbao International Financial PRC 22.85% 38,789 2959 41,748 - 8.02%  Financial industry
Leasing (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd*
("Huanghao") (note (iii)
SEARMENE (R) BRAR  +E tRE
(28 ) (i)

Zhong Ying Hua Xia Investment PRC 30.00% 29,482 (347) 29135 — 560%  Rental and business
Holdings (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd* services
("Zhong Ying Hua Xia") (note (iv))

HRESRERR (RY) BRAR A MEMHERS

([hEEE]) (M)

Hui Tong Yun (Shenzhen) Enterprise PRC 30.00% 32,666 (247) 32419 — 6.23%  Wholesale and
Management Co., Ltd* (“Hui Tong retail business
Yun") (note (v))

ZRZE (M) LEERBRAR i BERTEER

([28Z]) (W)
182,842 (25,128) 157,714
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19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

(@)

Particulars of the Group’s major investments of unlisted

equity securities held by the Group as at 31 March 2024

disclosed pursuant to Chapter 21 of Listing Rules are as

follows: (continued)

Notes:

U]

(i)

Zhonghe Huinong is engaged in technology development,
technology transfer, technology consulting, technology
services, technology promotion and data processing.

The investment in Zhonghe Huinong is measured at fair
value and classified as Level 3 fair value measurement. The
fair value of Zhonghe Huinong is determined by reference
to the valuation carried out by an external independent
valuer by using Guideline Public Company method with
reference to similar listed companies and adjusted to reflect
the specific circumstance of the investments. The significant
unobservable inputs were as follows:

The fair value of underlying share is derived from market multiple
— enterprise value to revenue ("EV/REVENUE") valuation
methodology using key input of 0.4 and further adjusted for
discount for lack of marketability of 20.5%.

If the market multiple of Zhonghe Huinong was 5% higher/
lower while all other variables were held constant, the
carrying amount of the investments in Zhonghe Huinong
would increase/decrease by approximately HK$869,000.

Shenzhen Qianhai is engaged in investment consulting,
business management consulting and economic information
consulting.

The investment in Shenzhen Qianhai is measured at fair
value and classified as Level 3 fair value measurement. The
fair value of Shenzhen Qianhai is determined by reference
to the valuation carried out by an external independent
valuer by using Guideline Public Company method with
reference to similar listed companies and adjusted to reflect
the specific circumstance of the investments. The significant
unobservable inputs were as follows:

The fair value of underlying share is derived from market
multiple — EV/REVENUE valuation methodology using key
input of 0.6 and further adjusted for discount for lack of
marketability of 20.5%.

If the market multiple of Shenzhen Qianhai was 5% higher/
lower while all other variables were held constant, the
carrying amount of the investments in Shenzhen Qianhai
would increase/decrease by approximately HK$1,056,000.

19. ZEATFEFAEEREECUKE

E#)
BEFHRAENERBE 2 AEH
R-ZE-_NWE=A=+—HFHH*
ETRABSEBREFBOT ¢

(0

(&)
MR

U]

(i)
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19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

142

(@)

Particulars of the Group’s major investments of unlisted
equity securities held by the Group as at 31 March 2024
disclosed pursuant to Chapter 21 of Listing Rules are as

follows: (continued)
Notes: (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Huanghao is engaged in financial leasing business, leasing
business, purchase of leased properties at home and abroad
and treatment and maintenance of residual value of leased
properties.

The investment in Huanghao is measured at fair value
and classified as Level 3 fair value measurement. The fair
value of Huanghao is determined by reference to the
valuation carried out by an external independent valuer by
using Guideline Public Company method with reference
to similar listed companies and adjusted to reflect the
specific circumstance of the investments. The significant
unobservable inputs were as follows:

The fair value of underlying share is derived from market
multiple — price to book value valuation methodology using
key input of 1.1 and further adjusted for discount for lack of
marketability of 20.5%.

If the market multiple of Huanghao was 5% higher/lower
while all other variables were held constant, the carrying
amount of the investments in Huanghao would increase/
decrease by approximately HK$1,649,000.

Zhong Ying Hua Xia is engaged in building up a platform
assisting and promoting the mutual cooperation of listed
companies in Hong Kong and domestic enterprises in
China. It helps the domestic small-medium sized enterprises
in restructuring the equity, strengthening corporate
governance and value-added capabilities in order to cope
with the international capital markets.

The investment in Zhong Ying Hua Xia is measured at fair
value and classified as Level 3 fair value measurement. The
fair value of Zhong Ying Hua Xia is determined by reference
to the valuation carried out by an external independent
valuer by using asset-based approach. The underlying assets
of Zhong Ying Hua Xia as at 31 March 2024 are mainly other
receivables and has no operation.

In June 2024, the Group entered into share transfer
agreement with other shareholder of Zhong Ying Hua Xia
for the transfer of its entire equity interest in Zhong Ying
Hua Xia. Details are disclosed in note 42 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

(@)

Particulars of the Group’s major investments of unlisted

equity securities held by the Group as at 31 March 2024

disclosed pursuant to Chapter 21 of Listing Rules are as

follows: (continued)
Notes: (continued)

(v)

(vi)

Hui Tong Yun is engaged in developing ecological
platform that integrates education, industry and finance for
certain major sectors including industrial finance, financial
technology, new retailing, healthcare, education, consulting,
wellness, media and philanthropy.

The investment in Hui Tong Yun is measured at fair value
and classified as Level 3 fair value measurement. The fair
value of Huanghao is determined by reference to the
valuation carried out by an external independent valuer by
using asset-based approach. The underlying asset of Hui
Tong Yun as at 31 March 2024 is mainly other receivable and
has no operation.

In June 2024, the Group entered into share transfer
agreement with other shareholder of Hui Tong Yun for
the transfer of its entire equity interest in Hui Tong Yun.
Details are disclosed in note 42 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group has no voting rights and no power to participate
in the operating and financial policy decisions of Zhonghe
Huinong, Shenzhen Qianhai, Huanghao, Zhong Ying Hua
Xia and Hui Tong Yun (collectively the “New Investees”).
According to the relevant shareholders’ agreements, except
for the dividend rights, the Group has agreed to relinquish
all of its shareholder’s rights, including voting rights of the
shares held by the Group. Since the Group has no voting
right and no power to participate in the operating and
financial policy decisions of the above New Investees, the
directors of the Company have classified its interests in these
New Investees as financial assets at FVTPL in accordance
with HKFRS 9.

19. ZRAVPEFAEBRREEZMBE

E @)
BRELTRANENERBE2AEE
R-ZT-mME=ZA=+—BMKF

(0

(&)

GEX

(v)

ETERAESEEREFBOT :
(#)
ERENEHRTEHE  EX 2
BR—S0NEREFs ETIER
REFEEXSR SRR FT
T BE #HF #FH RE-
. mE o

(vi)

%@%Z&ﬁ%ﬁiﬁﬁ%’iﬁ
BRE-QATVEIE - BBEZ
RNV ETESZINEE G ERE
REEEWREZETHNNGEE - B
—E_WNFE=ZR=+—-BEBREZ
HHREETZAEMBUKARYL
E2E -

MRZZB-MERA - AEBEEZBE
EMEMBRRFT KM EREGE
M%%EF SREN IR o F
BERBERES W BRI T2 -

rEBEHPAER - RYlaE - 2
B PREERZBE (BBA [
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HEEMPBHRERE - RIEHE
BRBZE - REREHEN  AEEED
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19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

144

(d

The Group subscribed Mount Peak Fund SPC  —
Mount Peak Currency Fund SP (the “Currency Fund”)
for approximately HK$10,012,000 at cost, bearing
coupon interest rate of 7.5% per annum. For the year
ended 31 March 2024, the unrealised interest income
for the Currency Fund was approximately HK$336,000
(2023: HK$68,000). The Currency Fund is for investors
with different needs and risks, which match the
corresponding fund products. It has asset management
licenses in Hong Kong and Singapore and offshore
investment manager qualifications in Cayman and the
BVI. The core fund products are hedge funds.

In August 2023, the operation of the Currency Fund
was terminated and subsequently the Currency Fund
was put into liquidation process voluntarily. In February
2024, the terms of the Currency Fund were expired, the
Group's equity interest in the Currency Fund has already
applied for redemption. The liquidation process was not
completed by February 2024 and the redeeming was
not completed on 31 March 2024. As a result of it, the
fair value of the Currency Fund has been decreased to
HKS$nil for the year ended 31 March 2024.

In March 2024, the investment manager of the Currency
Fund (the
as part of the liquidation process, the latest time for

Investment Manager”) announced that,

completion of redemption of the equity interests
held by investors would be falling in April 2024. The
liquidation process was not completed by April 2024.
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19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

(d

(continued))

In early May 2024, the Investment Manager announced
unforeseen circumstances resulting in a delay in the
liquidation process of the Currency Fund, and further
announced there were certain transfer restrictions for
funds transfer to the Currency Fund on the part of the
broker of the Currency Fund (the “Transfer Restrictions
Incident”). The Investment Manager reported that
external consultant and legal advisers were engaged to
conduct an independent investigation into the financial
operation of the Currency Fund. The independent
investigation result revealed that the broker of the
Currency Fund did not provide a positive response
regarding the reasons for the transfer restrictions.
Meanwhile, the Investment Manager proposed a plan to
repurchase the equity interests held by investors of the
Currency Fund.

As at the date of approval for issuance of the
consolidated financial statements, the liquidation
process has not been completed. The Investment
Manager is unable to resolve the transfer restrictions at
the date of approval for issuance of the consolidated
financial statements that could be unfavourable to the
liquidation process and the repurchase of the equity
interests. The directors of the Company estimated that
the prolonged liquidation process and implication of
the Transfer Restrictions Incident indicated genuine
practical difficulties to recover the Group's investment
in the Currency Fund. After assessment, the directors
of the Company determined that the entire carrying
amount of the Group’s investment in the Currency
Fund should be fully written down as at 31 March 2024
as there has been no estimated cash flows for this
receivable.

As at 31 March 2023, the investment in the Currency
Fund was classified as a financial asset at FVTPL upon
initial recognition and recognised at fair value, with
changes in fair value recognised in consolidated
profit or loss. The fair value of the investment in the
Currency Fund as at 31 March 2023 was determined by
reference to the redemption price as the investment
was redeemable at the option of the investor at
US$1,275,336 (equivalent to HK$10,012,000) of
investment cost plus US$95,650 (equivalent to
HK$750,900) of interest at 7.5% per annum on 1 year
after the subscription date.

19. BRAVPEFAEERSRE2HWBE

E #)

(d)

(&)
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20. OTHER RECEIVABLES AND DEPOSITS PAID

146

HittEWRERENEE

2024 2023
—BC-mEF ZEZ=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER FET
Deposits paid (note a) BEftEE (Hita) 154,411 153,105
Other receivables H b & Ug 5 18 958 966
155,369 154,071
Less: ECL allowance (note b) B EHEEEEEE (WiEb) (32,838) (32,431)
122,531 121,640
Notes: st -
(a) As at 31 March 2024, balance mainly represented deposits paid (a) R-ZE-_WNFE=ZA=+—H8 ' £8xE2 4

for potential investments in unlisted equities in PRC with gross
carrying amount of HK$154,411,000 (2023: HK$153,105,000). During
the year ended 31 March 2024, refundable deposits with gross
carrying amount of HK$120,675,000 (equivalent to RMB108,000,000)
as at 31 March 2023 was utilised as the cash consideration for the
acquisition of shares of Zhonghe Huinong, Shenzhen Qianhai and
Huanghao classified as financial assets at FVTPL (see note 19(c));
and with gross carrying amount of HK$59,434,000 (equivalent
to RMB55,000,000) as at 31 March 2024 was subsequently
refunded before the report date. Accordingly, a reversal of ECL
of HK$2,431,000 (2023: Nil) has been recognised in profit or loss
during the year.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, in addition to the ECL of
HK$30,000,000 (2023: HK$30,000,000) recognised in prior years
on deposits paid for potential investments and other receivables
which are categorised as doubtful under the Group's credit risk
grading framework, the directors of the Company estimated
the loss allowance on the remaining deposits paid for potential
investment and other receivables with aggregate gross carrying
amount of approximately HK$124,411,000 (2023: HK$123,105,000)
at the end of the reporting period on an individual basis, at an
amount equal to 12-month ECL taking into account the expected
collection period as the deposits paid are categorised as low risk
under the Group's credit risk grading framework. Thus, an amount
of HK$2,838,000 (2022: HK$2,431,000) was provided for impairment
losses under the ECL model.

Annual Report F ¥ 2024

BEEEE 421E154,411,0008 7T (Z T =4 :
153,105,000 7t) # R B 3F £ AR A& 7
HEZENEE - BE-_ZT_NFE=A
S+t HBLEFE AREREESR-_T=-=
F= A=+ — HRH #8120,675,0007% 7T
(B & K A K #108,000,0007t) A 1E W E »
BARATEF A ECEBZRE U HKEE
WHREEER - FINAIERERENRMHHII
SREB(BMWE190) : BER-F -4
= A =+ — B IR £ {859,434,0007% 7t (48
B A R #55,000,0007T) E&ERE A H
AIERE - At - FRRBEEREHE
EEIE A E24310008 T (Z T = =4 :
) -

HE-_T-_HNF=ZA=+—RHALEE B
TREFERRASECFERRBRITRIER
THEAURHNBEREZEMNZRERHE
fib, FE Y 3K IH /Y 78 HA (= B /& 830,000,000
7T (=& = = 4 : 30,000,000/ 7T) @+ &N
AERRERNEEGTRREHRG T B
EREZENES REMERRENEIE
BB AEYD A124411,0008 T (ZF
— =4 : 1231050008 L) + EEHEER
REABHEEEERE  BRENEES 8
AREEEERRBRIFERTHERR -
MEF REHKRE - Bt - B K EH
2 B BB EX R R A 5 52,838,0007% 7T
—Z - =4 1 2431,00087T) °



Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited ® & 7N R & 2 &£ [# 5 [R A &)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2024 B ZE — T —_MF=A=+—HILFE

20. OTHER RECEIVABLES AND DEPOSITS PAID 20. EttEWHARENRE @)
(continued|)
Notes: (continued) MeE : (&)
(b)  The movements in allowance for impairment of other receivables (b) EmEWREREN RS REREEEZZSHN
and deposits paid are as follows: S €
2024 2023
—B-NE —E_=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FHEL
At the beginning of year R F 1] 32,431 33,475
Impairment losses recognised ERARMEEE 2,838 2,431
Reversal of impairment B ) (2,431) (3,308)
Written-off T 5 = (167)
At the end of year RER 32,838 32,431
21. AMOUNT DUE FROM A SHAREHOLDER 21. EWRERKIE
As at 31 March 2023, the amount due from a shareholder was R-ZEBE-_ZF=ZA=Z+—H  BHUERE
unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand. HEAEER 2o REEKRKEE -
22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 22. ReRkAESEEY
2024 2023
—ECNE —E_=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THER FET
Cash and bank balances ReRRITHERF 16,166 3,997
Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily BRITHERBESARTERNEIRE R
bank deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with MEAME - RITEFEFEALHITEE
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default. Nk 2 EARIFHRIT -
As at 31 March 2024, cash and bank balances of RZEBE-_WNF=A=+—8 > Be& I
approximately HK$5,707,000 (2023: HK$1,075,000) are 17 # 1% #95,707,000% 7t (= & = = F :
denominated in RMB and placed in financial institutions in the 1,0750008 70) LA R E - TR
PRC. RMB is not a freely convertible currency in the PRC and TEEE  ARBETELIETEH
the remittance of funds out of the PRC is subject to the rules H#BH  BeBHPEEETPRHK
and regulations of foreign exchange controls promulgated by T A8 4 R SNEE B I 48 Al lROE R o

the PRC government.

Annual Report £ 37 2024 147



Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited ® & 7S 2 & 2 £ [& 5 [R 2 &)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRME

Forthe year ended 31 March2024 B Z — T —_MF=A=+—HILFE

22.

148

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (continued) 22. BERBELSEEY (&)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities:

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will
be, classified in the Group's consolidated statement of cash
flows as cash flows from financing activities.

MERPELTCABEIHE

TRRAEERETHELEZEBEZD
(BRERERIFRCED) F6 - RERE
PFEECABNARESRENARAKRE S
MERAEBESFEHERERES D AR
BOBRBELTDMECHEREZR
& o

Lease Deposit
liabilities Bonds received Total
HEAE &% glze st
HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000
FHET FHET FET FHETT
At 1 April 2022 R-ZE-_Z_FW™A—H 3,564 2,094 — 5,658
Changes from financing BMERESREL T :
cash flows:
Proceeds Fir 15 3X 18 == 70,270 == 70,270
Repayments BN (2,067) (30,000) — (32,067)
Finance cost paid B B 7 B AR (263) (748) = (1,011)
Non-cash changes: FEEEEH
Finance costs B %5 X R 263 2,569 - 2,832
At 31 March 2023 and RZ-ZEZ=f
1 April 2023 Z=A=+—-BEK
—E-=HWNA—H 1,497 44,185 — 45,682
Changes from financing BMEREREL T :
cash flows:
Proceeds FT 15 318 = 56,600 73,617 130,217
Repayments BN (1,497) (40,000) — (41,497)
Finance cost paid B B 7% Ak A< (185) (3,240) — (3,425)
Non-cash changes: FEESEEH
Finance costs B 75 K AR 185 2,080 - 2,265
At 31 March 2024 R-ZZB-IF
=A=+—H — 59,625 73,617 133,242
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23. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS CHARGES

HitENREREFER

2024 2023

—®-MmE —F-=F

HK$’'000 HK$'000

FHE T FE T

Bonds interest payables JE& & % 7 8 755 1,915

Bonds payables (note (i) EftEx (M3E3) 58,870 42,270

Deposit received (note (i) 2 Uiz e (W sEG)) 73,617 _
Accruals and other payables (note (iii)) JEST & A K& E b fE {5

(B 3 (i) 9,334 6,289

142,576 50,474

Notes:

(ii)

(iii)

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company has entered
into short-term unsecured bond agreements for issuance of
bonds of approximately HK$58,870,000 with independent parties
bearing interest rates from 5% — 15% per annum. All of the bonds
outstanding as at 31 March 2024 are due within one year.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Company had entered
into short-term unsecured bond agreements for issuance of
bonds of approximately HK$20,270,000 with independent parties
bearing interest rates from 5% — 12% per annum. All of these
bonds outstanding at 31 March 2023 was due within one year.
The Company had also entered into short-term secured bond
agreement of approximately HK$22,000,000 with independent
party bearing interest rate at 5% per annum. The bond outstanding
at 31 March 2023 was settled during the year ended 31 March 2024.
The Group had pledged its financial assets at FVTPL for the said
bond.

During the year, the Group received deposit of approximately
HK$73,617,000 from an independent third party for potential
investment by this independent third party in the Company. The
amount is unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on
demand.

The Company has dispute with a creditor that has taken legal
action against the Company. The Company is negotiating with the
creditor to resolve the dispute. In connection with the claims from
the creditor, included in accruals and other payables is a provision
in respect of the claimed amount of approximately HK$412,000
(2023: Nil) as at 31 March 2024 that has been made in the
consolidated financial statements. The directors of the Company
consider no further provision is required.

(ii)

(iii)

BHE-_ZE-_WF=A=+—HLFE -
ARBHRBIFILETESFSEAY
58,870,000 T I s A E K A E H % -
FRERE%ZE% - TAR_ZT_NF=
A=+—BAXREBEEFR —FRIH -

BHE-ZE-_=Z=F=ZA=Z=+—HLFE -
ARBHRBYIFILETEFSCEAY
20,270,000% TR 2 A E K B E HF aE
FERMRAB%EI% - FIAZER _T-_=
FZA=+—"BREEEFN—FRIH -
AN ) IR R 3B 3L 5 7] 3% %8 /& 4922,000,000
BIUEBEEESRE - T KA -
RZZE-_=F=ZA=+—HREEEHR
HE-_Z-_mMFE=A=+—BULFEEMN -
AEEERATMESFEFLRQAFESA
EREREBIHBEE -

FRN - AEEEBLE=TTKRMEBZ
BYE=THARANEERENESH
7361700087 - T HEAEER - 2ER
REREE -

ANREBEEANEEANYD  EEADIHY
ARABIRBERITE - AAF EEEE
ANEBERRUG - BREEANRE -
ARG ERARHEMENRE - A H
BHE-_Z-_ME=-ZA=1+—HZRELED
ANRVOET (ZTE-=F: &) 2 REAL
MBERERELEE - ARREERAEE
e — P -
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24. LEASE LIABILITIES
As at 31 March 2023, the entire amount was due for
settlement within 12 months and hence was shown under

24. HEEE

ﬁé\igiiﬁzﬂ_Jr*El C2EER
RI2EARBBEE - BUELSIRRR

current liabilities. The effective incremental borrowing rate BEET - BERIE 1ﬁ A= Z10% ©
was 10%.
25. SHARE CAPITAL 25. IR
Number of
shares  Share capital
BHEE B A
‘000 HK$'000
T i FAT
Authorised = E
At 1 April 2022 at HK$0.01 each RZZTE-_=_FWA/—AH -
% & RR0.01%8 T 10,000,000 100,000
Share consolidation (note (vi)) f& 19 & o (B 3E (vi) (9,000,000) N/A “ 3 F
At 31 March 2023 at HK$0.1 each R—ZE-_=F=A=+—H
= RK0.1%E T 1,000,000 100,000
At 1 April 2023 at HK$0.1 each RZETE-_=FM1A—H -
78 RR0.17%5 1,000,000 100,000
Increase in authorised share capital #0E T A (B R (vii)
(note (vii)) 2,000,000 200,000
At 31 March 2024 at HK$0.1 each RZE_NEF=HA=+—H
= R0.1%E T 3,000,000 300,000
Issued and fully paid ERITRHAR
At 1 April 2022 RZE-__FWA—H 2,285,579 22,856
Exercise of share option (note (iii) T B AR R (B 5% (i) 175,450 1,754
Placing of new shares (note (iv)) it & #7 A% 9 (B FE(iv) 492,200 4,922
Issue of consideration shares (note(v)) BITRERS (MHiEwy) 650,720 6,507
Share consolidation (note (vi)) B & BF (B 5 (vi) (3,243,555) N/A 3 F
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 RZEZ=F=ZH=+HBK
—E-_=FIWA—H 360,394 36,039
Rights issue (note (i) HAE (B E_]I_ )) 360,394 36,039
Placing of new shares (note (ii) fid & 7 A% 19 (W 5 (i) 144,000 14,400
At 31 March 2024 RZZE-_WE=ZA=+—H 864,788 86,478
All shares issued during the year rank pari passu with the then RERNEBTHMERMNETEEE

existing shares in all respects.
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25. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes:

(0]

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

The Company has raised gross proceeds of approximately
HK$54.1 million before expenses by way of a rights issue of up to
360,394,859 rights shares at a price of HK$0.15 per rights share on
the basis of one (1) rights share for every one (1) existing share held
by the qualifying shareholders on the record date.

The net proceeds from the rights issue, after deducting direct
expenses of approximately HK$197,000 for the rights issue, were
approximately HK$53.9 million.

On 25 January 2024, the Company and the placing agents entered
into the placing agreement pursuant to which the placing agents
agreed to place, on a best effort basis, up to 144,000,000 placing
shares at a placing price of HK$0.65 to not less than six placees who
are independent third parties. On 19 February 2024, the Company
and the placing agents entered into a letter of confirmation to
extend the long stop date of the placing agreement.

A total of 144,000,000 placing shares have been successfully placed
to not less than six placees (who are individual, corporate and/or
institutional investors), who and whose ultimate beneficial owner(s)
are independent third parties. The net proceeds from the placing,
after deducting direct expenses of approximately HK$936,000,
amount to approximately HK$92.7 million, which is intended to be
utilised for repayment of borrowings, general working capital of the
Group and future investment opportunities as may be identified by
the Group from time to time.

A total of 175,450,000 share options with exercise price per share
of HK$0.068 were exercised under the Company’s share option
scheme during the year ended 31 March 2023. The subscriptions
monies from share option holders amounted to approximately
HK$11,931,000. The share allotment for the subscription of
161,950,000 ordinary shares and 13,500,000 ordinary shares were
completed on 14 April 2022 and 17 April 2022 respectively.

On 15 September 2022, the placing agents and the Company
entered into the placing agreement pursuant to which the placing
agents agreed to place, on a best effort basis, up to 492,200,000
new Shares at a price of HK$0.077 per placing share, for and on
behalf of the Company.

A total of 492,200,000 placing shares had been successfully placed
to not less than six placees (who are individual, corporate and/or
institutional investors), who and whose ultimate beneficial owner(s)
are independent third parties. The net proceeds from the placing,
after deducting direct expenses, amounted to approximately
HK$37.5 million, which is intended to be utilised for the general
working capital of the Group and future investment opportunities
as may be identified from time to time.

25. A& (&)

W

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)
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25. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(v) In April 2022, the Company entered into the following agreements:

1. The agreement with an independent third party in respect
of the acquisition of 7% of Jiajiafu at the consideration
to be satisfied (a) by cash of HK$10,928,000 (equivalent
to RMB9,000,000) and (b) by the allotment and issue of
290,720,000 ordinary shares of the Company on 6 April 2022.

2. The agreement with an independent third party in respect
of the acquisition of 30% of Wole at the consideration to be
satisfied by the allotment and issue of 360,000,000 ordinary

shares of the Company on 8 April 2022.

All conditions precedent of the agreements had been fulfilled
and completion of the Agreements took place on 17 January 2023
whereupon a total of 650,720,000 new Shares were issued to the
independent third parties pursuant to the agreements. The closing
price of the Company was HK$0.065 at completion day.

Details are set out in the Company’s announcements dated 6
April 2022, 7 April 2022 and 8 April 2022 and circular dated 10 May
2022 relating to the issue of consideration shares under specific

mandate.

(vi) Share consolidation of every 10 issued and unissued existing shares
into 1 consolidated share became effective from 15 February
2023. Details are set out in the Company’s announcements on 20
December 2022, 4 January 2023, 31 January 2023 and 10 February

2023, and circular dated 10 January 2023.

(vii)  Pursuant to the ordinary resolution passed at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 30 August 2023, the authorised
share capital of the Company was increased from HK$100,000,000
divided into 1,000,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each to
HK$300,000,000 divided into 3,000,000,000 ordinary shares by the
creation of an additional 2,000,000,000 unissued ordinary shares.
Details of which are set out in the circular of the Company dated 31

July 2023.

152  Annual Report 4 5§ 2024

25. A& (4%)

B 3

v)

(iv)

(vii)

(%)

RZTEZ—FWMA  ARAIFTZNATZSE

s :

1. RZTE-_—_FWMANAE H BEIFE
=T RKRBERREI% LHE - R
18 1A (a) 3] £10,928,000% T (18 8
A R %9,000,0007T) K (b)Fd 2 & # 1T
290,720,00008 " A &) E @R E T -

2. R-ZE-__FMANAB r BBIE
=B R m%ﬂim%vﬁ
{8 LA Fig 3% I % 17360,000,000% & A
LEREN -

BEOAB L REGHHEER - HBEER
ZEZ=F—A+tHREK ' WiIREHH
ML E =817 T & $£650,720,0008% ¥7
B o RABREK B UK E E0.065ETT °

HBEEAARRBRA-_T-__FMARN
A ZZ2-_—_FMNAtHRZ-ZZE-_-FNH
ANBHMAEURBEEAE-STS-_—_FHA
THNEEARBEEERETREROH
B e

BIOREBHTRRBETHRAERDEHA
1REMKD  BEZEZ-=ZF-A+HH
BER - FBEERAAFBHAZT ==
F+-—_A=+H ZE=-=F—HFmA -
ZEZ=Ff—A=+t—HBRZZE=Z=%FZ=
ATEMAERBSEE-_T-_=F—A+
HEBE -

BERARARZTE-_=FNA=+HH
ZREBEBFAGRANE L%m*’ﬁ@
# 5% %8 512,000,000,0000% & 3% 17 & @A -
H¢$ A R)JE T B& 2K F2 100,000,000 7T (9 A
1,000,000,0000% & A% EI{H0.108 7T 2 L@ A% )
# 0 Z=300,000,0007% 7T (% %3,000,000,000
REBR) - FEHREARARBBHA-T
Z=FtA=Zt+—HBHHBEX



Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited ® & 7N R & 2 &£ [# 5 [R A &)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2024 B ZE — T —_MF=A=+—HILFE

26. RESERVES 26. f#1E
THE COMPANY AN
Investment
Share  Shareholder's Deemed revaluation  Share option  Accumulated
premium  contribution  contribution reserve reserve losses Total
RHEE RETE RETE REERRE ERERE 2 ER @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR ThL TAL TR THL TAL ThL
At 1 April 2022 R-E--%#mE-H 561,040 10,934 (3,385) - 19,587 (405,673) 182,503
Loss for the year rEEER — - - - - (13,933) (13,933)
Qther comprehensive expense Ep2ERY
Change in fair value of financial assets EATEFALAMZE
at FVTOCl VEREZHBEEL
ATEZY = - - 4921 - - 4921
Total comprehensive expense for the year ~ AEE2ARYAE - = = (4.921) = (13,933) (18,854)
Deemed contribution arising from EYMBLARTERENSE
imputed interests on amounts due from MEfELE
subsidiaries - - 3,385 - - - 3,385
Placing of new shares REFRH 32977 = = = = = 32977
New share placement expenses FROEERS (379 - - - - - (379
Issue of consideration shares BORERR 35,790 - - — - - 35,790
Lapse of vested share options BRBBERELN - - - - (2,130) 2,130 =
Exercise of share options B RE 10,177 - - - (8,021) = 2,15
At 31 March 2023 639,605 10,934 - (4.921) 9,436 (417,476) 237,578
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023
639,605 10,934 - (4.921) 9,436 (417,476) 237,578
Loss for the year rEEER - - - - - (96,814) (96,814)
Other comprehensive expense Ep2ERX
Change in fair value of financial assets BATEFAEAMZE
at FvT0Cl WRRE HBEEL
ATEEY = = = (11,798) - - (11,798)
Total comprehensive expense for the year ~ AEE2EETHE - = = (11,798) = (96,814) (108,612)
Rights issue [ 18,021 = = = = = 18,021
Rights issue expenses HERER (197) = = = = = (197)
Placing of new shares REFRA 79,200 = = = = = 79,200
New share placement expenses TROEERY (936) = = = = = (936)
Lapse of vested share options BEBERES - - = = (1,161) 1,161 =
At 31 March 2024 RZE-WE=A=1-H 735,693 10,934 - (16,719) 8,275 (513,129) 225,054
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26.

154

RESERVES (continued)

The following describes the nature and purpose of each

reserve within owners’ equity:

Reserve

R

26. % (&)
UTAUBEEARSANSHEIHEER
B &2t

Description and purpose

Ha kB

Share premium

IR 9 (&

Shareholders’ contribution
BREFE

Investment revaluation Reserve

REEM-HHEE

Share option reserve

R

Exchange reserve
bE 5

Accumulated losses

REtEE

Annual Report F ¥ 2024

Amount subscribed for share capital in excess of nominal value.

RERAcRBEEE -

Contribution arisen from a financial guarantee by shareholders on 20
January 2020. ) o
BRER-_Z_ZF-A_+tHNUBERELENIE -

Gains/losses arising on recognising financial assets classified as
financial assets at FVTOCI at fair value.
HEAFESHGEERRD B REAFE AERM 2 E K
BREHBEEMNEEz aw BAE -

Cumulative expenses recognised on the granting of share options
to the employees over the vesting period and subscription monies
received from option holders in respect of which shares have not yet
been issued.
AEEHREMEERLIBERERIRAFAINU LA RETHR
N2 B A AWEE R RIE -

Gains/losses arising on retranslating the net assets of foreign
operations into presentation currency

W2 ERETRE #%%Wﬁ?@ﬁﬁ?izw 5/ B8 o

Cumulative net gains and losses recognised in profit or loss.

REmERZ Rt RaEMERFRE -
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27. ACQUISITION OF ASSETS THROUGH

ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 16 October 2023, the Group completed acquisition of
100% equity interest in Hongkong Hong Xuan Co., Limited
at a total consideration of approximately HK$1,438,000.
Hongkong Hong Xuan Co., Limited is principally engaged
in holding a motor vehicle equipped with a cross-boundary
road permit. The transaction was accounted for as acquisition
of assets, rather than business combination as the acquired
subsidiary did not carry out other significant business
and substantially all of fair value of the gross assets is
concentrated in a single identifiable asset.

Assets and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition
were as follows:

27. EBWEHBARKBEE

RZZ_=F+H+RA  AEBZK
WIEEEBFBR AR MI100%E - 42
RE 4143800087 - BAEBHFERA
BAEERERA MEEABERBEA
FHRE - ZRZHARIBWBEEM
HEHAM  RRAEMKENERRL
ARETHMERER  MAEENRYF
BETE2HEFEE—ABINEE -

RBRHERANEERAGBNT

HK$'000

FAT

Plant and equipment W E K& 1,428
Other receivable E b fE W R IE 10
Net assets BEEFE 1,438

Net cash outflow on acquisition of Hongkong Hong Xuan Co.,

WEEERHARARNE S RLFE

Limited
HK$'000
FAET
Cash consideration paid ENRERE (1,438)
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28. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

In March 2024, the Group disposed of its entire equity
interests in China Investments Assets Co., Limited
incorporated in Hong Kong in 2021 to an independent third
party with a cash consideration of HK$1.

The business of China Investments Assets Co., Limited was an
investment company. The reason of the disposal is to simplify
the Group's structure.

Analysis of total assets and total liabilities over which control
was lost is as follows:

28. HEKWBAT

RZE_WF=ZF ' A&EER—FBEL
FZFHEERFPBHKEEERRA A
(R=ZEBE-—FEFBEMAT) 2B
i - MeRERBIBIT -

TEREEEARAFNEBA/ANER
A HENEAEHLAKENRE -

RERHENBEERBREINDOT -

HK$'000
FHET
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFHEHFATERERB Y BEE 533
Other payables and accrued charges Hih et R\ R EFTER (877)
Net liabilities disposed of BEHEAE (344)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary: HEMB AR 2K
Consideration received ERRE —*
Net liabilities disposed of EHEBETE (344)
344
Cash inflow arising on disposal: HEEEZRERA
Cash consideration received BEWEEKE S

*  Amount was less than HK$1,000.
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29.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the
"Scheme”) and terminated the previous share option scheme
pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at an annual
general meeting of the Company held on 28 December 2018
for the primary purpose of providing incentives to directors,
eligible employees and consultants, and the scheme will
expire on 27 December 2028. Under the Scheme, the board
of directors of the Company may, at its discretion and on
such terms as it may think fit, grant to parties including any
employee, director, consultant or advisor of any member of
the Group options to subscribe for shares in the Company
at a price determined by the Board and shall be at least the
higher of (i) the closing price of the shares of the Company
on the grant date; (ii) the average closing price of the shares
for the five business days immediately preceding the date of
grant : and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s shares on
the date of grant. Options granted must be taken up within
21 days inclusive of the day on which such offer was made,
upon payment of HK$1 per option. Options may be exercised
at any time during a period as the Board may determine
which shall not exceed ten years from the date of grant.

29.

B ESTE

BER-_ZE—NF+_A=-_+N\BE1T
ZARNBBRRBFRE LBBKNZER
FERCAQRFERM—BERETE
([ZaT8l)) WL EEIRESTE -
TEETERES  AERKEBREMIE
HEE  ZAEBR_Z-_NF+_A
ZHERIH - BEBEZEFE C AQRE
EgAMBETREREGBENER - |
Z7 (BREASEXNKENEHANEES -
£ BRHIAHFBAA) BETRBAAR
ARMHMERE  EXHESEET
WEELEBOARBIRHDERE L BB
WmE: (W EEREEBBHTA@EE XA
2B EHKTE - RiilA R RRG &
REBH 2EE (ARSE AE) o ff
HHEREEARNBEREN 2B (BF%E)
BAARXKKNES WS HBERE S &1
B o BREITNESSETCHHBEA
BERFTTE - ETNSEBBERLHEBEEBTF -
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29.

158

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continuec) 29. RixRESTEl (@)
The following table discloses movements of the Company’s TERBERERBEE_ZT_MNFR_FT_=
share options granted under the Scheme during the years FZA=+T - BAILLFERRXEEL
nN= 0 f2E #h o
ended 31 March 2024 and 2023: WA AR R 2 28
Number of share options
BRELE
Granted and
accepted Exercised Lapsed  Adjustment At
Date of Exercise price At 1 April during the during the during the on rights 31 March
Category grant Exercise period per share 2023 year year year issue 2024
R=%== FRRH R-F-B%
EH RiAM 4 BRTEE BA-H RE#H ERfTE EREN #RAE ZA=+-8
HKS
B
Non-executive directors
FNITES
Han Zhenghai 2/8/2021 3/8/2021-2/8/2024 397t 882,185 — - — 28115 1,110,900
BIR
Deng Dongping 2/8/2021 3/8/2021-2/8/2024 3971 882,185 - - — 28115 1,110,900
¥R¥
Liu Lihan (vi) 21812021 3/8/2021-218/2024 3971 882,185 - - (1,110,900 28,115 —
B E )
Independent non-executive directors
BUkHnES
Mo Li 2/8/2021 3/8/2021-2/8/2024 397t 88,218 — - — 22810 111,088
EH
Shi Zhu 1112022 8/1/2022-7/1/2025 0.540* 100,000 - - — 25926 125,926
At
Employees 2/8/2021 3/8/2021-2/8/2024 3971 352,874 - - — 91,486 444,360
&8
Total 3,187,647 - - (1,110,900 826,427 2,903,174
Weighted average exercise price, 4.8645 — - 39710 38222

based on the exercise price at
the dates of grant and exercise
(HKS) o

METHTRE  ERRERITRA
BnikE (B
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29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

29. BIRESTE ()

Number of share options

BREHA
Granted and
accepted Exercised Lapsed  Adjustment At
Date of Exercise price At 1 April during the during the during the on share 31 March
Category grant Exercise period per share 2022 year year year  consolidation 2023
R=B=zf FRRH R-BZZH
ER RHAH TS ERTEE mA-A RES ERfiE FR%N BRHAHIE ZA=t-8H
HKS
BT
Non-executive directors
FHTES
Han Zhenghai 2/8/2021 3/8/2021-2/8/2024 0.5* 8,821,857 — — — (71.939,672) 882,185
RIS
Deng Dongping 2/8/2021 3/8/2021-2/8/2024 0.5 8,821,857 — — — (7.939,672) 882,185
Liu Lihan 2/8/2021 3/8/2021-2/8/2024 0.5* 8,821,857 - - - (7939,672) 882,185
BuE
Yang Xiaogiu (i) 2/8/2021 3/8/2021-2/8/2024 0.5* 8,821,857 - - (8,821,857) - —
BB
Yan Peng (ii) 2/8/2021 3/8/2021-2/8/2024 0.5* 8,821,857 — — (8,821,857) — -
B i)
Li Jiangtao (iii) 2/8/2021 3/8/2021-2/8/2024 0.5* 8,821,857 — — (8,821,857) — —
ZEE(ii) 1172022 8/1/2022-111/2025 0.068* 13,500,000 —  (13,500,000) - - —
Zhu Zhikun 71112022 8/1/2022-7/1/2025 0.068* 22,000,000 — (22,000,000) — — —
RRg
Gao Yun () 7112022 8/1/2022-7/1/2025 0.068* 22,000,000 —(22,000,000) - - —
BE(W)
Independent non-executive directors
BUHTES
Mo Li 2/8/2021 3/8/2021-2/8/2024 0.5* 882,185 — — - (793,967) 88,218
B
Kan Yan Kit (i) 2/8/2021 3/8/2021-2/8/2024 0.5 882,185 — - (882,185) - -
58 B i) 71112022 8/1/2022-7/1/2025 0.068* 1,000,000 — — (1,000,000 - -
Lok Chiu Chan (v) 2/8/2021 3/8/2021-2/8/2024 0.5* 882,185 - - (882,185) - —
RREW 71112022 8/1/2022-7/1/2025 0.068* 1,000,000 — — (1,000,000 - -
Shi Zhu 71112022 8/1/2022-7/1/2025 0.068* 1,000,000 — — — (900,000) 100,000
A
Yuan Wei (v) 71112022 8/1/2022-7/1/2025 0.068* 1,000,000 — — (1,000,000) — -
REW)
Employees 2/8/2021 3/8/2021-2/8/2024 0.5* 8,821,850 - - (5,293,110 (3,175,866) 352,874
[E8
Consultants
B
Consultant A 2/8/2021 3/8/2021-2/8/2024 0.5* 882,185 — — (882,185) — —
BHE
Consultant B 2/8/2021 3/8/2021-2/8/2024 0.5* 882,185 - - (882,185) - —
BRZ
Total 127,663917 — (575000000  (38,287421) (28,688,849 3,187,647
@it
Weighted average exercise price, 02919 - 0.0680 0.4662 4.8645
based on the exercise price at the (note 2)
dates of grant and exercise (HKS) (H3t2)

NETHAEE - ERELR
AEEBNGEE (57)

Annual Report & i 2024 159



Capital Realm

Financial Holdings Group Limited e & A R & = & E AR 2 A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRME

Forthe year ended 31 March2024 B Z — T —_MF=A=+—HILFE

29. SHA
(0]

(ii)

(iii)

Notes:

160

RE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
Resigned on 13 February 2022

Resigned on 30 December 2021
Resigned on 6 April 2022
Resigned on 7 September 2022
Resigned on 22 July 2022
Resigned on 6 October 2023

As at the dates of grant and exercise, the exercise prices of the
share options were HK$0.5 and HK$0.068. As a result of the share
consolidation effected on 15 February 2023, the exercise prices
were adjusted to HK$5.00 and HK$0.68 respectively. As a result of
the rights issue on 11 August 2023, the exercise prices were further
adjusted to HK$3.971 and HK$0.54 respectively.

Upon acceptance of the share options, the grantee shall pay
HK$1.00 to the Company as consideration for the grant. The
Company has received such consideration from the respective
grantees.

The weighted average closing price of the shares immediately
before the date on which the options were exercised was
HK$0.0837.
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(ii)

(iii)
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29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

29. BRRESE (&)

The weighted average remaining contractual life for share
options outstanding at the end of the reporting period is 0.44
year (2023: 1.36).

The total number of securities available for issue under
the share option scheme as at 31 March 2024 in respect of
outstanding share options granted but not yet exercised was
2,903,174 (2023: 3,187,647) shares which represented 0.34%
(2023: 0.88%) of the issued share capital of the Company as at
31 March 2024.

On 2 August 2021 and 7 January 2022, the Company issued
equity-settled share-based payments to certain directors
and grantees as encouragement. Equity-settled share-based
payments were measured at fair value (excluding the effect of
non market based vesting conditions) at the date of grant. No
vesting condition was imposed and the share options were
exercisable immediately on grant date. The fair value of the
equity-settled share-based payments were determined as at
the date of grant and recognised as expenses when the share
options were accepted by the grantees. The total estimated
fair value of the share options was HK$12,812,280, which had
been expensed in profit or loss and credited in the share
option reserve during the year ended 31 March 2022.

R B R R 17 50 BB I WE 2 D0 S 39 &
BANFEREME (S - =F :136
F) o

R-ZBE-_ME=A=+—H8  BIR#E:T
SETHERBERITENEITEIING
fi% #E BT 317 2 7B FH B R2,903,174%
By (ZZF = =4 : 3,187,647 I& {7)
HERARRR -_ZE-_MFE=RA=+—
BZE#TRA03MS (ZT - =F
0.88%)

RZBE-Z_—FNAZBR-BE-__F—
BtH  ARFAMEBETESERERAE
HEZEEURDNRIEAEE - #x
HEURODAERAKRL BBRZAFER
E(TEREUEMTSAEER BB GG
28 - HiEMmMEmEBEYG - W
BRETRNELDBHAEITE - a4
BUBRBHRZAFERKRLESHET -
WREARAEZEMNBERESERARAS -
BE_ZET-_—_F=ZA=Z+—BItFE -
B E 2 Bt A FE4RE12,812,280% 7T
EREEPIHE - Wt ABRERE -
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30.

31.

162

NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE 30.
Net asset value per share is HK$0.437 as at 31 March 2024

(2023: HK$0.759) which is calculated by dividing the net assets
included in the consolidated statement of financial position

of approximately HK$378,125,000 (2023: HK$273,676,000) and

the number of ordinary shares in issue as at 31 March 2024,

being approximately 864,788,000 (2023: 360,394,000).

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 31.
(@) Compensation of key management personnel, including
the directors and other members of key management,
during the year is as follows:

BREEZFE
R-ZZE-_ME=A=1+—"H8KEE
H (04378 L (= T = = F : 0.7595

L) DA AEEAEUERIRZEE
18 #9378,125,000% T (= T — = F
273,676,000% Jt) Br LA R = T — 0 F
A=+ BZEBTLETERHEE YD
864,788,000/% (= & = = £ : 360,394,000
BR) 5T & o

BREALXRS
() FTEEBAB (BEEFRAME
ZEBERE) FAMSET :

2024 2023

—E-ME ZEZ=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FER FET

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥4 ~ ZELREWHH 1,860 1,723

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in
note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.
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31.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 3. BEAXRS (#)
(b) During the year, the Group entered into the following b) FRW K&K EA B A £ 5T 3 A
transactions with related parties: RS :
2024 2023
—E-mE ZEZ=F
Name of related party Nature of transaction HK$'000 HK$'000
HMEALER RENE TR FET
Evergrande Securities (Hong Kong) Investment manager fee
Limited (Note i) 480 480
BXES (F8) BRLQA (M) REKEER
Note: BT -

(i) The executive director of the Group, Mr. Chan Cheong Yee
is one of the representatives of Evergrande Securities (Hong
Kong) Limited. The investment management agreement is
effective from 1 December 2021.

32. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

The Group has participated in a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the "MPF Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
for all eligible employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the
MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group, in
funds under the control of trustee. Under the scheme, each of
the Group (the employer) and its employees makes monthly
contributions to the MPF Scheme at 5% of the employees’
earnings as defined under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme Ordinance. The contributions from each of the
employer and employees are subject to a maximum
contribution of HK$1,500 (2023: HK$1,500) per month with
effective from 1 June 2014 and thereafter contributions are
voluntary. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the
contributions payable in the future years.

The total contributions charged to the consolidated income
statement amounted to approximately HK$8,000 (2023:
approximately HK$105,000), representing contributions
payable to the MPF Scheme by the Group in respect of the
year ended 31 March 2024.

32.

(i) AEERTESHMERLEREX
BH (BB BRARNREZ— -
REEEBMEA _S-_—4F+_-A8
—B#EER -

EBARERGE

NEBILBEFMERNB LA EIE0 AR
ERERBARESHTHEMETGRRE
ANESE ([RESHE]) - BES
HECEERASECEESH - BE
ARG ZESHEE - BREZTE - &
EE (X)) NEREESERBRER Z
FE (EERRFMEIABEHEKEL) 2
5%FAMBESEEHER - A=
—MENA—BE BEXIREEZAZ
HERSEE AT A15008T (ZT - =4F
1,500%87C) © WRZERBEARE - W&
BRI FIAR DR R FE A ZHK -

AP AR S Wat & 2 B4R E8 498,00078
7T (ZF Z = : #£105000/% 7T) - 8
AEERBEE-_T-_MF=A=+—H
FEERMNRESA B ZHRK -
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SR
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OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

At the end of the reporting period, the minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases for leased
premise which were not recognised as right-of-use assets
were payable as follows:

<5

ReHERRE
RBEHR - RETATHEECEHEN
HENE (TERIARERREE) BN
ZREBEESREBELD

2024 2023

—E-MEF —EZ=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

TR TET

Within one year —£R" 1,671 2,378

The Group leases office for its operations. Lease agreements
are typically made for average fixed period of 1 year (2023:
1-2 years). Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
In determining the lease term and assessing the length of the
non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of
a contract and determines the period for which the contract
is enforceable. The lease agreements do not impose any
covenants and the leased assets may not be used as security
for borrowing purposes.
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on 28 June 2024.

R IR TB

Han Zhenghai Chan Yiu Pun Clement
BIES 4
Director Director
EF EF
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34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE  34. RARMBRRER
COMPANY
2024 2023
—E_NE —ZE-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FET
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment mE - BELHZE — —
Investments in subsidiaries KRB AR Z®RE 1 1
Financial assets at fair value through other A FEFALEEMEE
comprehensive income WHEE MK EE = 48,304
Financial assets at fair value through BRATEFALERRERE
profit or loss ZHBEE 96,160 -
96,161 48,305
Current assets REBEE
Financial assets at fair value through other A FEFALEEME2E
comprehensive income WRERE L MBEE 36,506 —
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFALERRE
profit or loss LHBEE 103,068 49,922
Other receivables and deposits paid HupWHERENZS 121,571 120,674
Other financial assets at amortised cost REHEK AT E 2 EME
BEE 83,347 100,809
Amount due from a shareholder JiE W % R FR A — 949
Cash and cash equivalents ReMBEFEDY 10,258 2,795
354,750 275,149
Current liabilities nEEeE
Other payables and accrued charges HiEARERETER 139,379 49,837
Net current assets REBEEFE 215,371 225,312
Net assets EERE 311,532 273,617
Equity B &
Share capital & A< 86,478 36,039
Reserves 18 225,054 237,578
Total equity M 311,532 273,617
Approved and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors KEEeR _ZT-_NEF AT NA\B#

165



Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited ® & 7S 2 & 2 £ [& 5 [R 2 &)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRME

Forthe year ended 31 March2024 B Z — T —_MF=A=+—HILFE

35. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 35. BERBS2HMBEERMBEE
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY BE
The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair TRINTHFANFTREAEB M B EE
values of the Group's financial assets and liabilities as defined RBEsEEBERATHE :
in note 4(h):
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
Carrying Carrying
amount  Fair value amount  Fair value

fREE AF¥E REE ¥ E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$"000
THERT TER TER TET

Financial assets: MBEE :
Financial assets at fair value through ~ EAFEFH AT HEMEE
other comprehensive income WHEEBHBEE
- Unlisted equity securities —FLTRAER 36,506 36,506 48,304 48,304
Financial assets at fair value through A FEF ATERERE
profit or loss CHBEE

- Unlisted equity securities —FLTRAER 157,714 157,714 — —

- Investments in convertible bonds —RERATARES — — 15,180 15,180

— Listed equity securities —EFTRAES 103,068 103,068 24,662 24,662

— Private equity funds -RLEREES = == 10,080 10,080

Financial assets measured at amortised 1% $8 ik A 5F 2 2 81 7%

costs BE
— Other receivables and deposits paid ~ — H ftb fE I3 IE & E 17
g 122,531 122,531 121,640 121,640
— Amount due from shareholder — YRR FKIE — — 949 949
— Promissory notes (2023: promissory ~ — & i, R &
notes and a secured bond) (ZEZ=%F . &H
EEREHEFER) 83,347 83,347 100,809 100,809

- Cash and cash equivalents -RekBeEEY 16,166 16,166 3,997 3,997

Financial liabilities: BEaE:

Financial liabilities measured at BREBHKAGTEZ

amortised costs HBamE 142,576 142,576 50,474 50,474

The following table provides an analysis of financial TRINTEATFEZREH LA TFET

instruments carried at fair value by level of fair value hierarchy: BzHMBIAESN :

Level 1:  Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for F—: HRAEEXBEZERTS®R
identical assets or liabilities; B (RieFHEK)

Level 2:  Inputs other than quoted prices included within E_M - BE¥ (BIER) skHE (XA
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, BR)WEELABEZAER
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. WABUE - MIEE—RABEE
derived from prices); and WwE &

H
[l
2y

Level 3:  Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based C WHERATBEERMSHBENE
on observable market data (unobservable inputs). EXBEZH ASE (T8
Rz@ ABIE) -
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35.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND

35. BERBS 2 HMBEERMBEE

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY (continued) BE ®)
2024
—ECDmF
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
% gt ] E=ZR )
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHERT THERT THERT THER
Financial assets at fair value through BRAFEFAEEMEE
other comprehensive income MERECHKEE
- Unlisted equity securities —ELETRAE S = - 36,506 36,506
Financial assets at fair value through BRAFEFAEBRZEE
profit or loss ZHBEE
- Listed equity securities - EWRAE S 103,068 == == 103,068
- Unlisted equity securities —FELETRAEH — — 157,714 157,714
103,068 — 194220 297,288
2023
—E-=F
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—® B8 E=® EEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET
Financial assets at fair value through R AFEFAGEHEMEE
other comprehensive income RERBE2HKEE
— Unlisted equity securities —EETRAES = == 48,304 48,304
Financial assets at fair value through A FEFAEEBZEE
profit or loss LHBEE
- Listed equity securities - EmRAES 24,662 = == 24,662
— Investments in convertible bonds - HERABRES — == 15,180 15,180
- Private equity funds -AEREES = == 10,080 10,080
24,662 — 73,564 98,226
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35. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY (continued)

Reconciliation for financial instruments carried at fair value
based on significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) are as

follows:

Financial assets

35. BERIBA 2 MBEERMBAR
BE @)
REEATATREHARE (F=H) U
AVEFIENSBTAZHENT :

Financial assets

Financial assets

Financial assets

at FVTPL at FVTPL at FVTOC at FVTPL
Investmentsin ~Investmentsin Investmentsin  Investments in
convertible  unlisted private  unlisted equity  unlisted equity
bonds equity funds securities securities Total
RATEFA
BATEGA BATEGA REAMEE RATEFAE
ERERBZ ERHEREY WERBZ EREEZ
HHEE: HBEE: HHEEE: HHEE:
RTRR  RELTAE  RELTRA  RELTRA
E5RE REESRE RERE R5RE At
HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
Tén TER Tén TER TER
At 1 April 2023 RZE-=5WmA-A 15,180 10,080 48,304 - 73,564
Additions mE - 268 - 182,842 183,110
Total (loss)/gain @ (B8) /ha
~ in profit or loss (note (3] -REE (W) (15,180) (10,348) = (25,128) (50,656)
- in other comprehensive income -REM2ERE
(note (o) (B (b)) = = (11,798) - (11,798)
At 31 March 2024 RZE-ME=A=1-H — - 36,506 157,714 194,220
Loss recognised in profit or loss relating ~ HASERREAHERE
to financial instruments held by the FRUBIERBAS
Group at the end of reporting period B Z BB (15,180) (10,348) - (25,128) (50,656)
At 1 April 2022 RZE--_%NA-H 16,280 - 4,297 - 20,577
Additions RE — 10,012 53,225 — 63,237
Disposal & - - (52) - (52)
Total gain/{loss) from change in NEEEHz AN/
fair value (B#)
- in profit or loss (note (a)) - ER (K@) (1,100) 68 — — (1,032)
- in other comprehensive income -REBRENE
(note (o) (K& (b) — - (9,166) - (9,166)
At 31 March 2023 RZZZZ§=R=+-A 15,180 10,080 48,304 — 73,564
(Loss)/gain recognised in profitorloss ~ BHAZERRERHERE
relating to financial instruments held FREBIARERS
by the Group at the end of reporting ~~ B#2 (B8) /&
period (1,100) 68 - — (1,032)
Notes: M 5
(a) Included in the change in fair value of and net realised gain/(loss) (a) AARAFEFALEERSZEEBZWEEE

AFEZEH R EEA T ALRS
REIHBAEZERRKES (BB
-

on disposal of financial assets at FVTPL.

(b) AAFHKREERZEMEE KT -

Included in the OCl related to investment revaluation.
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36.

37.

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group completed
the acquisition of investments in unlisted equity securities
classified as financial assets at FVTPL from independent
third parties and settled part of the consideration of these
securities by deposits paid of HK$120,675,000 (equivalent to
RMB108,000,000).

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group completed
the acquisition of investments in unlisted equity securities
classified as financial assets at FVTOCI from independent
third parties in respect of the consideration which comprised
cash consideration which was settled by refundable deposit
of HK$10,872,000 (equivalent to RMB9,000,000) and share
consideration portion which was settled by the allotment
and issue of the equity shares of the Company; with a total
amount recognised in shareholders’ equity of the Group
in respect of the new shares of the Company issued as
consideration shares amounting to HK$42,297,000.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group's major financial instruments include equity
investments, promissory notes and a secured bond, other
receivables and deposit paid, amount due from a shareholder,
cash and cash equivalents, other payables and accrued
charges. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in
the respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments and the policies applied by the Group to mitigate
these risks are set out below. Management monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented
in a timely and effective manner.

Interest rate risk

Except for the cash and cash equivalents which carry
floating interest rate, the Group has no other significant
interest-bearing assets or liabilities with floating rates. The
Group's income and operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest rates.

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group's fair value interest
rate risk relates to its fixed-rate promissory notes (see Note
17(i) and (ii)), secured bond (see Note 17(iii)), convertible bond
(see Note 19(b)), Currency Fund (see Note 19(d)) and bonds
payables (see Note 23). The Group currently does not have an
interest rate hedging policy. However, management monitors
interest rate exposure and will consider other necessary
action when significant interest rate exposure is anticipated.

36. TEHFRERSH

37.

HE-_ZT_NMNF=/A=+—HLF
B AEEBZKEOBILE=FKRES
BARATEFTACERREENN K
BEMIELTRAZLSRE - BHAE
7 % €©120,675,0007% 7T (1 & ™ A R
mmmmmﬁﬁﬁ&ﬁ%%%% (o
{g °

HEZZ-_=F=A=+—HLFE
$%lmﬁﬁﬁ*“_ﬁW%”%ﬁﬁ
AFEFAEEME2EREEENYT B
BEMIFELITRAZSRTE  RESE
R & R E (LAF R E % £10,872,000% 7T
(B8 ® A R #9000,0007T) &) &
MREBD ARBERETARRED
HERM) «  RIEARERMBITHAR
NEFRORAEBERREESERAE
/342,297 0005 7T °

MR EERERBUR

AEBETEV B TABREAKRE - &
REBRREEMES - HMEBRFER
EffRE  BURKRRFE  ReERE
FEY - EMENREREFER - &
¥W$IEZﬁFFW@W?H§Oﬁ
MRS TAZER M AEEBUR
ﬁh?ﬂﬁZﬁ REHNWMT - BEEEE
ERERBRNERERREUNERSE

Iy

ERi

AEEB

BRIRS RIASSEMNFBF R BN -
REBWHmAMMEERFNEGF B Z2ERKR
MEEEXABRE - AEERARKLER
EMERLIVBEBLIRT SR EES) -

R_ZE_WNER_TE-_ZF=ZA=+—
B A&EBRQRFENERR ﬁ&ﬁlm
=& ZE (B 170) R Gi) ~ B
WEH (B sE1730) - —H@fo':%} (&
BiEE19(0)) « EEES (RHFE19d) &
ENES (RHE23) « REBE BRI &
FIREAHBE - Al - EEEBERF X
B TEEBEAHBREAFNEARE
EERDEMNKETE -
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37.

170

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

Assuming the balance at 31 March 2024 was the amount
for the whole year, if the interest rate on cash and cash
equivalents was 50 basis points higher or lower and all
other variables were held constant, the Group's loss for the
year ended 31 March 2024 would decrease or increase by
approximately HK$81,000 (2023: decrease or increase by
approximately HK$20,000).

Foreign exchange risk

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from
various currency exposures, primarily with respect to the
Renminbi (“RMB”). Foreign exchange risk arises from future
commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities and
net investments in foreign operations.

The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign currency

37. BXAREEEEREE (£)

BBRE DN
BENR—_BE-_NE=A=+—B &%
DEFEZHRE  WHREaEESEZED
FIE EFtsk NRESOMES - MATA &AM
BHERZTE  AAKEBEHZE-ZT 1
FZAZ+T—HLEFEZEBEBEBR DK
# 81,0008 T (Z T - =4F : sk ig
hn20,0007 75)

S EE R B

AEBARKRBZEEE ZINERR -
HPETEEBKEARE - HMERRK
BEINEBZAREBERS - EHRE
ERBBARKREHE -

AEERZHREBHUAIINESHENTE

denominated monetary assets and liabilities at the respective EEMBEEREENOT
reporting dates are as follows:
2024 2023
—ECmE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FET
Assets BE
Other financial assets at amortised cost AN B8 518 1% 8 85 P AR 5T
denominated in RMB EZHMMBEE 83,347 77,437
Other receivables and deposits paid AANREEHE 2 E b FE WK
denominated in RMB AREfMERE 122,531 121,640
Cash and cash equivalents denominated in UWARHEZR & EE S
RMB FEY 6,280 1,488
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 37.
AND POLICIES (continued)

Foreign exchange risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table shows the sensitivity analysis of a 5%
increase/decrease in RMB against the Hong Kong dollars, the
effect in the loss for the year is as follows:

M¥EREEEERBE (#)

SNEmLBR (%)

BRESN
TRITAREEBITAERE%H
REREBRZEZHREDN

Impact of RMB

ARBZEE
2024 2023
—ECpmF —B-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THER FHET
Decrease/increase in loss for the year REEFEBER D L 10,608 10,028

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from
investments in convertible bonds, private equity funds,
investments in PRC unlisted equity securities and investments
in Hong Kong listed equity securities, which were classified as
either financial assets at FVTOCI (note 18) or financial assets
at FVTPL (note 19) on the consolidated statement of financial
position. To manage its price risk arising from investments in
financial assets, the Group diversified its portfolio.

IR A E 4% LB

AEBAZBEARERRER - TIRERE
EMBRRARP OB REAFEFT AL
Hitv2mEBR@EE M EEE (FH5:E18)
FRAFEFAEBREREZHMBEE
(MEE19) 2 AT REHKRE « BB
E®  RPBEFLTRABZFRERRN
BRLTRAELRKRE - REEREY
BEEMELZERAR @ AEEDH
HIREHE -
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37.

172

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Equity price risk (continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every 5%
(2023: 5%) change in the fair value of the financial assets with
all other variables held constant and based on their carrying
value amounts at the end of the reporting period.

37. BXAREEEEREE (£)

Impact of investments

IR AERE RS (&)
TRHEPETBEHMOBEHEFTIEZE
MT > REVEEERRESPARAZER
BEeBHE AFEEEH% (ZF
= 5%) ZHRKE

Impact of investments

Impact of financial Impact of financial ~in Hong Kong listed  Impact of investments ~in unlisted private
assets at FVTOCI assets at FVTPL equity securities in convertible bonds equity funds
RATEFAEADLZE RAVEHARRE RERLTRAZEH REFLTHERE
hERB MBEEYE RECUREENE REYE RETBRESNTE Eenye
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
CRIRE CECCF CRIRF CFCCF CRCME TR CRCRME CSCCF DRCME ZFCCF
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HKS$'000
TEnL THAT Tz TEr TEx TEx TEr ThEx FER FEn
Increase/decrease in loss AEEEELEN/
for the year B = = 7,886 = 5,153 1233 = 759 = 504
Increase/decrease in other equity 41 % EEE M,/
reserve V-2 1,825 2,415 - — - — - — — —
Credit risk FEmbE
The credit risk for bank deposits and balances is considered HREFHARINBEETIRR ﬂ Ngs
negligible, since the counterparties are reputable banks with RIFOIRTT - ALRITERREFHE
high quality external credit ratings. B R wAR RN -
In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group has a systematic REEERRBAERE  AEBREBZR

internal credit management policy, which includes both credit
and risk management and collection management.

Before placing an investment in a debt instrument or an
advance to a counterparty, the Group conducts a credit
risk assessment on each of the counterparties, including
assessing the potential credit quality, defining credit limits
and calculating the interest rate by considering the underlying
financial risks. The Group subsequently performs on-going
review on the recoverable amount of each individual financial
assets at the end of the reporting period to ensure that
adequate derecognition process is made for any irrecoverable
amounts and impairment loss under ECL model is recognised
for future potential loss.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group uses the following benchmarks to perform internal
credit risk grading and impairment assessment under ECL

37. AR EEEEREE (£)

EERK (&)

AEBEERANTEEETRBEERSR
BRAIET 2 AEBEE R R TR KR (E T

model: (G

Level of credit risk Benchmarks ECL assessment requirement

= & & B ok F BE% FHEEBRFMGEER

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default 12-month ECL
and does not have any past-due amounts.

15 & 2 RHHEFNENRREREREEMNBHR 1N2EAEHMEEERE
15 o

Watch list The counterparty has amounts past-due but ~ 12-month ECL
is continuously settling after due date and
with continuous business transactions with
the Group.

BEREE ZEcHCBY  MXSZUTFRIHMER NREAEHEEER
FEEE YRAZREFBLETEBRX
5 o

Doubtful There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired
credit risk since initial recognition through
information developed internally or
externally resources while the counterparty
is with continuous business transactions
with the Group.

CIR=: BRABEXNZEHISINGEER - FER 2HEHEEEFEE-YEEER
REMRERRBEZEN  EXZHFE E
FEBERBETEBRRS -

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL - credit-impaired
credit-impaired

&8 ERBERTNEECREFEERE EHEHEEBE - FERE

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the Amount is written off
debtor is in severe financial difficulty and
the Group has no realistic prospect of
recovery

i 85 ERBRTEBABARENYBERELR MEARBEREA

AEBELTESERBEBRA KD A BKA
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES  37. MiB¥RMEERZRBUR (£)
AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued) FERK (&)
Gross carrying amount
FEAE
External Internal 12-month or
Notes  creditrating  credit rating Lifetime ECL 2024 2023
REAZZH
Wi NBEETR RBEEIR EHEERR ZECQmE “E--%
HK$000 HK$000
TR T
Other financial asset at amortised ~ KE$HK A3t € 2 7 N/A Low risk 12-month ECL 95,793 112,043
cost EtBBEE TR ERKE 2EAARBEEER
Amounts due from a shareholder YUK & 78 21 N/A Low risk 12-month ECL — 949
TER BEER 2EABHEEER
Other receivables and deposits paid EEKREREREE 2 N/A Low risk 12-month ECL 125,369 124,071
TR ERR 2EREHEEER
Doubtful Lifetime ECL 30,000 30,000
R 2EBEHEEESR
Cash at banks KTRE 2 Within Low risk 12-month ECL 16,166 3,997
investment ERR D2EAAEHEEER
grade
REZAA
267,328 271,060

In term of collection management, the Group monitors the
repayment against the pre-determined repayment terms and
considers to take and conducts these actions to recover the
overdue receivables in a default event:

()  To negotiate with the counterparty, understand their
financial position and plan for debt restructuring, if
necessary;

(i) Toissue legal letter to the counterparty as a warning;

(i)  To appoint external debt collection agency to recover
the debt against the counterparty; and

(iv)  To take legal actions against the counterparty to collect
the overdue receivable.
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37.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Although the Group does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements to cover the credit risk, the directors of
the Company consider these internal control policies could
effectively manage the Group's credit risk.

The Group's credit risk exposure is primarily attributable to
its financial assets at amortised cost, including other financial
assets at amortised cost, other receivables and deposits paid,
amount due from a shareholder and cash at bank.

The credit risk on other financial assets at amortised cost is
arisen from the promissory notes and a secured bond issued
by certain unlisted companies in PRC. The Group's investment
strategy is to balance the credit risk and return by investing in
medium risk corporate promissory notes and a secured bond.
These corporate promissory notes and a secured bond are
always lacking of independent and public recognised credit
ratings available, as such, management of the Company
carried out additional credit and risk management policy
against these investments:

(@) To review and monitor the portfolio, financial
performance and financial positions of these unlisted
companies on regular basis; and

(b) To prepare impairment review under ECL model
by using historical repayment record and past due
information to consider whether the credit risk changed
since initial recognition.

37.

M¥EREEEERBE (#)

EERE (&)
BEASETERSBETAEAFmKEM
EREBNEEEERR -  ARRES
RR - ZEABEFEEAIAREEAR
SENEERAR -

AEENEERRIERS HREBHK
AT EBZHBEE » BIERTEHK A
ECHMMBEE - REKRFERE
e  EBURBRFARRITRES -

BBHEKAHEZRMOYBEEZEE
BB EETHEE LT R A T
AEBRBEEFAES - AREHRER
REBEBERETERARARALZER
BEAES  NEIEERRKLERH
T - ZERRAARRBEREERES
BERZELRARNEEFTR - Bit -
ARREREBHZEREBITRINGG
ErEBREERSK

@ TEHRTMEEZFHELTAAN
BREMEG ~ MBERALMBNR
54

(b) IRIBLEFIIB M AR AR BB H A B
BTG S R TR AR
B B 12 B LB 63 )44 R R LA R 2
SHERE -
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued)
For the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group has
recognised the expected credit loss on financial assets at

37. BXAREEEEREE (£)

FERK (&)
BE_FT_NWFEFER_ZT_=F= A
Zt+t—HLEFE H A5EBEEBERIREH
KA ECHBREE,BHEEBEN

amortised cost as follows:

™~
12 month-ECL 12 month-ECL  Lifetime ECL
BAFEYE 12BRES ZHEH Total
FEFR FEF#R FEFR @it
Other financial
assets at
amortised cost
REBHERK Other receivables and
AER deposits paid
HtMEEE HttEWKNERSHES
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL TER THEL THL
As at 1 April 2022 RZE-_Z_#MA-H 3,670 3,308 30,167 37,145
Expected credit loss recognised ~ EHERZEHEEER 11,234 2,431 — 13,665
Expected credit loss reversed EROzBHEEESE (3,670) (3,308) = (6,978)
Expected credit losses written off Bz BHEEEE — == (167) (167)
As at 31 March, 2023 R-B-=(£=ZB=+-BR
and 1 April 2023 “E-_=f#WMA—H 11,234 2,431 30,000 43,665
Expected credit loss recognised ERRzBHEEEE 12,446 2,838 = 15,284
Expected credit loss reversed EROZEHEEER (11,234) (2,431) = (13,665)
As at 31 March, 2024 R-BE-_NE=ZRA=1+-H 12,446 2,838 30,000 45,284

176

The Group writes off a financial asset at amortised cost
when there is information indicating that the debtor is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings.
Other than that, taking into consideration that there is no
default payment noted in the previous repayment history of
the debtors and adequate impairment assessment under ECL
model performed, the directors of the Company consider the
credit risk on these other financial assets at amortised cost
held by the Group is manageable.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

38.

AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk

For management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group's
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuation in cash
flows. The liquidity of the Group is primarily dependent on its
ability to maintain adequate cash flow from operations and
to raise funds through issue and allotment of new shares to
meet its debt obligations as they fall due.

The maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities at the
end of reporting period is as follows:

37. AR EEEEREE (£)

REBE SRR

REERBESRRME - AEEEE
THFBEEEARAM A REAES
BYMKE  URAKSEXBGZERHESR
T URBEReRERPZFE - &&
BzeRBESTBIRORNBERBEHE R
RAREREARBBETREZFK
MEFESUREBIHE BN EER
EIEZREN -

AEERBERARZHBABIHBR
wmr

Total
Carrying undiscounted  Within one year
amount cash flows or on demand
AER - FAH
REE BeREHLE RER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THET THET
As at 31 March 2024 RZE-_mNFE=A=+—H
Other payables and accrued charges  HEMENFEBEREER 142,576 145,547 145,547
As at 31 March 2023 R-ZE-_=ZF=ZA=+—H
Other payables and accrued charges  HtENFBEREER 50,474 52,277 52,277
Lease liabilities MEGRE 1,497 1,554 1,554

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT POLICY

The Group's objectives of managing capital are to safeguard
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure
to reduce the cost of capital. In order to maintain or adjust
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of
dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders,
issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is
calculated as total borrowings divided by total equity.

38.

ESEBHE
AEMrESEEEEHREAEM4
SEEE  AARESRER KA M
BRBEASERFZE  ARESEEE
AEBEAREERRAR - BRBRAE
BAGEH  AEETHEAREENZ
RESE AREREEAR - BIHRK
AR EEELREES

AEBREBRAEBE B REER
BHEREEERER ° BHERTIULE
EERNERAEAE -
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38.

39.

40.

41.

178

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT POLICY (continued)

38. B EEHE &)

The gearing ratio at the end of reporting period was as REmERR  BEEBRELEQT :
follows:
2024 2023
—E-NE —E=-=%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THER TAT
Total borrowings migE 59,625 44,185
Equity attributable to owners of ARKDABHEAB A&
the Company 378,125 273,676
Gearing ratio BEBELX 15.77% 16.15%
PLEDGE OF ASSETS 39. EERA
The Group pledged certain assets to bond holder to secure rEEREFHBEAERRE TEENR

a bond payable of the Group. Carrying amounts of the assets

BAKEsENEF BEHEREEZ

pledged were as follows: FREENAT
2024 2023
—E-MWmF —F-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THER FET
Financial assets at fair value BERAVTEFAEESRREZ
through profit or loss MBEE = 23,049
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 40. HAEE
As at 31 March 2024, the Group had contingent liabilities to RZEZWMFEF=ZF=+—H " &%

the extent of RMB15,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$16,209,000) in respect of financial support given by the
Group to Icon for its continuing operation for a period of at
least 15 months from 28 March 2024. The directors considered
that a reliable estimate cannot be made of the amount of the
outflow of resources that might be required in respect of the
financial support and therefore, no provision was made as at
31 March 2024.

CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial
statements, as at 31 March 2024, the Group has no significant
capital and other commitments.
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42.

43.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

In April 2024, the Group entered into share transfer
agreements with an independent third party for the disposal
of its entire equity interests in Jiajiafu and Wole (see note 18
to the consolidated financial statements) at the consideration
of HK$20,412,000 and approximately RMB14,849,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$16,046,000) respectively.
Completion of these share transfer agreements is expected
to take place by July 2024.

In June 2024, the Group entered into share transfer
agreements with other shareholders of Zhong Ying Hua Xia
and Hui Tong Yun (see note 19 to the consolidated financial
statements) for the transfer of its entire equity interests in
Zhong Ying Hua Xia and Hui Tong Yun at the consideration of
RMB27,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$29,176,000)
and RMB30,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$32,418,000) respectively. Completion of these share
transfer agreements is expected to take place by July 2024.

On 28 June 2024, the closing market share of Int'l Genius
was HK$3.56 per share. Based on the share price of HK$3.56
per share, the fair value of the Group's interest in the shares
of Int'l Genius would be approximately HK$34,048,000,
representing a decrease of approximately HK$42,942,000
or 56% as compared to the carrying value of approximately
HK$76,990,000 as at 31 March 2024.

APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the Board of Directors on 28 June 2024.

42.

43.

BEMBER
Eé:i MEMA - A&EEEF

Ay}
Z“HRIVRMEERZE  HEERK
RERBRENZ2TRE (2REEMH
W& M sE18) - R E 2 Bl A20, 412 ooo
77T M # A R #14,849,0007T (M E R4
16,046,0007% 7T ) ° axﬁﬂxfﬁiﬂﬁﬁ% Sl
HAE—_ZT_MFELARTK °

RZEZWFEAA AEEHEPHE
ERERENEMBRRITLRODEER
%(%&‘%&ﬁﬁﬁﬁwfym B GE
ERNPEBEEEREBRENZBRE - K

BorAaAR r#1%27,000,0007% (FBERH
29,176,000/ 7t) & A R #30,000,0007T
(FHE 7 #132,418,0005 7T) ° ZEZERRHE

EHBREHRHE-_S-OFELAREK °
RZZE_-_@EANAZ+ /LB ' Intl

Genius W) Y T € A & BR3.5648 7L ° 1R I&
f% B & Ax3.56 7L © AEE R Int'| Genius
B B% 17 #E 25 B9 A (B 78 B £934,048,0007%8
T BRRZZEZWMFE=A=+—A®E
[ (B 4976,990,0007% 7C + T Bk 4942,942,000
7 T3 56% ©

it A B S R R
EFEOR T -MENA-TAAHY
ERBEETIRYBERE -
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EFEMBHRE

Year ended 31 March
BHEZE=BA=1T-HLEE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E-NE —ET-=fF —T-—-F —FT-—F —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FAT FTET FAT FTAT
RESULTS E¥
Revenue Wz - - - - -
Loss before income tax expense BETSHAYAEE (28,727) (22,802) (20,010) (15,450) (52,541)
Income tax expense FriEHmA X - > S o =
Loss for the year attributable to ARAEEABIEREE
owners of the Company 18 (28,727) (22,802) (20,010) (15,450) (52,541)
As at 31 March
R=ZBA=+-H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
ZE-_NE —ZE-_=-fF —ZT-_-F —E-—F —T-_ZF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER FEHET FET FET FEL
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current assets ERBEE 159,083 48,330 68,497 9,429 8,726
Current assets MENEE 361,618 277,317 167,165 45,080 37,193
Current liabilities mEAE (142,576) (51,971) (10,119) (5,178) (4,849)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE - - (1,527) = =
Total equity EmBE 378,125 273,676 224,016 49,331 41,070
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